This PDF is available from The National Academies Press at http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=19882

Nutrient Requirements of Swine: Eighth revised edition, 1979 (1979) **RCHIV** Subcommittee on Swine Nutrition: Committee on Animal Pages 62 Nutrition; Board on Agriculture and Renewable Resources; National Research Council Size 8.5 x 11 ISBN 0309028701 🔎 Find Similar Titles More Information Visit the National Academies Press online and register for... Instant access to free PDF downloads of titles from the NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES NATIONAL ACADEMY OF ENGINEERING ■ INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL 10% off print titles Custom notification of new releases in your field of interest Special offers and discounts

Distribution, posting, or copying of this PDF is strictly prohibited without written permission of the National Academies Press. Unless otherwise indicated, all materials in this PDF are copyrighted by the National Academy of Sciences.

To request permission to reprint or otherwise distribute portions of this publication contact our Customer Service Department at 800-624-6242.



Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

NUTRIENT REQUIREMENTS OF DOMESTIC ANIMALS

NUMBER 2 Nutrient Requirements of Swine

Eighth revised edition, 1979

Subcommittee on Swine Nutrition

Committee on Animal Nutrition

Board on Agriculture and Renewable Resources

National Research Council

NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES Washington, D.C. 1979

NUTRIENT REQUIREMENTS OF DOMESTIC ANIMALS SERIES

Nutrient Requirements of Mink and Foxes, 1968	0-309-01676-2
Nutrient Requirements of Trout, Salmon, and Catfish, 1973	0-309-02141-3
Nutrient Requirements of Dogs, 1974	0-309-02315-7
Nutrient Requirements of Sheep, 1975	0-309-02212-6
Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle, 1976	0-309-02419-6
Nutrient Requirements of Rabbits, 1977	0-309-02607-5
Nutrient Requirements of Warmwater Fishes, 1977	0-309-02616-4
Nutrient Requirements of Poultry, 1977	0-309-02725-X
Nutrient Requirements of Cats, 1978	0-309-02743-8
Nutrient Requirements of Horses, 1978	0-309-02760-8
Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle, 1978	0-309-02749-7
Nutrient Requirements of Nonhuman Primates, 1978	0-309-02786-1
Nutrient Requirements of Laboratory Animals, 1978	0-309-02767-5

NOTICE: The project that is the subject of this report was approved by the Governing Board of the National Research Council, whose members are drawn from the Councils of the National Academy of Sciences, the National Academy of Engineering, and the Institute of Medicine. The members of the Committee responsible for the report were chosen for their special competences and with regard for appropriate balance.

This report has been reviewed by a group other than the authors according to procedures approved by a Report Review Committee consisting of members of the National Academy of Sciences, the National Academy of Engineering, and the Institute of Medicine.

This study was supported by Agricultural Research, Science and Education Administration of the U.S. Department of Agriculture, the Bureau of Veterinary Medicine, Food and Drug Administration of the U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, and by Agriculture Canada.

Library of Congress Cataloging in Publication Data

National Research Council. Subcommittee on Swine Nutrition. Nutrient requirements of swine.

(Nutrient requirements of domestic animals; no. 2)
Bibliography: p.
1. Swine—Feeding and feeds. I. Title.
II. Series: National Research Council. Committee on Animal Nutrition. Recommended nutrient allowances for domestic animals; no. 2
SF95.N32 no. 2, 1979 [SF396.5] 636.08'52'08s [636.4'08'52] 79-10945

International Standard Book Number 0-309-02870-1

Available from:

Office of Publications National Academy of Sciences 2101 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20418

Printed in the United States of America

PREFACE

Increasing demands upon agricultural production necessitate continued greater efficiency of animal production. Changes in breeding and management, and the introduction of new feedstuffs and methods of feed processing influence nutrient metabolism and requirements; hence, there is a continuing need for reevaluation. Because of the variety of factors that influence requirements, the quantitation of nutrient requirements is a complex area. This report reflects the increased knowledge and improved methodology in the establishment of nutrient requirements for swine during various stages of the life cycle.

This Eighth Revised Edition of Nutrient Requirements of Swine has been prepared by the Subcommittee on Swine Nutrition, Committee on Animal Nutrition, Board on Agriculture and Renewable Resources, Commission on Natural Resources of the National Research Council.

Changes from the previous edition and some consideration in applying the information contained herein include:

1. Modification of recommended requirements reflects new information.

2. Since the outward signs of many nutrient deficiencies are similar, pictures of animals meant to depict signs of simple nutrient deficiency have been omitted.

3. Tables of nutrient requirements have been expanded to include trace elements and requirements for a live weight range of 1 to 5 kg.

4. The availability of nutrients in ingredients used in swine diets is known to vary. Many of the requirements listed are based upon the feeding of corn-soybean meal diets and should not be considered as absolute values. In formulating diets, the relative availability of nutrients must be considered, especially when the main ingredients are not corn and soybean meal. No margin of safety for such variation has been included. 5. Nutrient requirements and feed composition data are expressed on an air-dry basis (90 percent dry matter).

6. A table of common mineral sources for swine has been included.

7. All data are presented in the metric system with tables of equivalents and conversion factors shown.

8. Feed ingredients are identified by International Feed Numbers adopted by the Committee on Animal Nutrition (United States) and the National Committee on Animal Nutrition (Canada).

9. For more detailed information on nutrients and research related to requirements, pertinent literature citations are listed in the Bibliography.

Grateful appreciation is expressed to members of the Committee on Animal Nutrition (United States), the National Committee on Animal Nutrition (Canada), and others who provided information and suggestions. The subcommittee is also indebted to Philip Ross, Executive Secretary, and Selma P. Baron, Staff Associate, of the Board on Agriculture and Renewable Resources, for their assistance in the production of this report, and to A. I. Aydin, Joseph H. Conrad, Tony J. Cunha, George K. Davis and Ernest R. Peo, Jr., for their comprehensive reviews and constructive comments on the report.

Subcommittee on Swine Nutrition

HOWARD S. TEAGUE, Chairman, Science and Education Administration, U.S. Department of Agriculture

FRANCIS X. AHERNE, University of Alberta DAVID H. BAKER, University of Illinois ROBERT H. GRUMMER, University of Wisconsin ELWYN R. MILLER, Michigan State University VAUGHN C. SPEER, Iowa State University

COMMITTEE ON ANIMAL NUTRITION

ROBERT T. OLTJEN, Chairman, U.S. Meat Animal Research Center JOSEPH P. FONTENOT, Vice Chairman, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University CLARENCE B. AMMERMAN, University of Florida CARL E. COPPOCK, Texas A&M University PAUL W. MOE, Science and Education Administration, USDA QUINTON R. ROGERS, University of California, Davis GARY L. RUMSEY, Tunison Laboratory of Fish Nutrition VAUGHN C. SPEER, Iowa State University JOHN D. SUMMERS, University of Guelph

BOARD ON AGRICULTURE AND RENEWABLE RESOURCES

CHESTER O. MCCORKLE, JR., Chairman, University of California, Davis ELLIS B. COWLING, Vice Chairman, North Carolina State University MARTIN E. ABEL, Schnittker Associates JOHN D. AXTELL, Purdue University THADIS W. BOX, Utah State University ROBERT E. BUCKMAN, USDA Forest Service NEVILLE P. CLARKE, Texas A&M University GEORGE K. DAVIS, University of Florida SALLY K. FAIRFAX, University of California, Berkeley JOHN E. HALVER, University of Washington HELEN M. INGRAM, Resources for the Future RALPH J. MCCRACKEN, USDA Science and Education Administration CHARLES F. NIVEN, JR., Del Monte Corporation

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
NUTRIENT REQUIREMENTS	2
Energy, 2	
Carbohydrates, 3	
Lipids, 3	
Protein-Amino Acids, 3	
Protein, 3	
Amino Acids, 4	
Minerals, 4	
Calcium and Phosphorus, 5	8
Sodium and Chlorine, 5	
Potassium, 5	
Magnesium, 6	
Iron, 6	
Zinc, 6	
Manganese, 7	
Copper, 7	
Iodine, 7	
Selenium. 7	
Cobalt, 8	
Vitamins, 8	
Fat-Soluble Vitamins, 8	
Vitamin A, 8	
Vitamin D, 8	
Vitamin E, 9	
Vitamin K, 9	

INTRODUCTION

Water, energy, protein, vitamins, and minerals must be provided in the correct amounts and proportions if optimum results are to be obtained in the support of maintenance, normal growth, and reproduction in swine.

Although the exact quantitative need for each nutrient is not known, the most reliable estimates of requirements have been compiled and are presented in Tables 5–8. Requirements, as presented, should be considered as minimum requirements and do not include a margin of safety. The recommendations are based upon the assumption that diets will contain about 90 percent dry matter. Where values from several comparable experiments were available for consideration, the approximate average of those values was used. References to corn-soybean meal or grain-soybean meal diets refer to vitamin and mineral fortified diets of this general composition. It can be assumed that recommendations will also apply following the inclusion of most other energy- and protein-furnishing ingredients.

It is known that breed, strain, and sex affect growth rate, feed conversion, and carcass composition, and, therefore, these factors influence nutrient requirements. The required dietary level will also be influenced by:

- 1. Feed intake
- 2. Energy density of the diet
- 3. Level and interaction of nutrients in the diet
- 4. Availability of nutrients to the animal
- 5. Presence and level of feed additives

6. Environmental temperature, housing conditions, and level of subclinical disease

7. Presence of toxins, inhibitors, or molds in the diet

8. Expected level of performance and carcass composition.

NUTRIENT REQUIREMENTS

Carbohydrates, lipids, proteins, minerals, vitamins, and water are the six classes of nutrients required for maintenance, growth, and reproduction of swine. Each nutrient has specific functions and, in addition, carbohydrates, lipids, and proteins are used to supply the energy requirements of animals, but with different levels of efficiency.

ENERGY

In nearly all conditions under which swine are fed, carbohydrates and lipids supply most of the energy needs of the body. These energy requirements are expressed as kilocalories of digestible energy or metabolizable energy needed per kilogram of feed (Tables 5 and 7) and per animal per day (Tables 6 and 8). Digestible energy (DE) is defined as the dietary gross energy intake minus the gross energy excreted in the feces. Metabolizable energy (ME) is defined as the gross energy of the diet minus fecal and urinary gross energy. The loss of energy as gas produced in the digestive tract of nonruminants is usually small and therefore the ME values for swine are not corrected for energy lost through the gaseous products of digestion.

The ME value of a feedstuff, diet concentration, or daily allowance can be estimated from the DE value using the formula from Asplund and Harris (1969):

$$ME = DE \times \left[\frac{96 - (0.202 \times crude \text{ protein \%})}{100}\right].$$

The ME content of ingredients used in swine diets generally comprises 90 to 97 percent of DE. A more precise estimate of ME can be obtained by correcting ME for nitrogen gained or lost from the body (ME_n). For the pig, a correction factor of 7.0 kcal/g nitrogen is used for each gram of nitrogen above or below nitrogen equilibrium. This correction is added to the ME for animals in negative nitrogen balance and subtracted when the pig is in positive nitrogen balance. Net energy is used to describe the energy utilized by the animal. A portion of the ME is used for conversion or metabolism of absorbed dietary components into tissue and is defined as heat increment (HI). Thus, net energy (NE) may be defined as ME less the heat increment. Net energy is used by the animal to meet the requirement for maintenance (NE_m) and for production (NE_p). In the growing pig the efficiency of utilization of NE required for maintenance and production is similar; thus the two components are seldom separated.

Net energy, as a fraction of ME, has been shown to vary from 27.2 percent for wheat middlings to 69.0 percent for corn. It has therefore been suggested that NE, though difficult to measure, may be the best measure of the energy available for the maintenance and production of an animal. However, energy utilization is influenced by the level of feed intake; the balance of all the nutrients in the diet; the age, breed, sex, and condition of the animal used in the determination; and the environmental conditions that are present during the determination. At present, NE requirements for maintenance and production are not available, and, therefore, the energy requirements of swine (Tables 5–8) and the energy values of the feedstuffs commonly used for swine (Table 9) are presented as DE and ME values.

Because the amount of feed consumed daily by growing-finishing pigs fed ad libitum is to a large extent controlled by the energy content of the diet, it follows that the other nutrients are required in some specific ratio to energy. Energy consumed in excess of that required for maintenance, increase of lean body mass, or reproduction leads to deposition of body lipid. Therefore, the lean-tofat ratio of the pig may be altered by controlling the daily energy intake. The potential for such fat deposition is greatest as the pig approaches maturity. If pregnant sows are fed a corn-soybean meal diet, or another palatable diet of similar energy content, ad libitum, they consume more energy during gestation than they require for maintenance and for development of the products of conception and will therefore deposit body lipid. Therefore, the energy intake of gestating sows should be limited. Lactating sows should be fed at a level to support maintenance plus requirements for milk production. Consequently, DE or ME intake can be adjusted in relation to litter size. Research has shown that in feeding sows, efficiency of utilization of energy can be improved by allowing moderate weight gains during gestation and moderate weight losses during lactation, allowing for a small positive increase in body weight in each reproductive cycle.

During growth, fiber digestibility increases as size and capacity of the digestive tract increase. Thus, the standard DE and ME values, which are normally based on digestibility and metabolism studies with growing pigs, may not be applicable to older pigs and breeding animals when high-fiber ingredients are fed.

Carbohydrates

The proximate analysis, commonly used to determine the nutrient content of a diet or feed ingredient, does not measure carbohydrate directly. Total carbohydrate is the combined nitrogen-free extract (NFE) and crude fiber. In this combined fraction, crude fiber is determined analytically and NFE, which consists primarily of sugars and starches, is then determined by difference. The very young pig does not utilize starch efficiently. When weaned before reaching 2 weeks of age, the carbohydrate fraction of the diet is therefore generally supplied in the form of sugars. For pigs of less than 7 days of age, glucose and lactose are the sugars of choice, and, after 7 days of age, fructose and sucrose can be utilized. Two weeks after birth, enzymes are present for digesting starch.

Cellulose is generally the major component of crude fiber with lesser, though variable, amounts of lignin also present. The pig does not produce enzymes for digesting cellulose or lignin; however, some microbial cellulose digestion does occur in the cecum and large intestine. The digestibility of fiber increases with increased capacity of the digestive system but varies in relation to chemical complexity of the fiber and level in the diet. It should be considered as relatively indigestible. The inclusion of high levels of fiber in the diet lowers the digestibility of dry matter, protein, and ether extract and thus also decreases the digestible energy of the diet. Increasing crude fiber in the diets of pigs fed ad libitum tends to reduce growth rate, despite a tendency of pigs to increase feed intake to compensate for the lower energy value of the diet. Any change observed in feed conversion, dressing percentage, and backfat thickness is generally in proportion to level and type of fiber added. If, however, energy intake is held constant, the inclusion of fiber should have no effect upon rate or efficiency of gain or upon carcass leanness.

Lipids

The term lipid is frequently used in a general sense to include both fats and oils. Some questions remain as to whether the pig has a dietary essential fatty acid requirement. There is limited direct and indirect evidence that the pig is capable of some synthesis of linoleic acid. However, based upon the triene-tetraene ratio of tissue lipids, the dietary requirement for linoleate is small and is supplied adequately by natural ingredients. The concern, therefore, is mainly with lipids as an energy source. Swine can efficiently utilize large quantities of fats and oils in their diet. The efficiency of utilization of lipids is influenced by age of the pig and by the type and molecular weight of the lipids added. Limitations to the level of lipids in swine diets are dictated by economics and the physical problems of mixing, processing, and handling diets containing large amounts of lipids.

Upon biological oxidation, lipids yield 2.25 times as much energy as carbohydrates. The inclusion of fats or oils as a replacement for a high carbohydrate source, such as corn, will increase the energy content of the diet. Since swine tend to eat to meet their energy requirement, increasing the caloric density of the diet generally results in a reduction in total feed intake. Thus, the protein, vitamin, and mineral levels of a lipid-supplemented diet should be adjusted upwards to compensate for the expected reduction in feed intake. Approximately the same proportionate reduction in feed intake will result from the addition of 5, 10, or 15 percent lipid to the diet. In spite of the decrease in total feed intake, the caloric intake of the pig will be increased. This increased caloric intake may result in increased rate of gain and increased deposition of fat in the carcass. The addition of fat to high-protein diets may not reduce feed intake or increase fat deposition to the same extent as that observed when fat is added to low-protein diets. An improvement in the efficiency of feed conversion is a consistent feature of fatsupplemented diets. However, the relative cost of fat versus carbohydrate sources of energy will determine the economic efficiency of such diets.

PROTEIN—AMINO ACIDS

Protein

Protein is generally referred to as crude protein and in a feedstuff is defined as the nitrogen content \times 6.25. The adequacy of dietary protein levels is determined by the capacity of the diet to supply sufficient indispensable (essential) amino acids and, in addition, nitrogen for the synthesis of dispensable (nonessential) amino acids. The dispensable amino acids for swine are needed in normal metabolism, but dietary sources usually are not required. These amino acids are obtained either from normal dietary components or synthesized by making use of amino groups derived from amino acids that are in excess in the diet. Supplemental nonprotein nitrogen, such as urea, has not produced beneficial responses in swine fed practical-type diets.

Optimum performance requires that any indispensable amino acid be fed at the proper level and time in the feeding period and with the proper level of energy and other indispensable nutrients. Swine will perform satisfactorily if these conditions are met, even though there may be some variation in the level of crude protein in the diet. Because they are naturally leaner, gilts and boars require higher levels of crude protein to meet amino acid requirements than barrows. Also, maximal carcass leanness may require a greater intake of amino acids than maximal rate of weight gain. Protein levels that are necessary to provide the indispensable amino acids for growing swine fed grain-soybean meal-type diets are shown in Table 5.

The cereal grains often provide a major portion of the total protein. However, supplementary amino acids, either from natural protein supplements or synthetic amino acids, must be provided to ensure adequate amounts and a proper balance of the indispensable amino acids.

The availability of amino acids in the protein of common feed ingredients fed to swine has not been adequately determined. Based upon results obtained with other species, values ranging from 80 to 90 percent are often assumed. Requirements for protein and amino acids listed in Tables 5 through 8 represent, in most instances, the levels of these nutrients required for swine fed grain-soybean meal diets. For example, if a combination of grain and soybean meal furnishes 16 percent protein and 0.70 percent total lysine and is to be fed to swine in a weight range of 20 to 35 kg, it can be assumed that the physiologically available lysine requirement is between 0.56 and 0.63 percent. However, to account for the small portion that is not available, the lysine requirement (allowance) listed in Table 5, for pigs in this weight range, is 0.70 percent.

Amino Acids

Requirements for indispensable amino acids by swine of various weights and in different stages of production are shown in Tables 5 through 8. In all cases, the requirements correspond to the amount of natural isomer (L), the form in which amino acids occur in proteins. When amino acid supplements are provided, DL-methionine can replace the L form in meeting the need for methionine. D-Tryptophan has a biological activity of about 60 percent relative to L-tryptophan for the growing pig. Thus, 0.15 percent DL-tryptophan is equivalent to 0.12 percent L-tryptophan in meeting the needs of the growingfinishing pig for this amino acid. It is assumed that the pig can utilize D-phenylalanine to some extent in meeting the total need for phenylalanine + tyrosine, but the efficiency of D-phenylalanine utilization is not known.

Pigs can synthesize arginine at a rate sufficient to meet 60-75 percent of the requirement for normal growth, but the remainder must be provided from a dietary source to fulfill the total need of growing-finishing swine. For gravid and nongravid postpubertal swine, synthesis by the animal completely satisfies the arginine need. Cystine can satisfy at least 50 percent of the total need for methionine + cystine (sulfur amino acids), and methionine can meet the need in the absence of cystine. Phenylalanine can meet the total requirement for phenylalanine + tyrosine, since it can be converted to tyrosine. Tyrosine is not converted to phenylalanine, but it can satisfy 50 percent of the total need for the two amino acids.

The amino acid requirements of growing-finishing swine, expressed in terms of dietary concentration, increase as the levels of dietary protein or caloric density of the diet increases. Because the amino acid concentration of lean tissue remains essentially constant with age, and maintenance needs constitute a small percentage of total needs, it is assumed that the requirements for indispensable amino acids remain a constant percent of the protein with advancing age and weight. Thus, knowing the requirements for individual amino acids at 16 percent protein for pigs weighing 20 to 35 kg and knowing levels of protein (from grain-soybean meal mixtures) that permit optimal performance in pigs at other stages of growth allow calculation (by linear extrapolation) of requirements for all weight ranges shown in Table 5. In most cases, requirements determined experimentally have been in close agreement with extrapolated values. Exceptions have been lysine for pigs weighing 1 to 5 and 5 to 10 kg, where determined requirements have been somewhat higher than those predicted by extrapolation. Also, the methionine + cystine requirement of swine weighing 60 to 100 kg is lower than that predicted by extrapolation. The levels of amino acids shown in Tables 5 and 6 are adequate to support normal growth and performance, and they apply to diets of the caloric density indicated in Table 5. The lack of adequate quantitative information concerning the effects of caloric density of the diet and metabolizable energy content of feedstuffs for swine of various weights and stages of production precludes setting forth amino acid requirements on the basis of energy density of the diet. Where data are available, should caloric density increase or decrease from the values given, amino acid requirements may be adjusted upward or downward, respectively.

The requirements for pregnant gilts and sows are based upon amounts required for satisfactory retention of nitrogen during the late stages of pregnancy and are at least adequate to support development of a normal litter. The requirements for lactation either have been determined experimentally or have been extrapolated from published requirements for maintenance of adult female swine and from amounts calculated to be required to support good milk production.

MINERALS

At least 13 inorganic elements are known to be required by the pig, including calcium, phosphorus, potassium, sodium, chlorine, magnesium, sulfur, zinc, iron, manganese, copper, iodine, and selenium. In addition, vanadium, chromium, nickel, tin, molybdenum, silicon, and fluorine, which have been shown to be required by one or more species, probably are also required by the pig but at such low levels that their dietary essentiality has not been demonstrated.

Functions of the inorganic elements are extremely diverse, ranging from structural functions in some tissues to a wide variety of regulatory functions in many others. The increasing trend toward confinement rearing of pigs, without access to soil or forage, increases the importance of meeting their dietary mineral requirements. Requirements for the individual elements at various stages of the life cycle are given in Tables 5 through 8 and are discussed below.

Calcium and Phosphorus

Calcium and phosphorus are of major importance for skeletal development and for many other physiological functions. For maximum performance, minimum dietary levels of each are necessary, as well as the correct ratio of one to the other. Requirements, as shown in Tables 5 through 8, are based upon the feeding of a properly fortified grain-soybean meal diet. The quantitative need for calcium and phosphorus may be modified by other dietary factors, such as vitamin D, magnesium, or the presence of phytic acid in plant materials. Levels that are adequate for maximum gain in body weight are not necessarily adequate for maximum bone development. Borderline deficiency may go unnoticed in the growingfinishing animal but cause serious consequences in those saved for breeding purposes.

Information on the calcium and phosphorus requirements of gilts, sows, and boars is very limited. During pregnancy the physiological requirement increases in proportion to the need for fetal growth and reaches a maximum late in the gestation period. Because feeding practices during pregnancy vary greatly, diets should be formulated to meet daily requirements as shown in Table 8. When the total dietary intake of breeding animals is severely restricted the animals may receive too little calcium and phosphorus, even though the dietary concentration meets the requirement as shown in Table 7. Excessive intake of calcium or phosphorus may lower performance of growing-finishing swine, especially when an excess of calcium interacts with zinc to cause a zinc deficiency.

The form in which phosphorus exists in natural feedstuffs influences the efficiency of its utilization. In grains and plant protein supplements, about two-thirds of the phosphorus is in the less available phytate form. Utilization of phytate phosphorus is influenced by phytase present in plant materials and the intake of vitamin D, calcium, and zinc, as well as such factors as the pH of alimentary tract and the ratio of calcium to phosphorus in the diet. Estimates of the availability of total plant phosphorus range from 20 to as high as 60 percent.

A wide range of calcium and phosphorus sources simplifies dietary fortification (Table 11). The desired ratio of between 1.0 and 1.5 calcium to 1.0 total phosphorus in a grain-soybean meal diet can be attained easily by selection of suitable supplements.

Signs of calcium and phosphorus deficiency are similar (Table 1) and are not unlike those seen in vitamin D deficiency.

Sodium and Chlorine

Sodium and chlorine are the principal extracellular cation and anion, respectively, in the body, and chlorine is the chief anion in gastric juice. Recent research has confirmed that a level of 0.20 to 0.25 percent added sodium chloride will meet the dietary sodium and chlorine requirements of the growing-finishing pig fed a grainsoybean meal diet. Little or no information is available on the requirement for breeding-age boars or for gilts and sows in gestation or lactation. Until more definitive information is available, a level of 0.4 percent added sodium chloride is suggested for boars and pregnant animals and 0.5 percent for lactating sows.

When a diet deficient in sodium chloride is fed to growing pigs, depressed performance will be evident within a few weeks. Deficiency signs are presented in Table 1.

Swine can tolerate high dietary levels of sodium chloride, but, at a high level of intake, it is absolutely necessary to provide ample and readily available drinking water. As little as 1.0 percent dietary sodium chloride has produced toxicity signs and death when water has been restricted. The sodium ion is responsible for the adverse physiological reaction. Signs of toxicity are presented in Table 2.

Potassium

Potassium is an important mineral involved in electrolyte balance and neuromuscular function and serves as a monovalent cation to balance anions intracellularly, much as sodium functions extracellularly. Experimental estimates of the dietary potassium requirement are 0.27 to 0.39 percent for pigs weighing 1 to 4 kg, 0.26 percent for pigs weighing 5 to 10 kg, 0.23 to 0.29 percent for pigs weighing 16 kg, and less than 0.20 percent for pigs weighing 20 to 35 kg. The daily potassium requirement of pigs weighing 45 kg is less than 5 g. Excesses of dietary chloride or sulfate ions increase the potassium requirement. As dietary potassium is increased, there is an increased need for drinking water. Grain-soybean meal diets contain much higher levels of potassium than the requirements listed in Tables 5 and 7, and no potassium deficiency signs have been observed in swine fed these diets.

Signs of potassium deficiency in young pigs receiving purified diets were, progressively: anorexia, rough hair coat, emaciation, inactivity, and ataxia (Table 1). Electrocardiograms taken during potassium deficiency reveal reduced heart rate and altered electrocardial intervals.

Necropsy of potassium-deficient pigs reveals no unique pathology.

Magnesium

Magnesium is a cofactor in many important enzyme systems and is a constituent of bone. The magnesium requirements of growing-finishing and adult swine are not known. Young, artificially reared pigs were shown to have a requirement of between 325 and 500 mg magnesium per kilogram of diet. Grain-soybean meal diets generally contain sufficient magnesium (1 g or more per kilogram of diet) to prevent deficiency signs. Similarly, milk contains adequate magnesium to protect suckling pigs.

Signs of deficiency, in order of appearance, are: hyperirritability, muscular twitching, reluctance to stand, stepping syndrome, weak pasterns, loss of equilibrium, and tetany followed by death (Table 1).

Iron

Iron is required for the formation of hemoglobin, myoglobin, ferritin, hemosiderin, transferrin, and all ironcontaining enzymes. Pigs are born with about 50 mg of iron in their body, most of which (80 percent) is present in erythrocytes as hemoglobin. Necessary iron retention in the nursing pig to maintain levels of hemoglobin and storage iron range from 7 to 16 mg daily or 21 mg per kilogram of body-weight gain. Sow's milk contains an average of 1 mg of iron per liter and thus, if not supplemented, will result in the rapid development of anemia. The feeding of high levels of different iron compounds to gestating and lactating sows has not effectively increased the iron content of the milk. The oral iron requirement of baby pigs fed milk or purified liquid diets is 60 to 150 mg per kilogram of milk solids. It appears that the requirement of baby pigs receiving a dry (casein-based) diet is about 50 percent higher per unit of dry matter than when fed a similar diet in homogenized liquid form. Germ-free baby pigs have a dietary iron requirement similar to that of conventionally reared baby pigs.

Numerous studies have shown the effectiveness of a single intramuscular injection of 100 to 200 mg of iron, as iron dextran or iron dextrin complexes, given in the first 3 days of life. Over 90 percent of the injected iron is utilized over the next few weeks as an anemia preventative. The postweaning dietary iron requirement is about 80 ppm and diminishes in later growth and maturity, since there is a smaller increase in blood volume with increasing body weight. Feed ingredients in a balanced diet usually supply enough iron to meet postweaning requirements. Some calcium and phosphorus sources, such as feed grade defluorinated phosphate and dicalcium phosphate, contain from 0.6 to 1.0 percent of iron, of which about 60 percent is available to the pig.

Availability of iron from different sources (Table 11) varies greatly. Ferrous sulfate and ferric ammonium citrate are effective in preventing iron-deficiency anemia, but an iron compound with low solubility, such as ferric oxide, is ineffective. Ferrous carbonate is much less effective than ferrous sulfate.

Dietary iron is effective in detoxifying gossypolcontaining diets. The addition of iron from soluble sources to the diet equal to the weight of free gossypol improves growth rate, reduces toxicity, and helps prevent accumulation of gossypol in the liver.

Blood hemoglobin concentration is a rapid, reliable indicator of the iron status of the pig. The following hemoglobin levels can be used as indicators of the iron status of pigs between birth and 8 weeks of age:

Blood Hemoglobin (g/100 ml)	Comment
10 or above	Normal level; adequate iron and optimum performance
9	Minimum level required for average performance and the dividing line between nor- mality and anemia
8	Borderline anemia; iron treat- ment needed
7 or below	Anemic condition that has been shown to retard growth rate
6 or below	Severe anemia accompanied by marked reduction of per- formance
4 or below	Severe anemia that can be ex- pected to result in increased mortality rate

Iron-deficiency anemia is of the hypochromicmicrocytic type. Anemic pigs show signs of poor growth, listlessness, rough hair coat, wrinkled skin, and paleness of mucous membranes. Fast-growing anemic pigs may die suddenly of anoxia. A characteristic sign is labored breathing after minimal activity or a spasmodic jerking of the diaphragm muscles from which the term "thumps" arises. Necropsy findings include an enlarged and fatty liver, thin watery blood, ascites, marked dilation of the heart, and an enlarged firm spleen (Table 1). In 3- to 10-day-old pigs the toxic oral dose of iron from ferrous sulfate is approximately 600 mg/kg of body weight. Clinical signs of toxicity are observed within 1 to 3 hours after iron is fed (Table 2).

Zinc

Zinc is a component of many metalloenzymes and the hormone insulin and is thereby involved in protein, carbohydrate, and lipid metabolism.

The dietary zinc requirement is influenced by many diet-related factors, including phytic acid or plant phytates, calcium, copper, cadmium, cobalt, histidine, as well as type and level of protein. The requirement of growing pigs receiving semipurified diets containing isolated soybean protein, or natural corn-soybean meal diets containing the recommended calcium level, is about 50 ppm. Boars have a slightly higher zinc requirement than gilts, and both boars and gilts have a higher requirement than barrows. When dietary calcium level is excessive, the zinc requirement is increased. A zinc level of 33 ppm in corn-soybean meal gestation and lactation diets of sows through five parities was adequate for optimal gestation performance, but not for lactation. Because of the absence of phytic acid or plant phytates, the zinc requirement of baby pigs receiving a casein-glucose diet is reduced to about 15 ppm.

Signs of zinc deficiency in growing pigs include parakeratosis and reduced appetite with reduced rate and efficiency of gain. Markedly reduced levels of serum zinc, alkaline phosphatase, and albumin are also found. Gilts receiving zinc-deficient diets during gestation and lactation produce fewer and smaller pigs that at birth have a reduced serum and tissue zinc level. Testicular development of the zinc-deficient growing boar and thymic development of the zinc-deficient baby pig are retarded (Table 1).

Zinc may be increased to 1,000 ppm in the diet without producing signs of toxicity, but a dietary zinc level of 2,000 ppm from zinc carbonate produced the following toxic signs: growth depression, arthritis, hemorrhage in axillary spaces, gastritis, and enteritis (Table 2).

Manganese

Manganese functions as a component of several enzymes involved in carbohydrate, lipid, and protein metabolism and is essential for synthesis of chondroitin sulfate, which is a component of mucopolysaccharides in the organic matrix of bone.

Minimum requirements for manganese are not well defined. Growth is normal when pigs are fed a purified diet containing as little as 1.5 mg/kg of diet. Continued feeding of a lower level of 0.5 mg/kg of diet interferes with normal development and reproduction. Signs of manganese deficiency have included abnormal skeletal growth with altered ratio of fat to lean body tissue; absence of, or irregular, estrual cycles; poor mammary development and lactation; resorption of fetuses; and small, weak pigs at birth (Table 1).

There is some evidence that diets containing commonly used feed ingredients should contain higher levels of manganese than the amount required in purified diets and that excessive dietary levels of calcium and phosphorus may reduce manganese absorption. For gestation and lactation a minimum of 10 mg/kg of diet is suggested. While the toxic level of manganese is not well established, depressed feed intake and reduced rate of gain have been observed when pigs were fed a diet containing 4,000 mg/kg (Table 2).

Copper

Copper is essential for the synthesis and activation of several oxidative enzymes necessary for normal metabolism in the pig. A deficiency of copper leads to poor iron mobilization, abnormal hematopoiesis, keratinization, and synthesis of collagen, elastin, and myelin. Low fertility has been associated with copper deficiency in several animal species, but not in swine. A level of 6 ppm of copper in the diet for the very young pig seems to be adequate, and the requirement is probably no greater for later stages of growth. Definitive information on the requirements for pregnancy and lactation is lacking. Signs of deficiency include leg weakness and ataxia. A subclinical deficiency is associated with reduced serum copper and ceruloplasmin and a microcytic hypochromic anemia (Table 1). While availability does vary, the copper requirement can be effectively met by the use of supplemental copper sulfate, copper carbonate, or copper oxide.

Copper toxicity has been reported at levels above 250 ppm, particularly when iron and zinc levels are limiting or when calcium is in excess. Toxicity signs are presented in Table 2.

Iodine

Iodine is a component of thyroxine and triiodothyronine, which are important in the regulation of metabolic rate.

The dietary iodine requirement of the pig is increased by goitrogens and excessive levels of arsenic, fluoride, cobalt, calcium, and sodium chloride. Experimental estimates of the requirement for normal growth and thyroid size range from 0.05 to 0.14 ppm, and, in the absence of excesses of the above interrelated minerals, a dietary iodine level of 0.14 ppm seems to be adequate for all stages of the life cycle. Calcium and potassium iodate and pentacalcium orthoperiodate are nutritionally available forms and are more stable in salt and feed mixtures than sodium or potassium iodides. If salt contains 0.007 percent iodine, the requirement can be met by incorporating 0.2 percent salt in the diet.

Signs of iodine deficiency observed in pigs born to sows on goitrogenic diets are hairlessness, thickened skin, and myxedema. Most of the pigs are born alive, but are weak and usually die within a few hours. At necropsy, the thyroid is enlarged and hemorrhagic (Table 1).

Iodine may be increased to 400 ppm in the diet of the growing pig without depressing growth rate or the efficiency of feed utilization. Dietary iodine levels of 800 ppm or more depress growth rate, feed intake, hemoglobin level, and liver iron concentration, while bringing about an increase in serum iron and thyroid weight (Table 2).

Selenium

The dietary requirement for selenium is between 0.1 and 0.2 mg/kg of diet and is inversely related to vitamin E level. Selenium is an essential component of the enzyme glutathione peroxidase, which functions in peroxide reduction. Thus, the mutual sparing effect of selenium and vitamin E stems from their shared antiperoxidant roles. High levels of vitamin E will not eliminate the need for selenium. Certain soils of the United States and Canada

are low in selenium, and the feeding of diets formulated from ingredients grown in such regions often results in a selenium deficiency. Incidence and degree of selenium deficiency may be increased by environmental stress.

The primary biochemical change in selenium deficiency is a decline in glutathione peroxidase activity. Serum transaminases, lactic dehydrogenase, and creatine phosphokinase may be elevated as a result of tissue damage. Sudden death is a prominent feature of the selenium-deficiency syndrome. Gross necropsy lesions of selenium deficiency are identical to those of vitamin E deficiency (Table 1). These include massive hepatic necrosis (hepatosis dietetica) and edema of the spiral colon, lungs, subcutaneous tissues, and submucosa of the stomach. Bilateral paleness and dystrophy of the skeletal muscles (white muscle disease) are often found. Occasionally, mottling and dystrophy of the myocardium (mulberry heart disease) are also observed.

Selenium, when fed to growing swine as sodium selenite, sodium selanate, selenomethionine, or seleniferous corn, does not produce toxicity at levels as high as 5 mg of selenium per kilogram of diet. Levels from 7.5 to 10 mg/ kg may produce toxicity. Signs of toxicity include anorexia, hair loss, fatty infiltration of the liver, degenerative changes in liver and kidney, swelling, and occasional separation of hoof and skin at the coronary band (Table 2). Dietary arsenicals help to alleviate selenium toxicity.

Cobalt

Cobalt does not appear to be a dietary requirement except as a part of the vitamin B_{12} molecule. Since the intestinal flora of the pig is capable of synthesizing vitamin B_{12} , a minimum level of dietary cobalt is required for this process to occur. Such synthesis assumes greater importance if dietary vitamin B_{12} is limiting. There is also some evidence that cobalt may have a "sparing action" on zinc in zinc deficiency. No dietary requirement for cobalt has been established.

A level of 400 mg of cobalt per kilogram of diet is toxic to the young pig and may cause anorexia, stiff-leggedness, humped back, incoordination, muscle tremors, and anemia (Table 2).

VITAMINS

Vitamins are organic compounds required in small amounts for normal growth and reproduction and for maintaining the health of swine. Some vitamins are essential in metabolism but may not be required in the diet, since they can be synthesized readily from other food constituents. An example of this is the production of niacin from tryptophan. Bacteria in the intestinal tract also are capable of producing vitamins, such as vitamin K and vitamin B_{12} which can then be made available to the animal. The vitamins are generally divided into fatsoluble vitamins A, D, E, and K and water-soluble B vitamins and vitamin C.

Fat-Soluble Vitamins

Each of the four fat-soluble vitamins occurs naturally in a variety of vitamin or provitamin forms in feedstuffs and each is produced in synthetic forms that have a high degree of vitamin activity. The increasing trend toward rearing pigs in confinement without access to forage or sunlight increases the importance of meeting the dietary vitamin requirements presented in Tables 5 through 8 and discussed below.

Vitamin A The vitamin A requirement of swine can be met by either vitamin A or by provitamin A in the form of beta-carotene. Beta-carotene is the standard for provitamin A, and for the rat 1 IU of vitamin A activity is equal to 0.6 μ g of beta-carotene. The conversion of carotene to vitamin A in the pig is less efficient. Based upon liver storage, the biopotency of 1 mg of beta-carotene ranges from 200 to 500 IU of vitamin A activity compared to 1,667 IU of vitamin A activity for the rat. Feed ingredients contain a mixture of carotenoids, some of which have less biological activity than beta-carotene. For swine, 1 mg of the total carotenoid material in com provides about 250 IU of vitamin A activity.

International standards for vitamin A are based upon its utilization by the rat and are as follows: 1.0 IU of vitamin A activity = 1.0 U.S.P. unit = vitamin A activity of 0.300 μ g of crystalline vitamin A alcohol (retinol), which corresponds to 0.344 μ g of vitamin A (retinyl) acetate or 0.550 μ g of vitamin A (retinyl) palmitate.

Vitamin A is essential for the normal maintenance and function of the eyes and of the epithelial tissues of the respiratory, reproductive, nervous, and genitourinary systems. Recommended dietary requirements for vitamin A or beta-carotene are shown in Tables 5 through 8. Taken individually, night blindness, elevated pressure of cerebrospinal fluid, and reduced growth rate are poor criteria for assessing the vitamin A status of swine, but collectively they provide a reliable indicator. Deficiency signs are described in Table 1. Swine have the ability to store vitamin A in the liver, which is then available during periods of stress or low intake. The excessive intake of nitrate or nitrite may increase the dietary vitamin A requirement.

Vitamin D Vitamin D_2 (ergocalciferol) and vitamin D_3 (cholecalciferol) are both equally effective in meeting the vitamin D requirements of swine. One international unit (IU) of vitamin D is defined as the biological activity of 0.025 μ g of cholecalciferol. Cholecalciferol is converted to 25-hydroxy D_3 by the liver and is the major circulatory metabolite of vitamin D_3 , but for conversion to the biologically active form of the vitamin it must undergo further hydroxylation to 1,25-dihydroxy D_3 in the kidney. This is the hormonal form that stimulates intestinal calcium and phosphate transport, bone calcium mobilization, and renal calcium reabsorption. Other vitamin D_3 metabolites may also be of importance in calcium and phosphorus homeostasis. The dietary vitamin D_2 requirement of the baby pig, reared on a purified diet containing casein as the protein source, is 100 rU/kg of diet. When casein is replaced by isolated soybean protein, which has rachitogenic activity, the vitamin D_2 requirement is higher. The minimum requirement of growing pigs receiving a grain-soybean meal diet is 200 rU/kg.

Grains, grain by-products, and protein feedstuffs are practically devoid of vitamin D. Therefore, unless swine are exposed to the ultraviolet rays of the sun, the diet should be fortified with this vitamin.

The principal manifestation of vitamin D deficiency is a disturbance of calcium and phosphorus absorption and metabolism with insufficient calcification of bones. In young growing pigs, the result is rickets, while in mature swine diminished mineral content with softening of the bone (osteomalacia) results. Serum calcium and phosphorus are reduced and serum alkaline phosphatase activity is increased. In severe vitamin D deficiency, serum magnesium may also be low and pigs may exhibit signs of calcium and magnesium deficiency, including tetany (Table 1).

Weanling pigs that were supplemented with 250,000 IU of vitamin D_3 daily for 4 weeks had reduced body-weight gain and reduced weight of liver, radius, and ulna. Pigs receiving this level of vitamin D_3 had periods of inappetance, and, at necropsy, pathological calcification was observed in the aorta, heart, kidney, and lung (Table 2).

Vitamin E Vitamin E activity is a function of several tocopherols, and acts primarily as a lipid-soluble antioxidant. The dietary requirement for vitamin E is dependent upon levels of dietary selenium and polyunsaturated fatty acids, as well as the presence or absence of other antioxidants. Extremes of temperature and exercise may increase the requirement. The tocopherols differ considerably in their biological activity with d- α -tocopherol being most active. One international unit (IU) of vitamin E activity is defined as the biological activity of 1 mg dl- α -tocopheryl acetate.

In the presence of adequate selenium, a total of 10 to 15 IU of vitamin E per kilogram of diet is adequate for grain-soybean meal diets. The level necessary to prevent deficiency signs, however, may be considerably higher in the absence of adequate selenium and/or in the presence of high levels of prooxidants.

Signs of deficiency are the same as those encountered in selenium deficiency. Elevated serum transaminases, lactic dehydrogenase, and creatine phosphokinase are found early in the development of the deficiency state. Hepatic necrosis, muscular dystrophy, and edema, as well as sudden death, are among other features shared with selenium deficiency (Table 1).

A toxicosis due to high intakes of vitamin E has not been demonstrated in swine. Levels as high as 100 IU/kg diet have been fed to growing pigs and over 300 IU/kg diet have been fed to boars and sows without toxic effects.

Vitamin K The pig requires vitamin K for the formation

of prothrombin and other plasma proteins essential for normal clotting of blood. The best natural sources of the vitamin include the legumes and other green forage materials. Synthesis of vitamin K_2 by the gastrointestinal microflora is an important factor influencing the dietary requirement.

A hemorrhagic condition in the growing pig, believed to be a deficiency of vitamin K, has been associated with the consumption of mold-contaminated diets. Signs of deficiency have been produced in newborn pigs housed in wire-bottomed cages and fed a synthetic diet containing an antibiotic and a sulfa drug. Lack of the vitamin increases prothrombin time and clotting time and may result in internal hemorrhage. Signs of deficiency are eliminated by the addition of vitamin K or water-soluble synthetic forms of the vitamin to the diet (Table 1).

The most common synthetic materials with vitamin K activity for dietary use are menadione sodium bisulfite, menadione sodium bisulfite complex, and menadione dimethyl pyrimidinol bisulfite. Such water-soluble forms have biological activity related primarily to their menadione content. The occasional appearance of signs of vitamin K deficiency under field conditions has led to the common addition of vitamin K to swine diets, particularly where pigs are reared in confinement. If there is evidence of a deficiency, or if there is need to supply vitamin K activity for preventative purposes, it is suggested that the diet be supplemented with 2.0 mg of menadione per kilogram.

Water-Soluble Vitamins

Deficiencies of niacin, pantothenic acid, riboflavin, choline, and vitamin B_{12} may occur in pigs fed unsupplemented grain-soybean meal diets. Thiamin, vitamin B_{g} , biotin, and folacin are contained in many feed ingredients at levels that furnish more than the pig's requirement. Ascorbic acid (vitamin C) is produced by the pig and, under most conditions, is not required in the diet. Watersoluble vitamin requirements are presented in Tables 5 through 8 and discussed below.

Thiamin Thiamin is essential for swine, but virtually all diets contain an abundant quantity of this B vitamin. Grains are particularly rich in thiamin. Signs of deficiency in swine have been produced only under experimental conditions. Raw fish contains a thiaminase that renders thiamin inactive, and bracken fern contains an antithiamin substance of nonenzymatic nature.

Thiamin functions in intermediary metabolism primarily in its coenzyme form, thiamin pyrophosphate (TPP), and as such is involved in decarboxylation reactions. In either crystalline form or in food, thiamin is heat labile. Thus, drying of grains and cooking of soybeans lower the concentration of available thiamin in these ingredients. Signs of thiamin deficiency are presented in Table 1.

Riboflavin Riboflavin functions in the pig in two coenzymes essential in oxidation-reduction reactions, flavin

mononucleotide (FMN) and flavin-adenine dinucleotide (FAD). The riboflavin requirements of the baby pig receiving semipurified liquid or dry diets, and of the weanling pig receiving natural diets, is 3 mg/kg of diet. When expressed as a concentration in the diet, the requirement is reduced as body weight increases. Intestinal bacterial synthesis of riboflavin reduces dietary needs, and more of the vitamin is required when fat is added to the diet. The requirement is most closely related to energy expenditure and is consistently 700 to 800 mg per megacalorie of dietary metabolizable energy. The minimum dietary riboflavin requirement of the sow for gestation and lactation is about 3 mg/kg.

Signs of riboflavin deficiency in the young growing pig include slow growth, vomiting, cataracts, abnormal stiffness of gait, seborrhea, and alopecia. A normocytic anemia and myelinic degeneration of nerve tissue have been reported. In sows, riboflavin deficiency results in poor reproduction and lactation performance (Table 1).

Niacin Niacin is required by all living cells, and it is an essential component of important enzyme systems involved in lipid, carbohydrate, and protein metabolism. As nicotinamide, it is a component of the coenzymes nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide (NAD) and nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP). In the diet, nicotinamide can substitute for nicotinic acid on an equal weight basis. Signs of deficiency in the pig include anorexia and decreased rate of gain, followed by diarrhea, occasional vomiting, and an exfoliative type of dermatitis and loss of hair (Table 1). Diets based upon cereal grains are low in available niacin; thus crystalline nicotinic acid is generally added to satisfy requirements.

Two factors must be considered in evaluating the adequacy of niacin in diets:

1. Niacin occurs in cereal grains in a bound form, which is largely unavailable to the pig. This fact is not revealed in the conventional niacin assays, which merely indicate the total content of the vitamin.

2. Because of the conversion of tryptophan to niacin by the pig, the tryptophan level of the diet is important in determining the niacin requirement. Each 50 mg of tryptophan, in excess of the tryptophan requirement, will yield 1 mg of niacin.

Pantothenic Acid Pantothenic acid is distributed widely in feed ingredients of plant and animal origin. It is required by the pig as a component of coenzyme A, an important enzyme in carbohydrate and fatty acid metabolism.

The vitamin is commercially available as the calcium salt (calcium pantothenate), which is used as the supplemental form. Products marketed are commonly a mixture of the d and l forms of calcium pantothenate. Since only the d isomer has biological activity, in formulating diets or premixes the guarantee should be stated in terms of this form only. Pantothenic acid deficiency is most commonly seen in the young pig and is revealed as leg stiffness and locomotor incoordination, which sometimes gives the appearance of "goose-stepping." It should be pointed out that while a deficiency of pantothenic acid will cause goose-stepping, other conditions, not well defined, also may lead to the development of a similar gait. Signs of pantothenic acid deficiency may also include slow growth and poor condition of the hair and skin. In the sow, following a prolonged inadequate intake of this vitamin, the above signs of deficiency may appear in pigs shortly after birth. Such signs in the newborn will be evident before reproductive function is impaired (Table 1).

Vitamin B_{12} Vitamin B_{12} is required for the maturation of red blood cells and is involved in numerous other metabolic functions. Feed ingredients of animal origin contain substantial, but highly variable, quantities of the vitamin. Synthesis of vitamin B_{12} by intestinal bacteria serves to supplement dietary sources.

Vitamin B_{12} contains the trace element cobalt, and vitamin B_{12} synthesis by intestinal flora is dependent upon the presence of this mineral in the feed. This is the only established function of cobalt as an essential nutrient.

In the growing pig a deficiency of vitamin B_{12} reduces growth. In the reproducing animal, litter size and pig survival are reduced (Table 1). When a sufficient quantity of the vitamin is not supplied by ingredients of animal origin, a supplemental level is recommended at all stages of the life cycle (Tables 5–8).

There is some evidence that the reproductive performance of sows may be improved by the inclusion of higher than recommended levels of vitamin B₁₂. The response is evidenced by an increase in the number and weight of pigs at birth. Response to such elevated levels is not consistent and may relate to variable synthesis by intestinal bacteria or to differences in utilization of the vitamin.

Choline Choline does not strictly qualify as a vitamin because it is required in the diet at levels far greater than those of the other vitamins, and because it is actually a structural component of fat and nerve tissue. Moreover, choline is not known to participate in any enzyme system. Nonetheless, because of its biological function in cell structure (component of phospholipid), lipid transport, and nerve impulse transmission (acetyl choline), choline is generally considered along with the vitamins.

Choline is an important source of labile methyl groups that function in a variety of one-carbon transfer reactions referred to as transmethylation, and the major portion of the dietary choline required is necessary for this function. In the pig, methionine (also a methyl donor) can completely replace that portion of the choline needed for transmethylation. Thus, at methionine levels in excess of the physiological requirement, 4.3 mg methionine provides the same methylating capacity as 1 mg of choline.

Choline deficiencies have been encountered in baby

pigs fed a high fat synthetic milk diet containing 0.8 percent methionine or less. Gestating sows fed cornsoybean meal diets have responded to supplemental choline with increased litter size at birth. Signs of choline deficiency in the growing pig are depressed growth rate, unthriftiness, and fatty infiltration of the liver (Table 1).

Vitamin B_6 Vitamin B_6 exists in three forms in feedstuffs: pyridoxine, pyridoxal, and pyridoxamine. Pyridoxal phosphate is the coenzyme form of the vitamin and is essential for the biological activity of decarboxylases, dehydrases, synthetases, transaminases, and racemases involved in amino acid metabolism. Vitamin B_6 -containing enzymes are involved in the synthesis and catabolism of all amino acids. In experimentally produced vitamin B_6 deficiency, the conversion of tryptophan to niacin is blocked.

Because of its wide distribution in natural feed ingredients, vitamin B_6 is seldom deficient in swine diets. Consequently, it is not generally added in supplemental form. For young pigs the dietary requirement is 1.5 mg/kg and for the growing-finishing pig 1.1 mg/kg (Table 5).

Biotin Biotin is a functional component of enzymes required in carboxylation reactions such as acetyl-CoA carboxylase, an enzyme needed in fatty acid synthesis. The small amount required by the pig is usually supplied by the diet and is augmented by microbial synthesis of the vitamin in the digestive tract. Only after the feeding of diets containing high levels of raw egg white, containing avidin, which forms a complex with biotin, or, following the inclusion of high levels of sulfa drugs to eliminate microbial synthesis, can a deficiency be produced. Clinical signs of deficiency include a dermatosis and spasticity of the hind legs (Table 1).

Factors that may influence the dietary need for biotin include the possible sparing effect of vitamin B_{12} , the destruction of biotin caused by rancidity, and the variability of bound and free biotin in feed ingredients. Performance of pigs has generally not been improved by biotin supplementation of grain-soybean meal diets. It is noteworthy, however, that wheat is low in available biotin, containing only about half the quantity present in corn, sorghum, and barley.

Folacin Folacin has an essential role in the normal metabolic function of body cells. As a constituent of the folate coenzymes, it is involved in the incorporation of single carbon units into larger molecules. Deficiency signs have been reported in young pigs only when fed diets containing folacin antagonists or high levels of sulfa drugs. Weakness, poor growth, and a normocytic anemia were evidence of the deficiency (Table 1). The folacin content of ingredients commonly used in swine diets, plus bacterial synthesis in the intestinal tract, seems to be sufficient to meet the requirement of the pig.

Ascorbic Acid The pig synthesizes ascorbic acid at a

level that meets requirements for normal growth and skeletal development. High levels are found in sow's colostrum and milk and in the blood of newborn pigs. In some experiments supplemental levels of ascorbic acid have been associated with improved growth rate. Reasons for such a response are not known. It has been suggested that under conditions of environmental stress there may be need for a dietary source of the vitamin. In poultry some evidence for such a requirement is reported. Very high levels of ascorbic acid in the growing-finishing pig diet (0.5 percent) have been shown to decrease the absorption or retention of copper and to increase iron absorption.

WATER

Swine receive water from three sources, namely, metabolic water from the breakdown of carbohydrate, fat, and protein; water that is a component of feedstuffs; and water that is drunk. The latter makes up a large portion of the normal intake, although all that is required may be supplied by liquid feeds such as whey.

Water is involved in many physiological functions necessary for maximum animal performance. Among these are temperature regulation, transport of nutrients and wastes, metabolic processes, lubrication, and milk production.

The water requirements of swine are variable and governed by many factors. Water accounts for as much as 80 percent of body weight at birth and declines to approximately 50 percent in a finished market animal. The need for water is increased when fecal water excretion is high (diarrhea). Likewise, excessive urinary excretion, as may be caused by high salt or protein intake, markedly increases the water requirement. High ambient temperature, fever, and lactation are other conditions that increase water requirement. The minimum requirement is that amount needed to balance water losses plus the amount needed for the formation of new tissue or products.

Water requirement has a relationship to feed intake and to body weight. Under normal conditions swine will consume 2.0 to 5.0 kg of water per kilogram of dry feed or 7 to 20 kg of water per 100 kg of body weight daily. The wide range of consumption per unit of body weight is influenced by age, with the young animal having the higher requirement. Older swine approach the higher level of water intake when fed a highly palatable liquid feed. A weight ratio of 3 parts water to 1 part of dry feed is usually recommended for liquid feeding systems, but when the ambient temperature exceeds 35°C the pig may desire more water and refuse a portion of the solids if no supplemental water is available.

Water can serve as a vehicle for dewormers, medicinals, oral vaccines, or as a carrier for water-soluble nutrients when administered through a properly controlled dispensing system. Water may contain harmful levels of

agricultural or industrial chemicals if the supply originates from shallow wells or if wells collect surface runoff. An example is nitrate contamination. An informative publication is Nutrients and Toxic Substances in Water for Livestock and Poultry, National Academy of Sciences, 1974. Temperature of the water will affect volume intake. Additional energy is required to warm liquids consumed at temperatures below that of the body. Lactating sows must have unlimited access to water if they are to milk adequately, and suckling pigs need water in addition to that in sows' milk for optimum performance. Free access to water located near feed dispensers is desirable.

ANTIBACTERIAL FEED ADDITIVES

Antibiotics and other compounds with antimicrobial action, while nonnutrients, are extensively used as feed additives for swine. Such widely accepted use of these compounds relates to an improvement in growth rate and feed conversion and to reduced mortality and morbidity, particularly in young swine. Approved antibacterial agents commonly added to swine feeds in the United States and Canada include bacitracin, bambermycins, carbadox, chlortetracycline, lincomycin, oleandomycin, oxytetracycline, penicillin, streptomycin, tylosin, virginiamycin, arsenicals, nitrofurans, and sulfa drugs. While not approved for use in the United States or Canada, the addition of 125 to 250 ppm of copper as a growth promoter in growing and finishing feeds is common in Great Britain and a number of other countries.

How the low-level consumption of these compounds, which differ widely in chemical composition and bacterial spectrum, influences performance is not well understood. Since they suppress or inhibit the growth of certain microorganisms, it is assumed that such action relates directly or indirectly to this property.

The consumption of these compounds is capable of promoting the development of bacterial resistance in the animals' microbial population. Furthermore, it is known that such resistance can be transferred between bacteria. The significance of this phenomenon, as it may relate to the health of animals and man, has not been determined. In view of the potential threat from a buildup of multiple bacterial resistance, the Food and Drug Administration has proposed that the subtherapeutic use of certain antibacterial compounds in feed be restricted. Thus, it is important to recognize that approved usage of any feed additive is subject to change and that constraints on their use will vary among countries.

Detailed information on specific antimicrobial agents, levels of usage, and legal requirements for use may be found in the Feed Additive Compendium, published each year by the Miller Publishing Company, 2501 Wayzata Boulevard, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55440, and in the compendium of Medicating Ingredient Brochures, Plant Products Division, Canada Department of Agriculture, Ottawa, Canada.

For official information concerning Food and Drug Administration approval of antibiotics and other animal drugs, the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), Title 21, should be consulted. Title 21 is revised at least once each year as of April 1. The CFR is kept up to date by the individual issues of the Federal Register. These two publications must be used together to determine the latest version of any given rule. Title 21 is published in six parts: Part 500-599 covers animal drugs, feeds, and related products and is for sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402 (\$5.00). The Federal Register is available from the Superintendent of Documents (\$50.00/year) and includes monthly issues of the List of CFR Sections Affected and The Federal Register Index.

NUTRIENT DEFICIENCIES AND DIETARY EXCESSES

Most diets of U.S. and Canadian swine are composed of one or more grains, together with soybean meal or other protein sources that complement the indispensable amino acids lacking in the grains. These major ingredients of the diet should be supplemented with vitamins and essential mineral elements to provide all the known nutrient requirements. Diets formulated in this manner should prevent the appearance of any signs of nutrient deficiencies or excesses when fed to swine reared under suitable environmental conditions and free from infectious diseases. Clinical signs (outwardly apparent) and subclinical signs (determinable only by clinical methodology) of nutrient deficiencies are presented in Table 1.

Dietary excesses, with readily recognizable clinical signs, seldom occur. They are nevertheless a potential problem, particularly with micronutrients such as the trace minerals and some nonnutrients. A toxicity of copper would not likely occur unless copper were added at a high level (250 ppm, or more), and with low dietary iron or zinc or high levels of calcium. Iron toxicity is less likely unless there is a vitamin E-selenium deficiency. Sodium chloride toxicity is avoided if adequate water is provided. Fluorosis is seldom seen unless all supplemental phosphorus is from a nondefluorinated raw rock phosphate source, but high levels of fluoride will reduce rate and efficiency of gain. Because of an interference with zinc absorption, an excess of calcium may be manifested by the skin condition, parakeratosis. Thus, signs of dietary excess are commonly conditioned by the interrelationship of two or more factors. Signs of these and other dietary excesses are presented in Table 2. The toxic dietary levels listed are those which experimentally produced the signs indicated and are not necessarily minimum toxic or maximum tolerant levels.

	Signs of Nutrient Deficiency				
Nutrient	Clinical	Subclinical			
Energy	Weakness, low body temperature, loss of weight, coma, and death	Hypoglycemia Loss of subcutaneous fat Elevated hematocrit and serum cholesterol Reduced blood glucose, calcium, and sodium			
Protein: Amino acid	Impaired growth Unthriftiness Reduced resistance to bacterial infec- tion	Kwashiorkor-like signs in baby pigs, including reduced serum pro- tein and serum albumin, anemia, gross edema, and increased lipic liver concentration			
Fat: Linoleic acid	Scaly dermatitis may appear	Small gallbladder Elevated triene/tetraene in tissue lipids			
Vitamin A	Incoordination Lordosis Paralysis of rear limbs Night blindness Congenital defects	Retarded bone growth Increase in cerebrospinal fluid pressure Degeneration of sciatic and femoral nerves Minimal visual purple Atrophy of epithelial layers of genital tract			

TABLE 1 Signs of Nut	trient Deficiencies
----------------------	---------------------

TABLE 1 Continued

	Signs of Nutrient Deficiency			
Nutrient	Clinical	Subclinical		
Vitamin D	Rickets Osteomalacia Low calcium tetany	Lack of bone calcification and proliferation of epiphyseal cartilage Rib and vertebra fracture Low plasma calcium, magnesium, and inorganic phosphorus levels Elevated serum alkaline phosphatase levels		
Vitamin E-Selenium	Edema Sudden death	Generalized edema Liver necrosis (hepatosis dietetica) Microangiopathy Cardiac muscle degeneration (mulberry heart) Pale, dystrophic muscle		
Vitamin K	Pale newborn pigs with loss of blood from umbilical cord Sudden death following dicoumarin intake	Increased prothrombin time Increased blood-clotting time Internal hemorrhage Anemia due to blood loss		
Thiamin	Poor appetite Poor growth Sudden death	Cardiac hypertrophy Bradycardia First and second degree auriculoventricular block Elevated plasma pyruvate		
Riboflavin	Slow growth Seborrhea Impaired sow reproductivity	Lens cataracts Increase in neutrophilic leukocytes Birth of weak pigs with skeletal anomalies		
Niacin	Poor appetite Poor growth Severe diarrhea Dermatitis	Necrotic lesions of intestine		
Pantothenic acid	Poor appetite Poor growth Diarrhea Unusual gait (goose-stepping) Impaired sow reproductivity	Inflammation of colon Degeneration of sciatic and peripheral nerves Reduced blood pantothenic acid level Reduced free pantothenic acid level in milk		
Vitamin B _e	Poor growth Epileptic seizures	Microcytic hypochromic anemia Elevated serum iron Fatty infiltration of liver Elevated urinary xanthurenic acid Elevated gamma globulin-like blood protein fraction		
Vitamin B ₁₂	Depressed growth Hypersensitivity Reduced sow reproductivity	Reduced serum and tissue B12 levels		
Choline	Slow growth Reduced litter size	Fatty infiltration of liver Reduced conception rate		
Biotin	Dermatosis Spasticity of hind legs	Reduced urinary biotin excretion		
Folacin	Poor growth Weakness	Normocytic anemia		
Calcium	Rickets Osteomalacia Low calcium tetany	Lack of bone calcification Bones easily fractured Low plasma calcium level Elevated serum inorganic phosphorus and alkaline phosphatase		
Phosphorus	Poor growth Rickets Osteomalacia	Lack of bone calcification Bones easily fractured Low serum inorganic phosphorus level Elevated serum calcium and alkaline phosphatase Enlarged costochondral junction (beading)		

TABLE 1 Continued

Nutrient	Clinical	Subclinical		
Magnesium Poor growth Stepping syndrome Weakened carpo-metacarpo-phalangeal and tarso-metatarso-phalangeal joints Tetany		Low serum magnesium and calcium Reduced bone magnesium		
Potassium	Anorexia Rough hair coat Emaciation Ataxia	Reduced heart rate Increased PR, QRS, and QT intervals on electrocardiogram Reduced serum potassium		
Sodium	Poor appetite Low water consumption Unthriftiness	Negative sodium balance Elevated serum potassium Elevated plasma urea nitrogen Reduced chlorine retention		
Chlorine	Poor growth	Reduced plasma chlorine Reduced sodium and potassium retention		
Iron	Poor growth Rough hair coat Pallor Anoxia	Hypochromic microcytic anemia Enlarged heart and spleen Enlarged fatty liver Ascites Clumping of erythroblastic cells in bone marrow Reduced serum iron and percent transferrin saturation		
Copper	Leg weakness Ataxia	Microcytic hypochromic anemia Reduced serum copper and ceruloplasmin Aortic rupture Cardiac hypertrophy		
Zinc	Poor growth Poor appetite Parakeratosis	Reduced serum, tissue, and milk zinc Reduced serum albumin-globulin ratio Reduced serum alkaline phosphatase Reduced thymus weight Retarded testicular development Impaired reproductivity of sows		
Iodine	Goiter Myxedema Sows farrow weak, hairless pigs	Enlarged hemorrhagic thyroid Hyperplasia of follicular epithelium of thyroid Reduced plasma protein-bound iodine		
Manganese	Lameness in growing pigs Increased fat deposition in pregnant gilts with birth of weak pigs with poor sense of balance	Replacement of cancellous bone with fibrous tissue Early closure of distal epiphyseal plate Low serum manganese and alkaline phosphatase Negative manganese balance		
Water	Poor appetite Dehydration Loss of body weight Possible salt poisoning Death	Elevated hematocrit Elevated plasma electrolytes Loss of temperature regulation Tissue dehydration		

Nutrient	Toxic Dietary Level ^a	Age	Signs of Dietary Excess
Calcium	um 1% (with limited zinc) 1% (with adequate zinc and limited phosphorus)		Depressed appetite, reduced rate of gain, parakeratosis Reduced rate of gain and reduced bone strength
Copper	300-500 mg/kg (in absence of higher levels of dietary iron and zinc) ^b	Immature	Reduced growth, lower hemoglobin, icterus, and death ^c
Iodine	800 mg/kg	Immature	Depressed feed intake and rate of gain, lowered hemo- globin, ^d and eye lesions
Iron	5,000 mg/kg	Immature	Depressed feed intake and rate of gain, reduced serum inorganic phosphorus and femur ash, rickets'
Manganese	4,000 mg/kg	Immature	Depressed feed intake, reduced growth rate, stiffness, and stilted gait
Selenium	58 mg/kg/	Immature	Anorexia, hair loss, separation of hoof and skin at coronary band, degenerative changes in liver and kidney
	10 mg/kg	Breeding (sows)	Reduced conception; pigs small, weak or dead at birth
Sodium chloride and other sodium salts	1-8% (with severe water restriction)	All ages	Nervousness, weakness, staggering, epileptic seizures, paralysis and death
Zinc	2,000 mg/kg		Growth depression, arthritis, hemorrhage in axillary spaces, gastritis and enteritis
Arsenic	e 990 mg/kg		Poor growth, erythema, ataxia, posterior paralysis, quadraplegia and blindness; myelin degenera- tion of optic and peripheral nerves
Cadmium	50 mg/kg 150 mg/kg 450 mg/kg	Immature Immature Immature	Reduced gain and hematocrit Severe depression of gain and hematocrit Severe depression of gain and hematocrit and ap- pearance of dermatitis
Cobalt	400 mg/kg	Immature	Anorexia, growth depression, stiff-legged, humped back, incoordination and muscle tremors, anemia®
Fluorine:			
Soluble fluorides Rock phosphate F	100 mg/kg 200 mg/kg	Mature Mature	Mottled enamel, enamel hypoplasia, softening of teeth, osteomalacia, excessive loss of weight by lactating sows
Gossypol ^a	200 mg/kg	Immature	Muscular weakness, dyspnea, generalized edema, death; myocarditis, hepatitis, and nephritis
Lead	660 mg/kg	Immature	Squealing as if in pain, diarrhea, salivation, grinding of teeth, depressed appetite, reduced growth rate, muscular tremors, ataxia, increased respiratory rate, decreased heart rate, enlarged carpal joints, impaired vision, clonic seizures, death
Mercury	Single oral dose of 5 to 15 mg methyl mercury dicyandiamide per kilo- gram of body weight	Immature	Anorexia, bodyweight loss, central nervous system depression, weakness, gagging, vomiting, diarrhea, ataxia, cyanosis, muscular tremors, postural and gait abnormalities, polyuria
Nitrate Nitrite	1,800 mg NO ₃ /kg 400 mg NO ₂ /kg	Immature Immature	Growth depression, dyspnea and cyanosis, elevated methemoglobin, lymphocytosis, reduced serum vitamin A and E levels

TABLE 2 Signs of Dietary Excesses

TABLE 2 Continued

Nutrient	Toxic Dietary Level ^a	Age	Signs of Dietary Excess
Urea	2.5%	Immature	Reduced feed intake and growth rate; increased plasma urea nitrogen level

* The toxic dietary levels listed are those that have experimentally produced the signs indicated and are not necessarily minimum toxic or maximum tolerant levels.

* In a few instances, a dietary level of 250 mg/kg has resulted in signs of excess.

' In some instances, 500 mg/kg of copper has been fed without icterus or death occurring.

Anemia of iodine toxicity alleviated with supplemental iron.

* Rickets from excessive dietary iron alleviated by increasing dietary phosphorus.

'Selenium toxicity partially alleviated with arsenic.

* Cobalt toxicity alleviated by supplemental methionine, iron, zinc, and manganese.

* Gossypol toxicity alleviated by increasing dietary iron to equal the weight of free gossypol.

FORMULATING DIETS

Formulation of swine diets requires some understanding of nutrient requirements and of the feed ingredients available that can supply these nutrients. Tables 9–10 show the average composition of various ingredients and serve as guides in arriving at their relative values as nutrient sources. A summary of recommended requirements for energy and nutrients is given in Tables 5–8. These guides can be used to formulate nutritionally adequate and economically practical diets that, when fed at the recommended level, will allow optimum production.

From a nutritional standpoint, there is no one "best" formula in terms of ingredients that are used. Ingredients should therefore be selected on the basis of availability, price, and quality of the nutrients they contain. Corn, sorghum, barley, and wheat are the primary energysupplying ingredients in the diet of swine of 5 kg liveweight or heavier. These grains are deficient in certain indispensible amino acids, inorganic elements, and vitamins. Soybean meal, some other oilseed meal, or animal protein meal are commonly used as sources of supplemental amino acids to the grain-based diets.

FORMULATING CORN-SOYBEAN MEAL DIETS ON THE BASIS OF LYSINE, PHOSPHORUS, AND CALCIUM CONTENT

In formulating swine diets utilizing corn and soybean meal, these two ingredients make up about 97 percent of the diet, with the remaining 3 percent comprised of carriers combined with one or more inorganic elements, vitamins, or antimicrobial compounds. Both corn and soybean meal are high and quite similar in metabolizable energy content. Thus, any combination of these two ingredients, comprising 97 percent of the diet, will result in a high-energy diet. The first step in formulation is presented in equation (1), in which C is the percent of corn in the diet and S is the percent of soybean meal.

$$C + S = 97$$

 $C = 97 - S$ (1)

Since lysine is the first limiting amino acid in cornsoybean meal diets, one can manipulate the proportions of corn and soybean meal to meet the required concentration of this amino acid and be confident that the requirements for all of the other indispensable amino acids will be met and that the level of dispensable amino acid nitrogen will also be adequate. For example, to formulate a corn-soybean meal diet for 25-kg liveweight pigs, one may use equation (2).

$$A \times S + B(97 - S) = L \times 100$$
 (2)

- A = % lysine in solvent extracted, 44% crude protein, soybean meal (5-04-604) = 2.93 (Table 10).
- B = % lysine in yellow dent corn grain (4-02-935) = 0.24 (Table 10).
- L = % lysine requirement of the diet of the 25kg liveweight pig = 0.70 (Table 5).
- S = % solvent extracted, 44% crude protein, soybean meal (5-04-604) in the diet.

97 - S = % yellow dent corn grain (4-02-935) in the diet.

Equation (2) can now be written with only one unknown (S), and the percentages of corn and soybean meal in the diet easily solved.

$$\begin{array}{l} 2.93S + 0.24(97 - S) = 0.70 \times 100 \\ \% \text{ soybean meal in diet} = S = 17.4 \\ \% \text{ corn in diet} = 97 - S = 79.6 \end{array} \tag{2'}$$

The next step is to provide an ingredient that will supply inorganic phosphorus to complete the requirement for this element. If defluorinated phosphate (Table 11), which contains 18 percent phosphorus, is selected, equation (3) will solve for the percent of defluorinated phosphate (P) to incorporate into the diet.

 $18P = 0.50^* \times 100 - [79.6 \times \%P \text{ in corn}^{\ddagger} + 17.4 \times \%P \text{ in Soybean meal}^{\ddagger}]$ $18P = 0.50 \times 100 - [79.6 \times 0.28 \pm 17.4 \times 0.65]$

$$P = 0.9 = \% \text{ defluorinated phosphate in diet.}$$
(3)

The next step is to provide an ingredient that will supply calcium to complete the requirement for this element. If ground limestone (Table 11), which contains 38 percent calcium, is selected, equation (4) will solve for the percent of ground limestone (C) to include in the diet.

 $38C = 0.60^{*} \times 100 - [79.6 \times \% \text{Ca in com}^{\ddagger} + 17.4 \times \% \text{Ca in soybean meal}^{\ddagger} + 0.9 \times \% \text{Ca in defl. phos.}^{\ddagger}]$ $38C = 0.60 \times 100 - [79.6 \times 0.02 + 17.4 \times 0.29 + 0.9 \times 32]$

C = 0.65 = % ground limestone in diet. (4)

Completing diet: Final fortification of the cornsoybean meal diet may be completed by supplying the

- * Table 5
- † Table 9

‡ Table 11

TABLE 3 Weight Equivalents

1 lb = 453.6 g = 0.4536 kg = 16 oz 1 oz = 28.35 g 1 kg = 1,000 g = 2.2046 lb 1 g = 1,000 mg 1 mg = 1,000 μ g = 0.001 g 1 μ g = 0.001 mg = 0.000001 g 1 μ g per g or 1 mg per kg is the same as 1 ppm 0.3 μ g vitamin A alcohol = 0.344 mg vitamin A acetate = 1.0 IU vitamin A 0.025 μ g crystalline vitamin D₃ = 1.0 IU vitamin D₃ 1 mg dl- α -tocopheryl acetate = 1.0 IU vitamin E 1 mg dl- α -tocopherol = 1.1 IU vitamin E 1 mg d- α -tocopherol = 1.49 IU vitamin E following: 0.25% sodium chloride; a vitamin premix that will supply the vitamins that are likely limiting in a corn-soybean meal diet, including vitamins A, D, E, and perhaps K as well as riboflavin, niacin, pantothenic acid, choline, and vitamin B_{12} ; a trace element premix including iron, zinc, iodine, manganese, copper, and selenium; and, if desired, a premix that contains one or more antimicrobial compounds. The complete diet then is:

Corn, dent yellow, grain 4-02-935	79.6%
Soybean meal, solvent 5-04-604	17.4%
Defluorinated phosphate	0.9%
Limestone, ground (38% Ca)	0.65%
Sodium chloride	0.25%
Vitamin premix	0.25%
Trace element premix	0.25%
Antimicrobial premix	0.25%
TOTAL	99.55%

This can be made to 100 percent by changing the amount of corn to 80.05 percent.

	TABLE	4	Weig	ht-Unit	Conversion	Factors
--	-------	---	------	---------	------------	---------

		For	
		Conversion	
Units	Units	Multiply	
Given	Wanted	by	
lb	g	453.6	
lb	kg	0.4536	
oz	g	28.35	
kg	lb	2.2046	
kg	mg	1,000,000	
kg	g	1,000	
g	mg	1,000	
g	μg	1,000,000	
mg	μg	1,000	
mg/g	mg/lb	453.6	
mg/kg	mg/lb	0.4536	
μg/kg	μg/lb	0.4536	
joule	kcal	0.239	
kcal	joule	4.18	
Mcal	kcal	1,000	
kcal/kg	kcal/lb	0.4536	
kcal/lb	kcal/kg	2.2046	
ppm	<i>µg</i> /g	1	
ppm	mg/kg	1	
ppm	mg/lb	0.4536	
mg/kg	%	0.0001	
ppm	%	0.0001	
mg/g	%	0.1	
g/kg	%	0.1	

TABLES OF NUTRIENT REQUIREMENTS

It is impossible to list dietary requirements that are applicable to all conditions and types of diets. The nutrient values set forth in Tables 5-8 are valid for some of the more common feeding conditions found in the United States and Canada. Requirements reflect the level of each nutrient needed for optimal performance when swine are fed a fortified grain-soybean meal diet supplying the recommended levels of energy and protein. Moreover, in Tables 5 and 6 liveweight range and expected level of performance are taken into consideration. Something less than 100 percent utilization of the nutrients from natural ingredients can be assumed. Therefore, the values listed are not absolute requirements. Furthermore, suggested requirements tend to be averages and do not represent a minimum as much as that quantity required for optimum performance. Where experimental data were lacking, estimates were made of the levels that, in practice, permit normal performance.

When swine are fed *ad libitum*, requirements expressed in terms of dietary concentration are generally most useful (Tables 5 and 7). Thus, while individual pigs within a pen possess characteristic variation in liveweight and growth potential, and hence have different absolute requirements, the amount of each nutrient needed, expressed as a percent of the diet, may be very similar. It

can be assumed that the larger animal simply meets its requirements by consuming more feed. For gestation, where sows are generally fed restricted quantities of feed, daily requirements are most useful (Table 8). A similar situation may exist for boars and for lactating sows. A recent trend, for example, has been to specify requirements for lactation based upon the size of the litter being nursed.

Criteria of response can influence requirements markedly. For example, maximal carcass leanness may require greater concentrations of certain nutrients than maximal rate of gain. Lean pigs deposit more protein in their gain, which increases their requirements for protein and individual amino acids. Leanness is associated positively with feed efficiency; thus requirements for maximal feed efficiency are generally greater than those for maximal weight gain. Maximal blood hemoglobin concentration may necessitate higher levels of iron than those needed for maximal rate or efficiency of gain, and maximal bone ash generally requires higher levels of calcium and phosphorus than those needed for maximal weight gain. Ultimately, each swine manager must select a set of standards that will permit the greatest economic return in the particular environment. Optimum standards will relate to the genetic potential of the herd and to the price and availability of feed ingredients in the region.

TABLE 5 Nutrient Requirements of Growing-Finishing Swine Fed Ad Libitum: Percent or Amount per Kilogram of Diet^a

Liveweight (kg) Expected Daily Gain (g) Expected Efficiency (g gain/l	State of the second	1-5° 200 800	5–10 300 600	10–20 500 500	20–35 600 400	35–60 700 350	60-100 800 270	
Expected Efficiency (feed/gain)		1.25	1.67	2.00	2.50	2.86	3.75	
Digestible energy [®] Metabolizable energy [®]	kcal kcal	3,700 3,600	3,500 3,400	3,370 3,160	3,380 3,175	3,390 3,190	3,395 3,195	
Crude protein ^c	%	27	20	18	16	14	13	
Indispensable amino acids								
Lysine	%	1.28	0.95	0.79	0.70	0.61	0.57	
Arginine	%	0.33	0.25	0.23	0.20	0.18	0.16	
Histidine	%	0.31	0.23	0.20	0.18	0.16	0.15	
Isoleucine	%	0.85	0.63	0.56	0.50	0.44	0.4	
Leucine	%	1.01	0.75	0.68	0.60	0.52	0.48	
Methionine $+$ cystine ^d	%	0.76	0.56	0.51	0.45	0.40	0.30	
Phenylalanine + tyrosine	%	1.18	0.88	0.79	0.70	0.61	0.57	
Threonine	%	0.76	0.56	0.51	0.45	0.39	0.37	
Tryptophan ¹	%	0.20	0.15	0.13	0.12	0.11	0.10	
Valine	%	0.85	0.63	0.56	0.50	0.44	0.41	
Mineral elements		0.00		0.00	0.00			
Calcium	%	0.90	0.80	0.65	0.60	0.55	0.50	
Phosphorus"	%	0.70	0.60	0.55	0.50	0.45	0.40	
Sodium	%	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	
Chlorine	%	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13	
Potassium	%	0.30	0.26	0.26	0.23	0.20	0.17	
Magnesium	%	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	
Iron		150	140	80	60	50	40	
Zinc	mg	100	100	80	60	50	50	
Manganese	mg	4.0	4.0	3.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	
Copper	mg	6.0	6.0	5.0	4.0	3.0	3.0	
Iodine	mg		0.14	0.14	0.14	0.14	0.14	
Selenium	mg	0.14	0.14	0.14	0.14	0.14		
5-5	mg	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.10	
Vitamins Vitamin A	IU	2,200	2,200	1,750	1,300	1,300	1,300	
or β -carotene		2,200	2,200	7.0	5.2	5.2	1,300	
Vitamin D	mg IU	220	220	200	200	150	125	
Vitamin E	IU	11	11	11	11	130	125	
		2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	
Vitamin K (menadione) Riboflavin	mg	3.0	3.0	3.0	2.6	2.2	2.0	
	mg		22					
Niacin [*]	mg	22		18	14	12	10	
Pantothenic acid	mg	13	13 22	11	11	11	11	
Vitamin B ₁₂	нg	22		15	11	11	11	
Choline'	mg	1,100	1,100	900	700	550	400	
Thiamin	mg	1.3	1.3	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	
Vitamin B.	mg	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.1	1.1	1.1	
Biotin ¹	mg	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	
Folacin	mg	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60	

*Requirements reflect the estimated levels of each nutrient needed for optimal performance when a fortified grain-soybean meal diet is fed, except that a substantial level of milk products should be included in the diet of the 1-5-kg pig. Concentrations are based upon amounts per unit of air-dry diet (i.e., 90 percent dry matter).

* These are not absolute requirements but are suggested energy levels derived from diets containing corn and soybean meal (44 percent crude protein). When lower energy grains are fed, these energy levels will not be met; consequently, feed efficiency would be lowered.

'Approximate protein levels required to meet the need for indispensable amino acids when a fortified grain-soybean meal diet is fed to pigs weighing more than 5 kg.

Methionine can fulfill the total requirement; cystine can meet at least 50 percent of the total requirement.

* Phenylalanine can fulfill the total requirement; tyrosine can meet at least 50 percent of the total requirement.

'It is assumed that usable tryptophan content of corn does not exceed 0.05 percent.

* At least 30 percent of the phosphorus requirement should be provided by inorganic and/or animal product sources.

^A It is assumed that most of the niacin present in cereal grains and their by-products is in bound form and thus unavailable to swine. The niacin contributed by these sources is not included in the requirement listed. In excess of its requirement for protein synthesis, tryptophan can be converted to niacin (50 mg tryptophan yields 1 mg niacin).

'In excess of its requirement for protein synthesis, methionine can spare dietary choline (4.3 mg methionine is equal in methylating capacity to 1 mg choline).

¹ These levels are suggested. No requirements have been established.

Liveweight (kg) Air-Dry Feed Intake (g)		1-5° 250	5–10 500	10–20 1,000	20–35 1,500	35–60 2,000	60–100 3,000
Digestible energy*	kcal	925	1,750	3,370	5,055	6,740	10,110
Metabolizable energy*	kcal	900	1,700	3,160	4,740	6,320	9,480
Crude protein ^c	g	67.5	100	180	240	280	390
Indispensable amino acids							
Lysine	g	3.2	4.8	7.9	10.5	12.2	17.1
Arginine	g	0.8	1.3	2.3	3.0	3.6	4.8
Histidine	g	0.8	1.2	2.0	2.7	3.2	4.5
Isoleucine	g	2.1	3.2	5.6	7.5	8.8	12.3
Leucine	g	2.5	3.8	6.8	9.0	10.4	14.4
Methionine + cystine ^d	g	1.9	2.8	5.1	6.8	8.0	9.0
Phenylalanine + tyrosine*	g	3.0	4.4	7.9	10.5	12.2	17.1
Threonine	g	1.9	2.8	5.1	6.8	7.8	11.1
Tryptophan'	g	0.5	0.8	1.3	1.8	2.2	3.0
Valine	g	2.1	3.2	5.6	7.5	8.8	12.3
Mineral elements	8					0.0	
Calcium	g	2.3	4.0	6.5	9.0	11.0	15.0
Phosphorus ^e	g	1.8	3.0	5.5	7.5	9.0	12.0
Sodium	g	0.25	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	3.0
Chlorine	g	0.33	0.7	1.3	2.0	2.6	3.9
Potassium	g	0.75	1.3	2.6	3.5	4.0	5.1
Magnesium	g	0.10	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.8	1.2
Iron	mg	38	70	80	90	100	120
Zinc	mg	25	50	80	90	100	150
Manganese	mg	1.0	2	3	3	4	6
Copper	mg	1.5	3	5	6	6	9
Iodine	mg	0.04	0.07	0.14	0.21	0.28	0.42
Selenium	mg	0.04	0.08	0.15	0.22	0.30	0.30
Vitamins					(1.1-11-11-1)	5.1 T. A.	
Vitamin A	IU	550	1,100	1,750	1,950	2,600	3,900
or β -carotene	mg	2.2	4.4	7.0	7.8	10.4	15.6
Vitamin D	IU	55	110	200	300	300	375
Vitamin E	IU	2.8	5.5	11	17	22	33
Vitamin K (menadione)	mg	0.50	1.1	2.2	3.3	4.4	6
Riboflavin	mg	0.75	1.5	3.0	3.9	4.4	7
Niacin [*]	mg	5.5	11	18	21	24	30
Pantothenic acid	mg	3.3	6.5	11	17	22	33
Vitamin B ₁₃	μg	5.5	11	15	17	22	33
Choline'	mg	275	550	900	1,050	1,100	1,200
Thiamin	mg	0.33	0.65	1.1	1.7	2.2	3.3
Vitamin Be	mg	0.38	0.75	1.5	1.7	2.2	3.3
Biotin	mg	0.03	0.05	0.10	0.15	0.20	0.30
Folacin	mg	0.15	0.30	0.60	0.90	1.2	1.8

TABLE 6 Daily Nutrient Requirements of Growing-Finishing Swine Fed Ad Libitum^a

* Requirements reflect the estimated levels of each nutrient needed for optimal performance when a fortified grain-soybean meal diet is fed, except that a substantial level of milk products should be included in the diet of the 1-5-kg pig. Concentrations are based upon amounts per unit of air-dry diet (i.e., 90 percent dry matter).

* These are not absolute requirements, but are suggested energy levels derived from diets containing corn and soybean meal (44 percent crude protein). When lower energy grains are fed, these energy levels will not be met; consequently, feed efficiency would be lowered.

^c Approximate protein levels required to meet the need for indispensable amino acids when a fortified grain-soybean meal diet is fed to pigs weighing more than 5 kg.

⁴ Methionine can fulfill the total requirement; cystine can meet at least 50 percent of the total requirement.

* Phenylalanine can fulfill the total requirement; tryosine can meet at least 50 percent of the total requirement.

'It is assumed that usable tryptophan content of corn does not exceed 0.05 percent.

* At least 30 percent of the phosphorus requirement should be provided by inorganic and/or animal product sources.

^a It is assumed that most of the niacin present in cereal grains and their by-products is in bound form and thus unavailable to swine. The niacin contributed by these sources is not included in the requirement listed. In excess of its requirement for protein synthesis, tryptophan can be converted to niacin (50 mg tryptophan yields 1 mg niacin).

'In excess of its requirement for protein synthesis, methionine can spare dietary choline (4.3 mg methionine is equal in methylating capacity to 1 mg choline).

¹ These levels are suggested. No requirements have been established.

TABLE 7	Nutrient Requirements of Breeding Swine: Percent or Amount	
per Kilogra	m of Diet ^a	

		Bred Gilts and Sows; Young and Adult Boars ⁶	Lactating Gilts and Sows
Digestible energy	kcal	3,400	3,395
Metabolizable energy	kcal	3,200	3,195
Crude protein ^c	%	12	13
Indispensable amino acids			
Arginine	%	0	0.40
Histidine	%	0.15	0.25
Isoleucine	%	0.37	0.39
Leucine	%	0.42	0.70
Lysine	%	0.43	0.58
Methionine + cystine ^d	%	0.23	0.36
Phenylalanine + tyrosine"	%	0.52	0.85
Threonine	%	0.34	0.43
Tryptophan ¹	%	0.09	0.12
Valine	%	0.46	0.55
Mineral elements			
Calcium	%	0.75	0.75
Phosphorus ^e	%	0.60	0.50
Sodium	%	0.15	0.20
Chlorine	%	0.25	0.30
Potassium	%	0.20	0.20
Magnesium	%	0.04	0.04
Iron	mg	80	80
Zinc	mg	50	50
Manganese	mg	10	10
Copper	mg	5	5
Iodine	mg	0.14	0.14
Selenium	mg	0.15	0.15
Vitamins			
Vitamin A	IU	4,000	2,000
or β -carotene	mg	16	8
Vitamin D	IU	200	200
Vitamin E	IU	10	10
Vitamin K (menadione)	mg	2	2
Riboflavin	mg	3	3
Niacin [*]	mg	10	10
Pantothenic acid	mg	12	12
Vitamin B ₁₂	μg	15	15
Choline	mg	1,250	1,250
Thiamin	mg	1	1
Vitamin Be	mg	1	1
Biotin ⁴	mg	0.1	0.1
Folacin ⁴	mg	0.6	0.6

^a Requirements reflect the estimated levels of each nutrient needed for optimal performance when a fortified grainsoybean meal diet is fed. Concentrations are based upon amounts per unit of air-dry diet (i.e., 90 percent dry matter).

*Requirements for boars of breeding age have not been established. It is suggested that the requirements will not differ significantly from that of bred gilts and sows.

^c Approximate protein levels required to meet the need for indispensable amino acids when a fortified grainsoybean meal diet is fed. The true digestibilities of the amino acids were assumed to be 90 percent.

⁴Methionine can fulfill the total requirement; cystine can meet at least 50 percent of the total requirement.

* Phenylalanine can fulfill the total requirement; tyrosine can meet at least 50 percent of the total requirement.

'It is assumed that usable tryptophan content of corn does not exceed 0.05 percent.

[#]At least 30 percent of the phosphorus requirement should be provided by inorganic and/or animal product sources. ^AIt is assumed that most of the niacin present in cereal grains and their by-products is in bound form and thus unavailable to swine. The niacin contributed by these sources is not included in the requirement listed. In excess of its requirement for protein synthesis, tryptophan can be converted to niacin (50 mg tryptophan yields 1 mg niacin).

'These levels are suggested. No requirements have been established.

		Bred Gilts And Sows; Young and Adult Boars	Lactating Gilts and Sows						
Air-Dry Feed Intake (g)		1,800*	4,000	4,750	5,500				
Digestible energy	kcal	6,120°	13,580	16,130	18,670				
Metabolizable energy	kcal	5,760	12,780	15,180	17,570				
Crude protein	g	216	520	618	715				
Indispensable amino acids									
Arginine	g	0	16.0	19.0	22.0				
Histidine	g	2.7	10.0	11.9	13.8				
Isoleucine	g	6.7	15.6	18.5	21.4				
Leucine	g	7.6	28.0	33.2	38.5				
Lysine	g	7.7	23.2	27.6	31.9				
Methionine + cystine ^d	g	4.1	14.4	17.1	19.8				
Phenylalanine + tyrosine	g	9.4	34.0	40.4	46.8				
Threonine	g	6.1	17.2	20.4	23.6				
Tryptophan ¹	g	1.6	4.8	5.7	6.6				
Valine	g	8.3	22.0	26.1	30.2				
Mineral elements	0								
Calcium	g	13.5	30.0	35.6	41.2				
Phosphorus ^e	g	10.8	20.0	23.8	27.5				
Sodium	g	2.7	8.0	9.5	11.0				
Chlorine	g	4.5	12.0	14.2	16.5				
Potassium	g	3.6	8.0	9.5	11.0				
Magnesium	g	0.7	1.6	1.9	2.2				
Iron	mg	144	320	380	440				
Zinc	mg	90	200	238	275				
Manganese	mg	18	40	48	55				
Copper	mg	9	20	24	28				
Iodine	mg	0.25	0.56	0.66	0.77				
Selenium	mg	0.27	0.40	0.48	0.55				
Vitamins									
Vitamin A	IU	7,200	8,000	9,500	11,000				
or β -carotene	mg	28.8	32.0	38.0	44.0				
Vitamin D	IŬ	360	800	950	1,100				
Vitamin E	IU	18.0	40.0	47.5	55.0				
Vitamin K	mg	3.6	8.0	9.5	11.0				
Riboflavin	mg	5.4	12.0	14.2	16.5				
Niacin [*]	mg	18.0	40.0	47.5	55.0				
Pantothenic acid	mg	21.6	48.0	57.0	66.0				
Vitamin B ₁₂	μg	27.0	60.0	71.2	82.5				
Choline	mg	2,250.0	5,000.0	5,940.0	6,875.0				
Thiamin	mg	1.8	4.0	4.8	5.5				
Vitamin Ba	mg	1.8	4.0	4.8	5.5				
Biotin ⁴	mg	0.18	0.4	0.48	0.55				
Folacin'	mg	1.08	2.4	2.8	3.3				

TABLE 8 Daily Nutrient Requirements of Breeding Swine^a

*Requirements reflect the estimated levels of each nutrient needed for optimal performance when a fortified grain-soybean meal diet is fed. Concentrations are based upon amounts per unit of air-dry diet (i.e., 90 percent dry matter).

*An additional 25 percent should be fed to working boars.

^c Individual feeding and moderate climatic conditions are assumed. An energy reduction of about 10 percent is possible when gilts and sows are tethered or individually penned in a stall in environmentally controlled housing. An energy increase of about 25 percent is suggested for cold climatic (winter) conditions.

^d Methionine can fulfill the total requirement; cystine can meet at least 50 percent of the total requirement.

* Phenylalanine can fulfill the total requirement; tyrosine can meet at least 50 percent of the total requirement.

'It is assumed that usable tryptophan content of corn does not exceed 0.05 percent.

At least 30 percent of the phosphorus requirement should be provided by inorganic and/or animal product sources.

^a It is assumed that most of the niacin present in cereal grains and their by-products is in bound form and thus unavailable to swine. The niacin contributed by these sources is not included in the requirement listed. In excess of its requirement for protein synthesis, tryptophan can be converted to niacin (50 mg tryptophan yields 1 mg niacin).

'These levels are suggested. No requirements have been established.

Nutrient Requirements of Swine: Eighth revised edition, 1979 http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=19882

.

COMPOSITION OF FEEDS AND MINERAL SOURCES

In formulating diets to meet the recommended nutrient requirements of swine, it is necessary to know the nutrient composition and the bioavailability of nutrients in each ingredient used. Tables 9 and 10 give the composition of ingredients commonly used in swine diets. Values in the tables have been compiled from several National Academy of Sciences-National Research Council reports.* Data were also obtained from the International Feedstuffs Institute, Utah State University,† the Subcommittee on Feed Composition of the NRC Committee on Animal Nutrition,‡ and from individuals at universities, agricultural experiment stations, commercial feed companies, and the *Feedstuffs Yearbook*, Volume 48 (1976).

Individual ingredients may vary widely in composition because of the variation in species or variety, storage conditions, climate, soil moisture, and nutrient status. Variations in analytical procedures also affect values obtained. Therefore, the values given are an average and are subject to interpretation.

In the previous edition, the names of feed ingredients included considerable detail as to how the ingredient was processed and the grade or quality. In this edition, short ingredient names are listed and only those commonly used in swine feeding are included. A six-digit Interna-

* Atlas of Nutritional Data on United States and Canadian Feeds, 1971. ISBN 0-309-01919-2.

United States-Canadian Tables of Feed Composition, 1969. ISBN 0-309-01684-3.

Nutrient Requirements of Poultry, 1977. ISBN 0-309-02725-X. Nutrient Requirements of Swine, 1973. ISBN 0-309-02140-5.

- Lorin E. Harris, Director.
- ‡ Joseph H. Conrad, Chairman, J. R. Aitken, Charles W. Deyoe, Lorin E. Harris, Paul W. Moe, Rodney L. Preston and Peter J. Van Soest.

tional Feed Number is given for each ingredient. The first digit is the class designation.§ In computer formulation this reference number may be used as the "numerical name" of an ingredient. This number is also listed after each Official Feed Definition in the Association of American Feed Control Officials Handbook. Nutrient content is expressed on an "as fed" or "as is" basis. For weight-unit conversion factors and weight equivalents see Tables 3 and 4.

In addition to feedstuffs composition, the sources and composition of minerals frequently fed to swine are listed in Table 11. The percentage of the mineral in each mineral source is given for the pure compound. The percent purity for technical and feed grade sources should, therefore, be multiplied by the listed percentage in this table to arrive at the percent of the element in the source being used.

Abbreviations for Terms Used in Tables 9 and 10

DE	digestible energy
dehy	dehydrated
kcal	kilocalories
kg	kilogram(s)
ME	metabolizable energy
w	with

§ 1. Dry forages and roughages

- 2. Pasture, range plants, and forages fed green
- 3. Silages
- 4. Energy feeds
- 5. Protein supplements
- 6. Minerals
- 7. Vitamins
- 8. Additives
- Epps, Ernest A., Jr., Division of Agricultural Chemistry, P.O. Box 16390-A, Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70803.

TABLE 9 Average Composition of Some Feed Ingredients Commonly Used in Swine Diets (Excluding Amino Acids)^a

		Interna-	-	Energy (kcal/kg) Pr			i ang Posta i		Mineral			
Line No.		tional Feed Number*	Dry Matter (%)	DE			Ether Extract (%)	Crude Fiber (%)	Cal- cium (%)	Phos- phorus (%)	Potas- sium (%)	Chlo- rine (%)
01	Alfalfa meal, dehy., 17% protein	1-00-023	92	2580	2270	(%)	2.5	24.1	1.44	0.22	2.40	0.46
02	Barley	4-00-549	89	3086	2870	11.6	1.8	5.1	0.05	0.36	0.48	0.15
03	Barley, Pacific Coast	4-07-939	89	3130	2940	9.0	2.0	6.4	0.05	0.32	0.53	0.1
04	Beans, field (Vicia faba)	5-09-262	89	3263	3080	26.0	1.4	8.2	0.14	0.54	1.20	_
05	Beet pulp, dried	4-00-669	91	2866	2345	8.0	0.5	21.0	0.60	0.10	0.21	
06	Blood meal, spray or ring dried	5-00-381	86	2690	1927	85.0	1.0	0.6	0.30	0.25	0.90	0.2
07	Brewers dried grains	5-02-141	92	1940	1710	25.3	6.2	15.3	0.29	0.52	0.09	0.15
08	Corn, dent yellow, grain	4-02-935	89	3525	3325	8.8	3.8	2.2	0.02	0.28	0.30	0.04
09	Corn and cob meal	4-02-849	85	3086	2500	7.8	3.0	10.0	0.04	0.21	0.45	0.04
10	Corn, gluten feed	5-02-903	90	3307	2400	22.0	2.5	10.0	0.40	0.80	0.57	0.22
11	gluten meal, 41%	5-02-411	91	3230	3069	41.0	2.5	4.0	0.23	0.55	0.31	0.11
12	Corn, distillers grain w/solubles, dehy.	5-02-843	93	3568	3390	27.2	9.0	9.1	0.35	0.95	1.00	0.17
13	Corn, distillers solubles, dehy.	5-02-844	92	3307	2900	28.5	9.0	4.0	0.35	1.33	1.75	0.26
14	Corn, hominy feed	4-02-887	90	3615	3365	10.0	6.9	6.0	0.04	0.50	0.67	0.05
15	Cottonseed meal, mechanical extracted	5-01-609	93	2954	2453	40.9	3.9	12.6	0.17	1.05	1.19	0.04
16	Cottonseed meal, solvent extracted	5-01-619	92	2689	2555	41.4	1.5	11.3	0.15	0.97	1.22	0.03
17	Feather meal	5-03-795	93	2778	2270	86.4	3.3	1.0	0.20	0.80	0.31	—
18	Fish meal, anchovy	5-01-985	92	3086	2450	64.2	10.0	1.0	3.73	2.43	0.90	0.29
19	herring	5-02-000	93	3086	2500	72.3	10.0	0.7	2.29	1.70	1.50	0.90
20	Menhaden	5-02-009	92	2734	2230	60.5	9.4	0.7	5.11	2.88	0.77	0.60
21	Fish solubles, condensed	5-01-969	51	3307	3190	31.5	4.0	0.2	0.30	0.50	1.74	2.65
22	Meat and bone meal, 50%	5-09-322	93	2866	2434	50.4	8.6	2.8	10.10	4.96	1.40	0.74
23	Meat meal, 55%	5-09-323	92	2998	2540	54.4	7.1	2.5	8.27	4.10	1.40	0.91
24	Molasses, beet	4-00-668	79	2460	2320	6.1	0.0	0.0	0.13	0.06	4.83	1.30
25	Molasses, cane	4-04-696	74	2469	2343	2.9	0.0	0.0	0.82	0.08	2.38	
26	Oats	4-03-309	89	2866	2668	11.4	4.2	10.8	0.06	0.27	0.37	0.11
27	Oat groats (dehulled oats)	4-03-331	91	3690	3400	16.0	5.5	3.0	0.07	0.43	0.34	—
28	Peas	5-03-600	90	3527	3200	23.8	1.3	5.5	0.11	0.42	1.02	0.06
29	Peanut meal, expeller	5-03-649	90	3600	3200	45.0	7.3	12.0	0.16	0.55	1.12	0.03
30	Peanut meal, solvent	5-03-650	90	2845	2920	47.0	1.2	13.1	0.20	0.65	1.15	
31	Rapeseed meal, solvent	5-03-871	94	2998	2670	35.0	1.8	12.4	0.66	1.09	0.80	_
32	Rice bran, solvent	4-03-930	91	3080	2200	12.9	0.6	11.4	0.07	1.50	1.35	0.07
33	Rice, broken	4-03-932	89	2513	2360	8.7	1.7	9.8	0.08	_	_	0.08
34	Rice, polishings	4-03-943	90	3792	3000	12.2	11.0	4.1	0.05	1.31	1.06	0.11
35	Rye, grain	4-04-047	89	3307	2712	12.6	1.8	2.8	0.08	0.30	0.46	_
36	Safflower meal, solvent	5-04-110	91	2960	2435	28.5	0.5	30.6	0.40	1.10	0.80	
37	Sesame meal, expeller	5-04-220	93	3130	2560	42.0	7.0	6.5	1.99	1.37	1.20	0.06
38	Skim milk, dried	5-01-175	92	3792	3360	33.5	0.9	0.0	1.28	1.02	1.59	0.50
39	Sorghum, grain (Milo)	4-04-444	89	3439	3229	8.9	2.8	2.3	0.03	0.28	0.32	0.09
40	Soybeans, full-fat cooked	5-04-597	90	4056	3540	37.0	18.0	5.5	0.25	0.58	1.61	0.03
41	Soybean meal, dehulled, solvent	5-04-612	90	3860	3485	48.5	1.0	3.9	0.27	0.62	2.02	0.05
42	Soybean meal, expeller	5-04-600	90	3483	2990	42.6	4.0	6.2 7.3		0.61	1.83 2.00	0.07
43	Soybean meal, solvent	5-04-604	89	3350	3090	44.0	0.8		0.29	0.65		
44	Sunflower meal, dehulled, solvent Wheat bran	5-04-739	93 90	2998	2605	42.0	2.9 4.0	12.2 11.0	0.37 0.14	1.00 1.15	1.00 1.19	0.10
45		4-05-190		2513	2320	15.7						
46 47	Wheat shorts	4-05-201	89	3175	2910	16.8	4.2	8.2 7.0	0.11	0.76	0.88	0.07
41 48	Wheat middlings	4-05-205	88 87	3050 3483	2940 3220	16.0	3.0 1.9	2.4	0.12 0.05	0.90 0.37	0.60	0.03
	Wheat, hard, red winter	4-05-268 4-05-294	87	3483	3220	14.1	1.9	2.4	0.05	0.37	0.45 0.40	0.05
49 50	Wheat, soft, red winter	4-05-294	80 93	3659	3416	10.2 13.6	0.8	1.3	0.05	0.31	1.05	0.08
	Whey, dried											1.50
51	Whey, low lactose	4-01-186	91	3307	2750	15.5	1.0	0.3	1.95	0.98	3.00	2.10
52	Yeast, brewers dried	7-05-527	93	3135	2707	44.4	1.0	2.7	0.12	1.40	1.70	0.12

• As fed basis. • The first digit is the feed class, coded as follows: (1) dry forages and roughages; (2) pasture, range plants and forages fed green; (3) silages; (4) energy feeds; and (5) protein supplements.

									Vitamins									
Line No.	Mag- nesium (%)	So- dium (%)	Sul- fur (%)	Copper (mg/kg)	lron (mg/kg)	Man- ganese (mg/kg)	Sele- nium (mg/kg)	Zinc (mg/kg)	Biotin (mg/kg)	Choline (mg/kg)	Folacin (mg/kg)	Niacin (mg/kg)	Panto- thenic Acid (mg/kg)	Pyri- doxine (mg/kg)	Ribo- flavin (mg/kg)	Thia- min (mg/kg)	Vitamin B ₁₃ (mg/kg)	Vitamin E (IU/kg)
01	0.26	0.08	0.21	8.2	310	28.0	0.60	17	0.30	1097	6.3	38	28.4	6.5	15.7	3.4	0.004	125
02	0.14	0.04	0.15	7.5	50	8.0	0.10	17	0.08	990	0.5	63	9.2	3.0	1.2	4.0	—	36
03	0.12	0.02	_	7.7	60	16.3	0.10	15	0.15	1034	0.5	48	7.0	2.9	1.6	5.5	-	36
04	0.13	0.80	-	4.1	70	8.4	-	42	0.09	1670	_	22	3.0		1.6	5.5	1000	1
05	0.27	0.32	0.20	12.5	300	35.0	—	0.7	<u> </u>	800		20	0.8	_	1.1	0.2		-
06	0.22	0.33	0.32	8.1	3000	6.4	_	306	0.30	749	0.3	22	1.1	4.4	1.3	0.5	0.440	_
07	0.16	0.15	0.31	21.1	250	37.8	0.70	98	0.96	1723	7.1	29	8.0	0.7	1.4	0.5	-	25
08	0.12	0.02	0.08	3.4	35	5.0	0.04	10	0.11	530	0.2	34	7.5	7.0	1.0	3.5		22
09	0.13	0.01	0.18	6.7	70	7.7	0.07	9	0.05	393	0.3	17	4.0	5.0	0.9	100		19
10	0.29	0.95	0.22	47.9	460	23.8	0.10	48	0.33	1518	0.3	66	17.0	15.0	2.4	2.0	12000	15
11	0.05	0.07	0.40	28.3	400	8.9	1.00	20	0.18	330	0.2	50	10.0	7.9	1.7	0.2		20
12	0.35	0.90	0.30	44.7	280	30.0	0.39	80	0.30	3400	0.9	80	11.0	2.2	8.6	3.5	—	40
13	0.64	0.26	0.37	82.7	560	73.7	0.33	85	1.40	4842	1.1	116	21.0	10.0	11.6	6.9		55
14	0.24	0.10	0.03	13.3	70	14.5		3	0.13	1500	0.3	46	8.0	11.0	2.2	7.9	-	_
15	0.42	0.04	0.40	18.6	160	22.9	0.90	57	0.60	2753	2.7	38	7.7	5.3	4.2	9.7		15
16	0.40	0.04		17.8	110	20.2			0.55	2933	2.7	40	9.9	3.0	4.0	7.7	200 Sec. 1	15
17	0.20	0.71	-	-	-	21.0	—		0.04	891	0.2	27	10.0	-	2.1	0.1	0.600	_
18	0.24	1.10	0.54	9.3	220	9.5	1.36	103	0.23	5100	0.2	135	20.0	4.0	7.1	0.1	0.352	6
19	0.15	0.61	0.69	4.5	80	4.7	1.93	132	0.20	5306	0.5	142	22.0	4.0	9.9	0.1	0.588	17
20	0.16	0.41	0.45	10.8	440	33.0	2.10	147	0.15	3056	1.0	55	9.0	4.0	4.9	0.2	0.150	7
21	0.02	3.10	0.12	44.9	30	14.4	2.00	38	0.18	4028	1.77	169	35.0	12.2	14.6	5.5	0.347	—
22	1.12	0.72	0.26	1.5	490	14.2	0.25	93	0.14	1996	0.6	46	4.1	12.8	4.4	0.2	0.070	0.8
23	1.13	0.73	0.26	1.5	440	12.3	0.25	103	0.14	2077	0.6	57	5.0	3.0	5.5	0.2		0.8
24	0.23	—	0.48	17.7	70	4.7	—	14	0.70	880	—	48	4.0		2.1	-		4.4
25	0.35	0.90	0.35	59.6	200	42.2			0.70	660	S 7	45	39.0		2.3	0.9		4.4
26	0.16	0.06	0.21	5.9	70	43.2	0.30	1	0.30	1100	0.4	15	29.2	1.0	1.1	6.0		20.0
27	0.09	_	0.20	6.4	90	28.6	—	—	0.20	1232	0.3	18	11.0	-	1.3	6.8		15.0
28	-	0.04		-	50		_	30	0.18	642	0.4	17	4.6	1.0	0.8	1.8		-
29	0.32	-	0.28	-	—	24.8	_		0.39	1640	-	165	46.8		5.1	7.1		2.9
30	0.40	0.10	_	—	-	29.9	_	_	0.39	1980	9 5	165	50.6	-	11.0	6.6		3.0
31	0.51	0.50	3	7.0	180	43.0	0.98	66	_	6464	_	153	9.0	7.0	3.7	1.7		19.1
32	0.95	0.07	0.18	13.0	190	138.0	_	30	4.20	1135	_	293	23.0	14.0	2.5	22.5		59.8
33	0.11	0.07	0.06		—	18.0	_	17	0.08	800	0.2	46	8.0	-	0.7	_		14.5
34	0.65	0.10	0.17		160	-	-	—	0.61	1237	—	520	47.0	—	1.8	19.8		90.0
35	0.12	0.02	0.15	7.8	100	66.9	_	31	0.60	_	0.6	16	9.2	-	1.5	4.4	-	15.0
36	0.37	0.06		10.8	560	19.8	-	44	1.56	2247	0.5	60	43.8		11.3	2.8	-	0.9
37	0.86	0.04	0.43	_	_	47.9	_	100	0.34	1690		30	6.0	12.5	3.6	2.8		_
38	0.11	0.44	0.31	11.5	50	2.0	0.12	40	0.33	1250	0.6	12	33.0	3.9	22.0	3.5	0.010	9.1
39	0.20	0.01	0.09		40	12.9	—	14	0.09	678	0.2	41	12.0	3.2	1.1	4.0	—	12.0
40	0.21	0.28			80	29.8	0.11	16	0.27	2420	3.5	22	15.6	10.8	2.6	6.6	-	0.9
41	0.27	0.34	0.43		120	27.5	0.10	45	0.32	2850	0.7	22	15.0	5.0	2.9	1.7		3.3
42	0.26	0.27	0.33		140	30.7	0.10	60	0.33	2703	0.5	37	14.0	_	3.7	1.7		6.1
43	0.27	0.34	0.43		120	29.3	0.10	27	0.32	2794	0.5	60	13.3	8.0	2.9	1.7	-	2.1
44	0.75	2.00		3.5	30	22.9	2 <u></u>		1.45	2894		220	10.0	16.0	3.1	_	—	11.0
45	0.52	0.05		10.2	170	100.0	0.50	95	0.10	980	1.8	321	31.0	7.0	3.1	8.0	-	10.8
46	0.26	0.07	0.23	12.1	100	115.0	0.50	106	0.10	930	1.4	100	17.6	11.0	2.0	19.9	—	29.9
47	0.29	0.60	0.16	4.4	40	43.0	0.80	64	0.10	1100	0.6	53	13.0	9.0	2.2	18.9		_
48	0.17	0.04			50	62.2	0.06	14	0.04	1090	0.4	56	13.5	3.4	1.4	4.5	—	12.6
49	0.10	0.04	0.12	9.7	40	51.3	0.06	14	0.04	788	0.4	48	11.0	4.0	1.2	4.3	_	13.2
50	0.13	2.00		40.0	130	6.1	0.06		0.34	1980	0.8	10	44.0	4.0	27.1	4.1	0.015	0.2
51	0.25	1.50	-			14.0	0.06	_	0.64	4392	1.4	19	69.0	4.0	29.9	5.7	0.015	
52	0.23	0.07			120	5.2	1.00	39	1.05	3984	9.9	448	109.0	42.8	37.0	91.8	_	_
	PANES22		12508	0.024632	1422023	1894	22223	0.63	22223	2020/022	11152	0.000	48.063935	19474-9769	0000000	032035		

TABLE 10	Average Amino	Acid Composition	of Some Commonl	y Used Feedstuffs ^a

	Interna- tional	Pro-	Argi-	Histi-	lso-	Leu-	Ly-	Methi-	Cys-	Phenyl-	Туто-	Thre-	Тгур-	Valine
	Feed Number*	tein (%)	nine (%)	dine (%)	leucine (%)	cine (%)	sine (%)	onine (%)	tine (%)	alanine (%)	sine (%)	onine (%)	tophan (%)	(%)
Alfalfa meal, dehy., 17% protein	1-00-023	17.5	0.8	0.3	0.8	1.3	0.73	0.2	0.2	0.8	0.6	0.70	0.28	0.8
Barley	4-00-549	11.6	0.6	0.3	0.5	0.8	0.40	0.2	0.3	0.6	0.3	0.42	0.14	0.6
Barley, Pacific Coast	4-07-939	9.0	0.5	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.29	0.1	0.2	0.5	0.3	0.30	0.12	0.5
Beans, field (Vicia faba)	5-09-262	27.4	2.5	0.7	1.1		1.72	0.2	0.2	1.2	0.7	3.96	0.24	1.2
Beet pulp, dried	4-00-669	8.0	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.6	0.60	0.01	0.01	0.3	0.4	0.40	0.10	0.4
Blood meal, spray or ring dried	5-00-381	85.0	4.1	5.5	1.0	12.7		1.5	1.5	7.3	3.0	4.90	1.10	9.1
Brewers dried grains	5-02-141	25.3	0.8	0.6	1.4	2.5	0.90	0.6	0.4	1.5	1.2	0.98	0.34	1.7
Corn, dent yellow, grain	4-02-935	8.8	0.5	0.2	0.4	1.1	0.24	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.5	0.39	0.05	0.4
Com and cob meal	4-02-849	7.8	0.4	0.2	0.4	1.0	0.18	0.1	0.1	0.4	-	0.35	0.07	0.4
Corn, gluten feed	5-02-903	22.0	1.0	0.7	0.7	1.9	0.63	0.5	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.89	0.10	1.0
gluten meal, 41%	5-02-411	40.6	1.4	1.0	2.2	7.2	0.78	1.0	0.7	2.9	1.0	1.40	0.21	2.2
Corn, distillers grain w/solubles, dehy.	5-02-843	27.2	1.0	0.7	1.0	2.6	0.60	0.6	0.3	1.2	0.7	0.92	0.19	1.3
Corn, distillers solubles, dehy.	5-02-844	28.5	1.1	0.7	1.3	2.1	0.90	0.5	0.4	1.3	1.0	1.00	0.30	1.4
Corn, hominy feed	4-02-887	10.0	0.5	0.2	0.4	0.8	0.40	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.5	0.40	0.10	0.5
Cottonseed meal, mechanical extracted	5-01-609	40.9	4.3	1.1	1.6	2.5	1.51	0.6	0.6	2.2	1.1	1.38	0.55	2.0
Cottonseed meal, solvent extracted	5-01-619	41.4	4.6	1.1	1.3		1.71	0.5	0.6	2.2	1.0	1.32	0.47	1.9
Feather meal	5-03-795	86.4	3.9	0.3	2.7		1.10	0.4	3.0	2.7	6.3	2.80	0.50	4.6
Fish meal, anchovy	5-01-985	64.2	3.7	1.5	3.0		5.10	1.9	0.6	2.7	2.2	2.68	0.74	3.4
herring	5-02-000	72.3	4.8	1.7	3.2		5.70	2.1	0.7	2.8	2.3	3.00	0.81	4.4
Menhaden	5-02-009	60.5	3.8	1.5	2.9		4.83	1.8	0.6	2.5	2.0	2.50	0.68	3.2
Fish solubles, 50% solids	5-01-969	31.5	1.6	1.6	0.7		1.73	0.5	0.3	0.9	0.4	0.86	0.31	1.2
Meat and bone meal, 50%	5-09-322	50.4	3.6	1.2	1.4		2.60	0.7	0.3	1.5	0.8	1.50	0.28	2.3
Meat meal, 55%	5-09-323	54.4	3.7	1.3	1.6		3.00	0.8	0.7	1.7	1.8	1.74		2.6
Oats	4-03-309	11.4	0.8	0.2	0.5		0.40	0.2	0.2	0.6	0.5	0.43	0.16	0.7
Oat groats (dehulled oats)	4-03-331	16.0	0.7	0.3	0.5	1.0		0.2	0.3	0.7	0.9	0.50	0.18	0.7
Peas	5-03-600	23.8	1.4	0.7	1.1			0.3	0.2	1.3	_	0.94	0.24	1.3
Peanut meal, expeller	5-03-649	45.0	4.7	1.1	1.8	3.6	1.55	0.4	0.7	2.6		1.40	0.46	2.6
Peanut meal, solvent	5-03-650	47.0	4.9	1.2	2.1		1.76	0.4	0.8	2.8	2.0	1.45	0.48	2.8
Rapeseed meal, solvent	5-03-871	35.0	1.9	1.0	1.3		2.10	0.7	0.4	1.4	0.8	1.53	0.45	1.8
Rice bran, solvent	4-03-930	12.9	0.9	0.3	0.4		0.59	0.2	0.1	0.6	0.7	0.48	0.15	0.6
	4-03-932	8.7		0.3	0.4		0.39	0.2	0.1	0.3		0.40		0.5
Rice, broken										0.5	0.6	0.40		0.8
Rice, polishings	4-03-943 4-04-047	12.2	0.8	0.2	0.4		0.57	0.2	0.1		0.6		0.13	
Rye, grain		12.6	0.5	0.3	0.5		0.49	0.2	0.2	0.6	0.3	0.86	0.12	0.6
Safflower meal, solvent	5-04-110	28.5	3.7	1.0	1.7		1.30	0.7	0.7	1.9	-	1.35		2.3
Sesame meal, expeller	5-04-220	42.0	4.2	1.1	2.1		1.30	1.2	0.6	2.2	2.0	1.65	0.80	2.4
Skim milk, dried	5-01-175	33.5	1.1	0.8	2.2		2.40	0.9	0.4	1.6	1.1	1.60	0.44	2.3
Sorghum, grain (Milo)	4-04-383	8.9	0.4	0.3	0.5		0.22	0.1	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.27		0.5
Soybeans, full-fat cooked	5-04-597	37.0	2.8	0.9	2.0		2.40	0.5	0.6	1.8	1.2	1.50	0.55	1.8
Soybean meal, dehulled, solvent	5-04-612	48.5	3.7	1.3	2.6		3.18	0.7	0.7	2.1	2.0	1.91	0.67	2.7
Soybean meal, solvent	5-04-604	44.0	3.3	1.2	2.4		2.93	0.7	0.7	2.3	1.3	1.81		2.3
Sunflower meal, dehulled, solvent	5-04-739		3.3	1.4	2.8		1.70		0.7	2.9	1.2	2.13	0.71	3.2
Wheat bran	4-05-190			0.3	0.6		0.59		0.3	0.5	0.4	0.42		0.7
Wheat, hard, red winter	4-05-268	14.1		0.2	0.6		0.40		0.3	0.7	0.6		0.18	0.6
Wheat middlings	4-05-205			0.4	0.6		0.69		0.3	0.6	0.5	0.49		0.7
Wheat shorts	4-05-201			0.5	0.E		0.81		0.3	0.7	0.5	0.61		0.8
Wheat, soft, red winter	4-05-294	10.2		0.2	0.4		0.31		0.2	0.5	0.4	0.32		0.4
Whey, dried	4-01-182	12.0	0.3	0.2	0.8	1.2	0.97	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.89		0.7
Whey, low lactose	4-01-186			0.1	0.3		1.47		0.6	0.1	0.2	0.50		0.3
Yeast, brewers dried	4-05-527	44.4	2.2	1.1	2.1	3.2	3.23	0.7	0.5	1.8	1.5	2.06	0.49	2.3

"As fed basis. "The first digit is the feed class, coded as follows: (1) dry forages and roughages; (2) pasture, range plants and forages fed green; (3) silages; (4) energy feeds and (5) protein supplements.

.

Mineral	Source	Chemical Formula	Mineral Con	tent ^a		
Calcium	Calcium carbonate Limestone		40%Ca 38%Ca	0.02%Na 0.05%Na	0.01%F	
Calcium and	Bone meal		24%Ca	12.6 %P	0.37%Na	0.05%F
phosphorus	Phosphate, curacao		36%Ca	14 %P	0.3 %Na	0.54%F
174 (R)	defluorinated		30-34%Ca	18 %P	5.7 %Na	0.16%F
	dicalcium		18-24%Ca	18.5 %P	0.6 %Na	0.14%F
	mono and dicalcium		16-19%Ca	21 %P	0.6 %Na	0.20%F
	soft rock		17%Ca	9 %P	0.1 %Na	1.2 %F
	sodium tripoly		0	25 %P	31.2 %Na	0.03%F
Sodium and chlorine	Sodium chloride		39.3 %Na	60.7 %Cl		
Iron	Ferrous sulfate	FeSO, HrO	32.9 %Fe			
	Ferrous sulfate	FeSO, 7HrO	20.1 %Fe			
	Ferric ammonium citrate		16.5-18.5 %	Fe		
	Ferrous fumarate	FeC,H,O,	32.9 %Fe			
	Ferric chloride	FeCl ₃ 6H ₂ O	20.7 %Fe			
	Ferrous carbonate	FeCO ₃	48.2 %Fe			
	Ferric oxide	Fe ₂ O ₃	69.9 %Fe			
	Ferrous oxide	FeO	77.8 %Fe			
Copper	Cupric carbonate	CuCO ₃ Cu(OH) ₂	57.5 %Cu			
	Cupric chloride	CuCl ₂ 2H ₃ O	37.3 %Cu			
	Cupric hydroxide	Cu(OH) ₂	65.1 %Cu			
	Cupric oxide	CuO	79.9 %Cu			
	Cupric sulfate	CuSO ₄ 5H ₂ O	25.4 %Cu			
Manganese	Manganese carbonate	MnCO ₃	47.8 %Mn			
000010125900000000	Manganous chloride	MnCl ₂ 4H ₂ O	27.8 %Mn			
	Manganous oxide	MnO	77.4 %Mn			
	Manganese sulfate	MnSO ₄ 5H ₂ O	22.7 %Mn			
	Manganous sulfate	MnSO ₄ H ₂ O	32.5 %Mn			
Zinc	Zinc carbonate	5ZnO 2CO ₄ H ₂ O	56.0 %Zn			
	Zinc chloride	ZnCl,	48.0 %Zn			
	Zinc oxide	ZnO	80.3 %Zn			
	Zinc sulfate	ZnSO, 7H,O	22.7 %Zn			
	Zinc sulfate	ZnSO, HO	36.4 %Zn			
Iodine	Calcium iodate	Ca(IO ₃),	65.1 %I			
	Potassium iodide	KI	76.4 %I			
	Cuprous iodide	CuI	66.6 %I			
	Penta calcium orthoperiodate	Cas(IO.):	39.3 %I			
Selenium	Sodium selenite	Na ₂ SeO ₃	45.6 %Se	26.6 %Na		
	Sodium selenate	Na SeO	41.8 %Se	24.3 %Na		

TABLE 11 Common Mineral Sources For Swine

^a Actual mineral levels in technical grade sources may vary.

Nutrient Requirements of Swine: Eighth revised edition, 1979 http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=19882

÷

BIBLIOGRAPHY

ENERGY

- Adam, J. L., and I. H. Shearer. 1975. Effects of sow and litter performance on energy intake in lactation and feeding patterns after weaning. N.Z. J. Exp. Agric. 3:55-62.
- Anderson, R. H., and R. C. Wahlstrom. 1970. Effects of energy intake and dichlorvos during gestation on reproductive performance of gilts and some chemical characteristics of the offspring. J. Anim. Sci. 31:907-916.
- Bayley, H. S., and D. Lewis. 1965. The use of fats in pigs feeding. 1. Pig fecal fat not of immediate dietary origin. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 64:367-372.
- Bowland, J. P. 1967. Energetic efficiency of the sow. J. Anim. Sci. 26:533–539.
- Buitrago, J. A., J. H. Maner, J. T. Gallo, and W. G. Pond. 1974. Effect of dietary energy in gestation on reproductive performance of gilts. J. Anim. Sci. 39:47-52.
- Buitrago, J. A., E. F. Walker, Jr., W. I. Snyder, and W. G. Pond. 1974. Blood and tissue traits in pigs at birth and at 3 weeks from gilts fed low or high energy diets during gestation. J. Anim. Sci. 38: 766-771.
- Burlacu, G., G. Baia, D. Ionila, D. Moisa, V. Tascenco, I. Visan, and I. Stoica. 1973. Efficiency of the utilization of the energy of food in piglets, after weaning. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 81:295– 302.
- Campbell, R. G., M. R. Taverner, and P. D. Mullaney. 1975. The effect of dietary concentrations of digestible energy on the performance and carcass characteristics of early-weaned pigs. Anim. Prod. 21:285-294.
- Cheeke, P. R., and W. H. Kennick. 1970. Effect of alteration between high and low energy diets on the performance of growing swine. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 50:611-616.
- Close, W. H. 1971. Energy retention in the pig at several environmental temperatures and levels of feeding. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 30:33A.
- Close, W. H. 1973. The energy cost of maintenance and growth in the pig. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 32:71A.
- Cole, D. J. A. 1973. The use of digestible energy in the evaluation of pig diets. Proc. 7th Nutr. Conf. Feed Manuf., Univ. Nottingham, p. 81.
- Cole, D. J. A., J. E. Duckworth, and W. Holmes. 1967. Factors affecting voluntary feed intake in pigs. 1. The effect of digestible energy content of the diet on the intake of castrated male pigs housed in holding pens and in metabolism crates. Anim. Prod. 9:141-148.

- Cole, D. J. A., J. E. Duckworth, and W. Holmes. 1967. Factors affecting voluntary feed intake in pigs. 2. Effect of two levels of crude fiber in the diet on the intake and performance of fattening pigs. Anim. Prod. 9:149–154.
- Davey, R. J., D. P. Morgan, and C. M. Kincaid. 1969. Responses of swine selected for high and low fatness to a difference in dietary energy intake. J. Anim. Sci. 28:197-203.
- Davies, J. L., and I. A. M. Lucas. 1972. Responses to variations in dietary energy intakes by growing pigs. 1. Estimates of digestible and metabolizable energy requirements for maintenance. Anim. Prod. 15:111-116.
- Davies, J. L., and I. A. M. Lucas. 1972. Responses to variations in dietary energy intakes by growing pigs. 2. The effects on feed conversion efficiency of changes in level of intake above maintenance. Anim. Prod. 15:117-125.
- Davies, J. L., and I. A. M. Lucas. 1972. Responses to variations in dietary energy intakes by growing pigs. 3. Effect of level of intake of diets of differing protein and fat content on the performance of growing pigs. Anim. Prod. 15:127-137.
- DeGoey, L. W., and R. C. Ewan. 1975. Effect of level of intake and diet dilution on energy metabolism in the young pig. J. Anim. Sci. 40:1045-1051.
- Diggs, B. G., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, and H. W. Norton. 1965. Energy value of various feeds for the young pig. J. Anim. Sci. 24:555-558.
- Elsley, F. W. H., R. M. MacPherson, and I. McDonald. 1968. The influence of intake of dietary energy in pregnancy and lactation upon sow productivity. J. Agric. Sci. 71:215-222.
- Ewan, R. C. 1976. Utilization of energy of feed ingredients by young pigs. Proc. 31st Distill. Feed Conf. 31:16-21.
- Fowler, V. R., and R. M. Livingstone. 1971. Some effects of alternating high and low levels of feed intake on the performance and composition of the growing pig. Anim. Prod. 13:59-69.
- Frobish, L. T. 1970. Effect of energy intake on reproductive performance and estrous synchronization of gilts. J. Anim. Sci. 31:486–490.
- Frobish, L. T., N. C. Steele, and R. J. Davey. 1973. Long term effect of energy intake on reproductive performance of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 36:293-297.
- Hale, O. M., J. C. Johnson, Jr., and E. P. Warren. 1968. Influence of season, sex and dietary energy concentration on performance and carcass characteristics of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 27:1577-1582.

- Hill, F. W., and D. L. Anderson. 1958. Comparison of metabolizable energy and productive energy determinations with chicks. J. Nutr. 64:587-603.
- Jordan, J. W. 1971. Investigations into the energy metabolism of bacon pigs and piglets. Agric. Progr. 46:9-25.
- Kielanowski, J. 1966. Conversion of energy and the chemical composition of gain in bacon pigs. Anim. Prod. 8:121-128.
- Libal, G. W., and R. C. Wahlstrom. 1977. Effect of gestation metabolizable energy levels on sow productivity. J. Anim. Sci. 45:286-292.
- May, R. W., and J. M. Bell. 1971. Digestible and metabolizable energy values of some feeds for the growing pig. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 51:271-278.
- Morgan, D. J., D. J. A. Cole, and D. Lewis. 1975. Energy values in pig nutrition. 1. The relationship between digestible energy, metabolizable energy and total digestible nutrient values of a range of feedstuffs. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 84:7-17.
- Morgan, D. J., D. J. A. Cole, and D. Lewis. 1975. Energy values in pig nutrition. 2. The prediction of energy values from dietary chemical analysis. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 84:19-27.
- National Research Council. 1966. Biological energy interrelationships and glossary of energy terms. Publication 1411. National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C.
- O'Grady, J. F., and J. P. Bowland. 1972. Response of early weaned pigs to diets of different digestible energy concentrations and the effects of cereal source and added molasses on performance. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 52:87-97.
- O'Grady, J. F., F. W. H. Elsley, R. M. MacPherson, and I. McDonald. 1973. The response of lactating sows and their litters to different energy allowances. 1. Milk yield and composition, reproductive performance of sows and growth rate of litters. Anim. Prod. 17:64-74.
- O'Grady, J. F., F. W. H. Elsley, R. M. MacPherson, and I. McDonald. 1975. The response of lactating sows and their litters to different energy allowances. 2. Weight changes and carcass composition of sows. Anim. Prod. 20:257-265.
- Owen, J. B., and W. J. Ridgman. 1967. Effect of dietary energy content on the voluntary intake of pigs. Anim. Prod. 9:107-113.
- Owen, J. B., and W. J. Ridgman. 1968. Further studies on the effect of dietary energy content on the voluntary intake of pigs. Anim. Prod. 10:85–91.
- Partridge, I. G. 1972. Influence of dietary energy upon the uterus of the prepuberal gilt. 1. Growth measurements. Growth 36: 99-112.
- Partridge, I. G. 1972. Influence of dietary energy upon the uterus of the prepuberal gilt. 2. Connective tissue studies. Growth 36:113-122.
- Ruiz, M. E., R. C. Ewan, and V. C. Speer. 1971. Serum metabolites of pregnant and hysterectomized gilts fed two levels of energy. J. Anim. Sci. 32:1153-1159.
- Seerley, R. W., T. A. Pace, C. W. Foley, and R. D. Scarth. 1974. Effect of energy intake prior to parturition on milk lipids and survival rate, thermostability and carcass composition of piglets. J. Anim. Sci. 38:64-70.
- Sharma, V. D., L. G. Young, and G. C. Smith. 1971. Energy utilization by the Lacombe and Yorkshire breeds of pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 51:761-770.
- Sharma, V. D., L. G. Young, G. C. Smith, and R. Saison. 1972. Effects of crossbreeding and sex on energy requirements and utilization by young pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 52:751-759.
- Sharma, V. D., L. G. Young, R. G. Brown, and G. C. Buchanan-Smith. 1973. Effects of frequency of feeding on energy metabolism and body composition of young pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 53:157-164.

- Skitsko, P. J., and J. P. Bowland. 1970. Energy and nitrogen digestibility and retention by pigs as influenced by diet, sex, breeding group and replicate. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 50:685-691.
- Skitsko, P. J., and J. P. Bowland. 1970. Performance of gilts and barrows from three breeding groups marketed at three liveweights when offered diets containing two levels of digestible energy for a limited period per day. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 50:161– 170.
- Vermedahl, L. D., R. J. Meade, H. E. Hanke, and J. W. Rust. 1969. Effects of energy intake of the dam on reproductive performance, development of offspring and carcass characteristics. J. Anim. Sci. 28:465-472.
- Verstegen, M. W. A., A. J. H. Van Es, and J. H. Nijkamp. 1971. Some aspects of energy metabolism of the sow during pregnancy. Anim. Prod. 13:677-683.
- Young, L. G., and V. D. Sharma. 1973. Influence of energy intake by the neonatal pig on subsequent growth and development. J. Anim. Sci. 36:183-187.

ENERGY AND PROTEIN

- Atinmo, T., W. G. Pond, and R. H. Barnes. 1974. Effect of dietary energy vs. protein restriction on blood constituents and reproductive performance in swine. J. Nutr. 104:1033-1040.
- Atinmo, T., W. G. Pond, and R. H. Barnes. 1974. Effect of maternal energy vs. protein restriction on growth and development of progeny in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 39:703-711.
- Bowland, J. P. 1964. Influence of source and level of energy and level of protein intake on sow performance during growth, gestation and lactation. 1. Gain, energy requirements and reproductive performance. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 44:142-153.
- Bowland, J. P. 1964. Influence of source and level of energy and level of protein intake on sow performance during growth, gestation and lactation. 2. Efficiency of energy transfer to litter. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 44:154-162.
- Bowland, J. P., and R. T. Berg. 1959. Influence of strain and sex on the relationship of protein to energy in the rations of growing and finishing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 39:102-114.
- Charlet-Lery, G. 1969. Influence of dissociation of energy and protein feeding on energetic efficiency in growing pigs, p. 275. In K. L. Blaxter, G. Thorbek, and J. Kielanowski (eds.), Energy metabolism of farm animals. Proc. E.A.A.P. 4th Conf. on Energy Metabolism, Jablonna, Warsaw, 1967. Oriel Press Ltd., Newcastle.
- Clawson, A. J. 1967. Influence of protein level, amino acid ratio and caloric density of the diet on feed intake and performance of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 26:328-334.
- Clawson, A. J., T. N. Blumer, W. W. G. Smart, Jr., and E. R. Barrick. 1962. Influence of energy-protein ratio on performance and carcass characteristics of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 21:62-68.
- Cole, D. J. A., B. Hardy, and D. W. Holme. 1971. Effect of dietary digestible energy and crude protein on performance and carcass of growing pigs. Xth Int. Congr. Anim. Prod., Versailles. VII, 7 pp.
- Cooke, R., G. A. Lodge, and D. Lewis. 1972. Influence of energy and protein concentration in the diet on the performance of growing pigs. 1. Response to protein intake on high-energy diet. Anim. Prod. 14:35-46.
- Cooke, R., G. A. Lodge, and D. Lewis. 1972. Influence of energy and protein concentration in the diet on the performance of growing pigs. 3. Response to differences in levels of both energy and protein. Anim. Prod. 14:219-228.
- Frobish, L. T., V. C. Speer, and V. W. Hays. 1966. Effect of

protein and energy intake on reproductive performance in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 25:729-733.

- Greeley, M. G., R. J. Meade, and L. E. Hanson. 1964. Energy and protein intake by growing swine. 1. Effects on rate and efficiency of gain and on nutrient digestibility. J. Anim. Sci. 23:808-815.
- Greeley, M. G., R. J. Meade, L. E. Hanson, and J. Nordstrom. 1964. Energy and protein intakes by growing swine. 2. Effects on rate and efficiency of gain and on carcass characteristics. J. Anim. Sci. 23:816–822.
- Holmes, C. W. 1974. Further studies on the energy and protein metabolism of pigs growing at high ambient temperature, including measurements with fasting pigs. Anim. Prod. 19:211-220.
- Liebbrandt, V. D., C. Ewan, V. C. Speer, and D. R. Zimmerman. 1975. Effect of age and calorie-protein ratio on performance and body composition of baby pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 40:1070-1076.
- Likuski, H. J. A., J. P. Bowland, and R. T. Berg. 1961. Energy digestibility and nitrogen retention by pigs and rats fed diets containing non-nutritive dilutents and varying protein level. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 41:89-101.
- Lodge, G. A. 1972. Influence of energy and protein concentration in the diet on the performance of growing pigs. 4. Effects of sex on response to dietary protein level. Anim. Prod. 14:229-239.
- Lodge, G. A., M. E. Cundy, R. Cooke, and D. Lewis. 1972. Influence of energy and protein concentration in the diet on the performance of growing pigs. 2. Differing nutrient density at a constant energy:protein ratio. Anim. Prod. 14:47-55.
- Lowrey, R. S., W. G. Pond, R. H. Barnes, L. Krook, and J. K. Loosli. 1962. Influence of caloric level and protein quality on the manifestation of protein deficiency in the young pig. J. Nutr. 78:245-253.
- Mitchell, J. R., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, H. W. Norton, and B. G. Harmon. 1965. Caloric density of the diet and the lysine need of growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 24:977-980.
- Noland, P. R., and K. W. Scott. 1960. Effect of varying protein and energy intakes on growth and carcass quality of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 19:67-74.
- Pol, G., and C. den Hartog. 1966. Dependence on protein quality of the protein to calorie ratio in a freely selected diet and the usefulness of giving protein and calories separately in protein vevaluation experiments. Br. J. Nutr. 20:649–661.
- Pond, W. G. 1973. Influence of maternal protein and energy nutrition during gestation on progeny performance in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 36:175-182.
- Robinson, D. W. 1965. The protein and energy nutrition of the pig. 5. The effect of varying the protein and energy levels in the "finishing diets" of heavy pigs. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 65:405-409.
- Robinson, D. W. 1974. Food intake regulation in pigs. 2. The relationship between dietary protein concentration, body composition, cellular development and the efficiency of protein and energy utilization. Br. Vet. J. 130:424-433.
- Robinson, D. W., and D. Lewis. 1964. Protein and energy nutrition of the bacon pig. 2. Effect of varying the protein and energy levels in the diets of finishing pigs. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 63:185-190.
- Robinson, D. W., J. H. Prescott, and D. Lewis. 1965. The protein and energy nutrition of the bacon pig. 4. Digestible energy values of cereals in pig diets. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 64:59-65.
- Seerley, R. W., G. W. Poley, and R. C. Wahlstrom. 1964. Energy and protein relationship studies with growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 23:1016-1021.
- Sewell, R. F., M. C. Thomas, and D. Price. 1961. Protein-energy

relationships in the rations of early weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 20:820–823.

- Standish, J. E., and J. P. Bowland. 1967. Effects of varying dietary energy, protein and amino acid level on growth, nutrient digestibility and serum protein levels of early weaned pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 47:77-83.
- Stickland, N. C., E. M. Widdowson, and G. Goldspink. 1975. Effects of severe energy and protein deficiencies on the fibers and nuclei in skeletal muscle of pigs. Br. J. Nutr. 34:421–428.
- Wagner, G. R., A. J. Clark, V. W. Hays, and V. C. Speer. 1963. Effects of protein, energy relationships on the performance and carcass quality of growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 22:202–208.
- Waldern, D. E. 1964. Influence of energy and protein level in rations for finishing market pigs on performance and carcass characteristics. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 44:168–173.
- Whittemore, C. T., and R. H. Fawcett. 1974. Model responses of the growing pig to the dietary intake of energy and protein. Anim. Prod. 19:221-231.
- Zivkovic, S., and J. P. Bowland. 1963. Nutrient digestibilities and comparison of measures of feed energy for gilts fed rations varying in energy and protein level during growth, gestation and lactation. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 43:86-97.

CARBOHYDRATES AND FIBER

- Aherne, F. X., V. W. Hays, R. C. Ewan, and V. C. Speer. 1969. Absorption and utilization of sugars by the baby pig. J. Anim. Sci. 29:444–450.
- Anderson, D. M., F. W. H. Elsley, I. McDonald, and R. M. MacPherson. 1971. A study of the relationship between glucose tolerance of sows and the mean birth weight of their offspring. J. Agric. Sci. 76:179-182.
- Axelsson, J., and S. Ericksson. 1953. The optimum crude fibre level in rations of growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 12:881-891.
- Baird, D. M., H. C. McCampbell, and J. R. Allison. 1970. Levels of crude fiber with constant energy levels for growingfinishing swine using computerized rations. J. Anim. Sci. 31:518-525.
- Baird, D. M., H. C. McCampbell, and J. R. Allison. 1975. Effect of levels of crude fiber, protein and bulk in diets for finishing hogs. J. Anim. Sci. 41:1039-1047.
- Baustad, B., and I. Nafstad. 1969. Gastric ulcers in swine. 4. Effects of dietary particle size and crude fiber contents on ulceration. Pathol. Vet. 6(6):546-556.
- Becker, D. E., D. E. Ullrey, and S. W. Terrill. 1954. A comparison of carbohydrates in a synthetic milk diet for the baby pig. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 48:178–183.
- Bowland, J. P., H. Bickel, H. O. Pfirter, C. P. Wenk, and A. Schurch. 1970. Respiration calorimetry studies with growing pigs fed diets containing from three to twelve percent crude fiber. J. Anim. Sci. 31:494-501.
- Brooks, C. C., A. H. Miyahara, D. W. Juck, and S. M. Ishizaki. 1972. Relationship of sugar-induced lesions in the heart of the pig to liveweight, serum cholesterol and diet. J. Anim. Sci. 35:31-37.
- Cooper, P. H., and C. Tyler. 1959. Some effects of bran and cellulose on the water relationships in the digesta and faeces of pigs. Part 1. The effects of including bran and two forms of cellulose in otherwise normal rations. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 52:332-339.
- Cooper, P. H., and C. Tyler. 1959. Some effects of bran and cellulose on the water relationship in the digesta and faeces of pigs. Part 2. The effects of adding different levels of fibrous cellulose to a highly digestible purified ration. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 52:340-347.

- Cooper, P. H., and C. Tyler. 1959. Some effects of bran and cellulose on the water relationships in the digesta and faeces of pigs. Part 3. The effect of the level of water intake and level of cellulose in the ration on the dry matter content of the faeces. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 52:348-351.
- Crampton, E. W., G. C. Ashton, and L. E. Lloyd. 1954. Improvement of bacon carcass quality by the introduction of fibrous feeds into the hog finishing ration. J. Anim. Sci. 13:327-331.
- Cunningham, H. M., D. W. Friend, and J. W. G. Nicholson. 1961. The effect of a purified source of cellulose on the growth and body composition of growing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 41:120– 125.
- Cunningham, H. M., D. W. Friend, and J. W. G. Nicholson. 1962. The effect of age, body weight, feed intake and adaptability of pigs on the digestibility and nutritive value of cellulose. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 42:167–175.
- Drennan, P., and M. F. Maguire. 1970. Prediction of the digestible and metabolizable energy content of pig diets from their fibre content. Ir. J. Agric. Res. 9:197-202.
- Ekstrom, K. E., N. J. Benevenga, and R. H. Grummer. 1975. Effects of various dietary levels of dried whey on the performance of growing pigs. J. Nutr. 105:846-850.
- Ekstrom, K. E., N. J. Benevenga, and R. H. Grummer. 1975. The effects of diets containing dried whey on the lactase activity of the small intestinal mucosa and the contents of the small intestine and cecum of the pig. J. Nutr. 105:851-860.
- Ekstrom, K. E., R. H. Grummer, and N. J. Benevenga. 1976. Effects of a diet containing 40% dried whey on the performance and lactase activities in the small intestine and cecum of Hampshire and Chester White pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 42:106– 113.
- Farrell, D. J., and K. A. Johnson. 1970. Utilization of cellulose by pigs and its effects on caecal function. Anim. Prod. 14:209–217.
- Forbes, R. M., and T. S. Hamilton. 1952. The utilization of certain cellulosic materials by swine. J. Anim. Sci. 11:480-490.
- Friend, D. W., H. M. Cunningham, and J. W. G. Nicholson. 1962. The production of organic acids in the pig. 1. The effect of diet on the proportions of volatile fatty acids in pig feces. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 42:55–62.
- Friend, D. W., H. M. Cunningham, and J. W. G. Nicholson. 1962. The production of organic acids in the pig. 2. The effect of diet on levels of volatile fatty acids and lactic acid in sections of the alimentary tract. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 43:156–168.
- Henry, Y. 1970. Nutritional effects at full growth of the incorporation of purified cellulose in the pig diet. 3. The incidence of the gastro-esophageal ulcers. Ann. Zootech. 19:117-141.
- Henry, Y., and M. Ettienne. 1969. Nutritional effect of incorporating purified cellulose in the diet of growing-finishing pigs. Ann. Zootech. 18:337–357.
- Hochstetler, L. N., J. A. Hoefer, A. M. Pearson, and R. W. Leucke. 1959. Effect of varying levels of fiber of different sources upon growth and carcass characteristics of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 18:1397-1404.
- Keys, J. E., Jr., and J. V. Debarthe. 1974. Site and extent of carbohydrate dry matter, energy and protein digestion and rate of passage of grain diets in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 39:57-62.
- Keys, J. E., Jr., P. J. Van Soest, and E. P. Young. 1969. Comparative study of the digestibility of forage cellulose and hemicellulose in ruminants and nonruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 29:11-15.
- Keys, J. E., Jr., P. J. Van Soest, and E. P. Young. 1970. Effect of increasing dietary cell wall content on the digestibility of hemicellulose and cellulose in swine and rats. J. Anim. Sci. 31:1172-1177.
- Larsen, L. M., and J. E. Oldfield. 1961. Effect of fiber from barley hulls, and purified cellulose in barley and corn rations. J. Anim. Sci. 20:440-444.

- Merkel, R. A., R. W. Bray, R. H. Grummer, P. H. Phillips, and G. Bohstedt. 1958. The influence of limited feeding using high fiber rations, upon growth and carcass characteristics of swine.
 2. Effects on carcass characteristics. J. Anim. Sci. 17:13–19.
- Munro, H. N., J. G. Black, and W. S. T. Thomson. 1959. The mode of action of dietary carbohydrate on protein metabolism. Br. J. Nutr. 13:475-485.
- Pond, W. G., R. S. Lowrey, and J. H. Maner. 1962. Effect of crude fiber level on ration digestibility and performance in growingfinishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 21:692–696.
- Sewell, R. F., and C. V. Maxwell. 1966. Effects of various sources of carbohydrates in the diet of early-weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 25:796-799.
- Shearer, I. J., and A. C. Dunkin. 1969. Urinary and faecal sugar losses in growing pigs fed diets containing lactose. N.Z. J. Agric. Res. 12:321-332.
- Steele, N. C., L. T. Frobish, L. R. Miller, and E. P. Young. 1971. Certain aspects of the utilization of carbohydrates by the neonatal pig. J. Anim. Sci. 33:983-986.
- Troelson, J. E., and J. M. Bell. 1962. Ingredient and processing interrelationships in swine feeds. 4. Effects of various levels and kinds of fibrous dilutents in finisher rations, fed as meal or pellets on performance and carcass quality of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 20:820–823.
- Wahlstrom, R. C., L. A. Hauser, and G. W. Libal. 1974. Effects of low lactose whey, skim milk and sugar on diet palatability and performance of early weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 38:1267-1271.
- Waterman, R. A., D. R. Romsos, and A. C. Tsai. 1975. Effects of dietary carbohydrate source on growth, plasma metabolites and lipogenesis in rats, pigs and chicks. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 150:220-225.
- Woodman, H. E., and R. E. Evans. 1947. The nutritive value of fodder cellulose from wheat straw. 1. Its digestibility and feeding value when fed to ruminants and pigs. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 37:202-210.
- Woodman, H. E., and R. E. Evans. 1947. The nutritive value of fodder cellulose from wheat straw. 2. The utilization of cellulose by growing and fattening pigs. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 37:211-221.
- Zivkovic, S., and J. P. Bowland. 1970. Influence of substituting higher fiber ingredients for corn on the digestibility of diets and performance of sows and litters. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 50:177-184.

LIPIDS

- Aherne, F. X., J. P. Bowland, R. G. Christian, H. Vogtmann, and R. T. Hardin. 1975. Performance and histological changes in tissues of pigs fed diets containing high or low erucic acid rapeseed oils or soybean oil. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 55:77-85.
- Aherne, F. X., J. P. Bowland, R. G. Christian, and R. T. Hardin. 1976. Performance of, myocardial and blood serum changes in, pigs fed diets containing high or low erucic acid rapeseed oils. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 56:275-284.
- Allee, G. L., D. H. Baker, and G. A. Leveille. 1971. Fat utilization and lipogenesis in the young pig. J. Nutr. 101:1415-1422.
- Allee, G. L., D. R. Romsos, G. A. Leveille, and D. H. Baker. 1971. Influence of age on in vitro lipid biosynthesis and enzymatic activity in pig adipose tissue. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 137:449-452.
- Allee, G. L., D. R. Romsos, G. A. Leveille, and D. H. Baker. 1972. Lipogenesis and enzymatic activity in pig adipose tissue as influenced by source of dietary fat. J. Anim. Sci. 35:41-47.
- Allee, G. L., D. R. Romsos, G. A. Leveille, and D. H. Baker. 1972.

Metabolic consequences of dietary medium-chain triglycerides in the pig. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 39:422-427.

- Bayley, H. S. 1976. Factors influencing the digestion of fat in the baby pig. Nutr. Conf. Feed Manuf., Toronto. April 22, 1976, pp. 41–46.
- Bayley, H. S., and D. Lewis. 1963. The use of fats in pig rations. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 61:121-125.
- Bayley, H. S., and D. Lewis. 1965. Use of fats in pig feeding. 2. Digestibility of various fats and fatty acids. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 64:373–378.
- Brooks, C. C. 1971. Fatty acid composition of pork lipids as affected by basal diet, fat source and fat level. J. Anim. Sci. 33:1224-1231.
- Brooks, C. C. 1972. Molasses, sugar (sucrose), corn, tallow, soybean oil and mixed fats as sources of energy for growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 34:217-224.
- Brooks, C. C., A. Y. Miyahara, D. W. Juck, and S. M. Ishizaki. 1972. Relationship of sugar induced lesions in the heart of the pig to liveweight, serum cholesterol and diet. J. Anim. Sci. 35:31-37.
- Carlson, W. E., and H. S. Bayley. 1972. Digestion of fat by young pigs: A study of the amounts of fatty acid in the digestive tract using a fat-soluble indicator of absorption. Br. J. Nutr. 28:339– 346.
- Caster, W. P., P. Ahn, E. G. Hill, H. Mohrhauer, and R. T. Holman. 1962. Determination of linoleate requirement of swine by a new method of estimating nutritional requirement. J. Nutr. 78:147-154.
- Cline, T. R., J. A. Coalson, J. G. Lecce, and E. E. Jones. 1977. Utilization of fat by baby pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 44:72-77.
- Davis, R. H., and D. Lewis. 1969. The digestibility of fats differing in glyceride structure and their effects on growth performance and carcass composition of bacon pigs. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 72:217-222.
- Eusebio, J. A., V. W. Hays, V. C. Speer, and J. T. McCall. 1965. Utilization of fat by young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 24:1001-1007.
- Friend, D. W. 1974. Effect on the performance of pigs from birth to market weight of adding fat to the lactation diet of their dams. J. Anim. Sci. 39:1073-1081.
- Friend, D. W., A. H. Corner, J. K. G. Kramer, K. M. Charlton, F. Gilka, and F. C. Sauer. 1975. Growth, cardiopathology and cardiac fatty acids of swine fed diets containing soybean oil or low erucic acid rapeseed oil. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 55:49-59.
- Frobish, L. T., V. W. Hays, V. C. Speer, and R. C. Ewan. 1969. Effect of diet form and emulsifying agents on fat utilization by young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 29:320-324.
- Frobish, L. T., V. W. Hays, V. C. Speer, and R. C. Ewan. 1970. Effect of fat source and level on utilization of fat by young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 30:197-202.
- Gupta, P. P., H. D. Tandon, M. G. Karmarkar, and V. Ramalingaswami. 1974. Experimental atherosclerosis in swine: Effect of dietary protein and high fat. Exp. Mol. Pathol. 20:115– 131.
- Hamilton, R. M. G., and B. E. McDonald. 1969. Effect of dietary fat source on the apparent digestibility of fat and composition of fecal lipids of the young pig. J. Nutr. 97:33-41.
- Henry, Y. 1973. Incorporation de proportions variables de matières grasses (huile d'arachide) dans le régime du porc en croissance-finition, en relation avec le taux de matières azotées. 2. Influence sur les performances de croissance et la composition corporelle. [Incorporation of variable proportions of fat (peanut oil) into growing-finishing pig diets, as related to the crude protein content. 2. Effect on growth performance and body composition.] Ann. Zootech. 23:171-184.
- Henry, Y., and R. De Wilde. 1973. Incorporation of different levels of dietary fat (peanut oil) and protein into growing-

finishing pig diets. 1. Effects on the apparent digestibility of energy and protein and on nitrogen retention. Ann. Zootech. 22:167–184.

- Hill, E. G., E. L. Warmanen, C. L. Silbernick, and R. T. Holman. 1961. Essential fatty acid nutrition in swine. 1. Linoleate requirement estimated from triene:tetraene ratio of tissue lipids. J. Nutr. 74:335-341.
- Howard, A. N., W. M. F. Leat, G. A. Gresham, D. E. Bowyer, and E. R. Dalton. 1965. Studies on pigs reared on semi-synthetic diets containing no fat, beef tallow or maize oil: husbandry and serum biochemistry. Br. J. Nutr. 19:383-395.
- Hutagalung, R. I., G. L. Cromwell, V. W. Hays, and C. H. Chaney. 1969. Effect of dietary fat, protein, cholesterol and ascorbic acid on performance, serum and tissue cholesterol levels and serum lipid levels of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 29:700– 705.
- Jurgens, M. H., E. R. Peo, Jr., P. E. Vipperman, Jr., and R. W. Mandigo. 1970. Influence of dietary supplements of vitamin D₃ and various fats on cholesterol and fatty acid composition of the blood and body of growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 30:904-910.
- Kass, M. L., W. G. Pond, and E. F. Walker, Jr. 1975. Significance of the synthesis of essential fatty acids in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 41:804-808.
- Kramer, J. K. G., S. Mahadeven, J. R. Hunt, F. D. Sauer, A. H. Corner, and K. M. Charlton. 1973. Growth rate, lipid composition, metabolism and myocardial lesions of rats fed rapeseed oils (Brassica campestris var. arlo, echo and span and B. napus var. oro). J. Nutr. 103:1696-1708.
- Kuryvial, M. S., and J. P. Bowland. 1962. Supplemental fat as an energy source in the diets of swine and rats. 2. Energy and nitrogen digestibility, nitrogen retention and carcass fat composition. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 42:33–40.
- Kuryvial, M.S., J. P. Bowland, and R. T. Berg. 1962. Supplemental fat as an energy source in the diets of swine and rats. 1. Food and energy utilization. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 42:23-32.
- Leat, W. M. F. 1962. Studies on pig diets containing different amounts of linoleic acid. Br. J. Nutr. 16:559-569.
- Leibbrandt, V. D., V. W. Hays, R. C. Ewan, and V. C. Speer. 1975. Effect of fat on performance of baby and growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 40:1081-1085.
- L'Estrange, J. L. 1967. Nutritional effects of autoxidized fats in animal diets; performance of young pigs on diets containing meat meals of high peroxide value. Br. J. Nutr. 21:377-390.
- Lowrey, R. S., W. G. Pond, J. K. Loosli, and J. H. Maner. 1962. Effect of dietary fat level on apparent nutrient digestibility of growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 21:746-750.
- Lowrey, R. S., W. G. Pond, J. K. Loosli, and R. H. Barnes. 1963. Effect of dietary protein and fat on growth, protein utilization and carcass composition of pigs fed purified diets. J. Anim. Sci. 22:109-114.
- Manners, M. J., and M. R. McCrea. 1963. Protein requirement of baby pigs. 2. Requirement on high-fat diets and effect of replacing carbohydrate by fat. Br. J. Nutr. 17:357-372.
- Miller, G. M., J. H. Conrad, and R. B. Harrington. 1971. Effect of dietary unsaturated fatty acids and stage of lactation on milk composition and adipose tissue. J. Anim. Sci. 32:79–83.
- Myres, A. W., and J. P. Bowland. 1972. Effects of high levels of dietary copper on endogenous lipid metabolism in the pig. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 52:113-124.
- Peo, E. R., Jr., G. C. Ashton, V. C. Speer, and D. V. Catron. 1957. Protein and fat requirements of baby pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 16:885-891.
- Riis, P. M., and R. H. Grummer. 1969. The relationship between glucose and fatty acid metabolism in pigs under various feeding conditions. Acta Agric. Scand. 19:11-17.

- Scherer, C. W., V. W. Hays, and G. L. Cromwell. 1972. Effects of dietary fat level on performance of early weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 35:223. (Abstr.)
- Sewell, R. F., and I. L. Miller. 1966. Fatty acid composition of testicular tissue from EFA-deficient swine. J. Nutr. 88:171-175.
- Sharma, V. D., and L. G. Young. 1970. The energy cost of protein and fat deposition in young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 31:210. (Abstr.)
- Swiss, L. D., W. E. Carlson, and H. S. Bayley. 1971. Influence of level of free fatty acid in dietary fat on fatty acid uptake by piglets. Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 30:236. (Abstr.)
- Waterman, R., D. R. Romsos, E. R. Miller, and G. A. Leveille. 1973. Effects of low levels of supplemental tallow in the finishing rations of meat-type pigs. Feedstuffs 45(45):33-34.
- Witter, R. C., and J. A. F. Rook. 1970. The influence of the amount and nature of dietary fat on milk fat composition in the sow. Br. J. Nutr. 24:749-760.

PROTEIN-AMINO ACIDS

- Allee, G. L., and D. H. Baker. 1970. Limiting nitrogenous factors in corn protein for adult female swine. J. Anim. Sci. 30:748– 752.
- Ashton, G. C., J. Kastelic, D. C. Aker, A. H. Jensen, H. M. Maddock, E. A. Kline, and D. V. Catron. 1955. Different protein levels with and without antibiotics for growingfinishing swine: Effect on carcass leanness. J. Anim. Sci. 14:82-93.
- Aunan, W. J., L. E. Hanson, and R. J. Meade. 1961. Influence of level of dietary protein on liveweight gains and carcass characteristics of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 20:148–153.
- Baker, D. H., C. E. Jordan, W. P. Waitt, and D. W. Gouwens. 1967. Effect of a combination of diethylstilbestrol and methyltestosterone, sex and dietary protein level on performance and carcass characteristics of finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 26:1067-1071.
- Baker, D. H., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, and B. G. Harmon. 1969. Lysine imbalance of corn protein in the growing pig. J. Anim. Sci. 28:23-26.
- Baker, D. H., D. E. Becker, H. W. Norton, C. E. Sasse, A. H. Jensen, and B. G. Harmon. 1969. Reproductive performance and progeny development in swine as influenced by feed intake during pregnancy. J. Nutr. 97:489-495.
- Baker, D. H., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, and B. G. Harmon. 1970. Protein source and level for pregnant gilts: A comparison of corn, opaque-2 corn and corn-soybean meal diets. J. Anim. Sci. 30:364-367.
- Baker, D. H., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, and B. G. Harmon. 1970. Reproductive performance and progeny development in swine as influenced by protein restriction during various portions of gestation. J. Anim. Sci. 31:526–530.
- Baker, D. H., B. A. Molitoris, A. H. Jensen, and B. G. Harmon. 1974. Sequence of protein feeding and value of alfalfa meal and fishmeal for pregnant gilts and sows. J. Anim. Sci. 38:325-329.
- Becker, D. E., J. W. Lassiter, S. W. Terrill, and H. W. Norton. 1954. Levels of protein in practical rations for the pig. J. Anim. Sci. 13:611-621.
- Becker, D. E., D. E. Ullrey, and S. W. Terrill. 1954. Protein and amino acid intakes for optimum growth rate in the young pig. J. Anim. Sci. 13:346-355.
- Berry, T. H., D. E. Becker, O. G. Rasmussen, A. H Jensen, and H. W. Norton. 1962. The limiting amino acids in soybean protein. J. Anim. Sci. 21:558-561.

- Bidner, T. D., R. A. Merkel, E. R. Miller, D. E. Ullrey, J. A. Hoefer. 1972. Effects of diethylstilbestrol plus methyltestosterone and dietary protein level on swine performance and composition. J. Anim. Sci. 34:397-402.
- Chung, A. S., and R. M. Beames. 1974. Lysine, threonine, methionine and isoleucine supplementation of Peace River barley for growing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 54:429-436.
- Clawson, A. J. 1967. Influence of protein level, amino acid ratio and caloric density on feed intake and performance of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 26:328-334.
- Clawson, A. J., E. R. Barrick, and W. W. G. Smart, Jr. 1963. Response of pigs to graded levels of soybean meal and added lysine in ten percent protein rations. J. Anim. Sci. 22:1027-1032.
- Clawson, A. J., H. L. Richards, G. Matrone, and E. R. Barrick. 1963. Influence of level of total nutrient and protein intake on reproduction performance in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 22:662-668.
- Cromwell, G. L., R. A. Pickett, and W. M. Beeson. 1967. Nutritional value of opaque-2 corn for swine. J. Anim. Sci. 26:1325-1331.
- Eckert, T. E., and G. L. Allee. 1974. Limiting amino acids in milo for the growing pig. J. Anim. Sci. 39:694-698.
- Elsley, F. W. H., D. M. Anderson, I. McDonald, R. M. Mac-Pherson, and R. Smart. 1966. A comparison of the live-weight changes, nitrogen retention and carcass composition of pregnant and nonpregnant gilts. Anim. Prod. 8:391-400.
- Frobish, L. T., V. C. Speer, and V. W. Hays. 1966. Effect of protein and energy intake on reproductive performance in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 25:729-733.
- Greenhalgh, J. F. D., F. W. H. Elsley, D. A. Grubb, A. L. Lightfoot, D. W. Saul, P. Smith, N. Walker, D. Williams, and M. L. Yeo. 1977. Coordinated trials on the protein requirements of sows. 1. A comparison of four levels of dietary protein in gestation and two in lactation. Anim. Prod. 24:307-321.
- Harmon, B. G., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, and D. H. Baker. 1969. Nutrient composition of corn and soybean meal. J. Anim. Sci. 28:459-464.
- Hawton, J. D., and R. J. Meade. 1971. Influence of quantity and quality of protein fed the gravid female on reproductive performance and development of offspring in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 32:88-95.
- Henry, Y., R. Pion, and A. Rerat. 1976. Protein supply for pigs and possibilities of reducing protein feeding standards. World Rev. Anim. Prod. XII 9-32.
- Hesby, J. H., J. H. Conrad, M. P. Plumlee, and T. G. Martin. 1970. Opaque-2 corn, normal corn and corn-soybean meal gestation diets for swine reproduction. J. Anim. Sci. 31:474– 480.
- Hesby, J. H., J. H. Conrad, M. P. Plumlee, and R. B. Harrington. 1972. Effects of normal corn, normal corn plus lysine and opaque-2 corn diets on serum protein and reproductive performance of gravid swine. J. Anim. Sci. 34:974-978.
- Holden, P. J., E. W. Lucas, V. C. Speer, and V. W. Hays. 1968. Effect of protein level during pregnancy and lactation on reproductive performance. J. Anim. Sci. 27:1587-1590.
- Jensen, A. H., D. C. Acker, H. M. Maddock, G. C. Ashton, P. G. Homeyer, E. O. Heady, and D. V. Catron. 1955. Different protein levels with and without antibiotics for growingfinishing swine. Effect on growth rate and feed efficiency. J. Anim. Sci. 14:69-81.
- Jensen, A. H., D. E. Becker, H. W. Norton, and S. W. Terrill. 1957. Protein requirements of pigs weaned at two weeks of age. J. Anim. Sci. 16:389-395.
- Kennedy, J. J., F. X. Aherne, D. L. Kelleher, and P. J. Caffrey.

1974. An evaluation of the nutritive value of meat and bone meal. 2. Effects of protein, ash and available lysine content on pig performance and nitrogen retention. Ir. J. Agric. Res. 13:11-19.

- Kornegay, E. T., and H. R. Thomas. 1974. Evaluation of protein levels and milk products for pig starter diets. J. Anim. Sci. 39:527-535.
- Kornegay, E. T., H. R. Thomas, and J. H. Carter. 1973 Evaluation of dietary protein levels for well-muscled hogs. J. Anim. Sci. 36:79-85.
- Kornegay, E. T., J. T. Hedges, K. E. Webb, H. R. Thomas, D. H. Baker, G. R. Carlisle, B. G. Harmon, and A. H. Jensen. 1975. Protein and amino acid evaluation of commercially grown opaque-2 corn. J. Anim. Sci. 41:1546-1554.
- Kropf, D. H., R. W. Bray, P. H. Phillips, and R. H. Grummer. 1959. Effect of protein level and quality in swine rations upon growth and carcass development. J. Anim. Sci. 18:755-762.
- Lassiter, J. W., S. W. Terrill, D. E. Becker, and H. W. Norton. 1955. Protein levels for pigs as studied by growth and selfselection. J. Anim. Sci. 14:482-491.
- Lassiter, J. W., S. W. Terrill, D. E. Becker, and H. W. Norton. 1956. Protein levels for pigs as studied by nitrogen balance. J. Anim. Sci. 15:392-399.
- Luce, W. G., R. K. Johnson, and L. E. Walters. 1976. Effects of levels of crude protein on performance of growing boars. J. Anim. Sci. 42:1207-1210.
- MacPherson, R. M., F. W. H. Elsley, and R. I. Smart. 1969. Influence of dietary protein intake during lactation on the reproductive performance of sows. Anim. Prod. 11:443-451.
- Mahan, D. C., and L. T. Mangan. 1975. Evaluation of various protein sequences on the nutritional carry-over from gestation to lactation with first-litter sows. J Nutr. 105:1291-1298.
- Mahan, D. C., D. E. Becker, and A. H. Jensen. 1971. Effect of protein levels and opaque-2 corn on nitrogen metabolism in the sow and litter during the first and second lactation periods. J. Anim. Sci. 32:476-481.
- Meade, R. J., L. D. Vermedahl, J. W. Rust, and D. F. Wass. 1969. Effects of protein content of the diet of the young pig on rate and efficiency of gain during early development and subsequent to 23.5 kg, and carcass characteristics and composition of lean tissue. J. Anim. Sci. 28:473-477.
- Miller, G. M., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, B. G. Harmon, and H. W. Norton. 1969. Effect of protein intake on nitrogen retention by swine during late pregnancy. J. Anim. Sci. 28:204-207.
- O'Grady, J. F. 1971. Level and source of protein in the diets of lactating sows. Ir. J. Agric. Res. 10:17-29.
- Pike, I. H., and T. G. Boaz. 1969. The effect on the reproductive performance of sows of dietary protein concentration and pattern of feeding in pregnancy. J. Agric. Sci. 73:301-309.
- Pond, W. G., W. C. Wagner, J. A. Dunn, and E. F. Walker, Jr. 1968. Reproduction and early postnatal growth of progeny in swine fed a protein-free diet. J. Nutr. 94:309-316.
- Pond, W. G., D. N. Strachan, Y. N. Sinha, E. F. Walker, Jr., J. A. Dunn, and R. H. Barnes. 1969. Effect of protein deprivation of swine during all or part of gestation on birth weight, postnatal growth and nucleic acid content of brain and muscle of progeny. J. Nutr. 99:61-67.
- Puchal, F., V. W. Hays, V. C. Speer, J. D. Jones, and D. V. Catron. 1962. The free blood plasma amino acids of swine as related to the source of dietary proteins. J. Nutr. 76:11-16.
- Rippel, R. H. 1967. Protein and amino acid nutrition of gravid swine. J. Anim. Sci. 26:526-532.
- Rippel, R. H., B. G. Harmon, A. H. Jensen, H. W. Norton, and D. E. Becker. 1965. Response of the gravid gilt to levels of

protein as determined by nitrogen balance. J. Anim. Sci. 24:209-215.

- Rippel, R. H., O. G. Rasmussen, A. H. Jensen, H. W. Norton, and D. E. Becker. 1965. Effect of level and source of protein on reproductive performance of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 24:203– 208.
- Salmon-Legagneur, E. 1962. Effet chronologique d'une modification du niveau alimentaire chez la truie gestante. Ann. Zootech. 11:173-180.
- Sarwar, G., and J. P. Bowland. 1976. Protein quality evaluation of low glucosinolate-low erucic acid rapeseed meal and unprocessed faba beans in young pigs. J. Nutr. 106:350-361.
- Seymour, E. W., V. C. Speer, V. W. Hays, D. W. Mangold, and T. E. Hazen. 1964. Effects of dietary protein level and environmental temperature on performance and carcass quality of growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 23:375-379.
- Shimada, A., and T. R. Cline. 1974. Limiting amino acids of triticale for the growing rat and pig. J. Anim. Sci. 38:941-946.
- Smith, J., Jr., A. J. Clawson, and E. R. Barrick. 1967. Effect of ratio of protein from corn and soybean meal in diets of varying total protein on performance, carcass desirability and diet digestibility in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 26:752-758.
- Speer, V. C., E. L. Lasley, G. C. Ashton, L. N. Hazel, and D. V. Catron. 1957. Protein levels for growing boars on pasture and concrete drylot. J. Anim. Sci. 16:607-611.
- Stockland, W. L., R. J. Meade, and J. W. Nordstrom. 1970. Meat and bone meals as sources of amino acids for growing swine: Use of a reference diet to predict amino acid adequacy by plasma levels. J. Anim. Sci. 31:1142-1155.
- Wagner, G. R., A. J. Clark, V. W. Hays, and V. C. Speer. 1963. Effect of protein-energy relationships on the performance and carcass quality of growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 22:202-208.
- Wahlstrom, R. C., and G. W. Libal. 1975. Varying levels of high-protein oats in diets for growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 41:809-812.
- Williams, K. C., and R. M. Beames. 1974. The effect of protein content of wheat grain on its nutritive value in pig diets. Aust. J. Exp. Anim. Husb. 41:286-291.
- Wyllie, D., V. C. Speer, R. C. Ewan, and V. W. Hays. 1969. Effects of starter protein level on performance and body composition of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 29:433–438.

LYSINE AND SULFUR AMINO ACIDS

- Abernathy, R. P., R. F. Sewell, and R. L. Tarpley. 1958. Interrelationships of protein, lysine and energy in diets of growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 17:635–639.
- Allee, G. L., and R. M. Trotter. 1974. Sulfur amino acid requirement of the finishing pig. J. Anim. Sci. 39:974. (Abstr.)
- Baker, D. H., D. E. Becker, H. W. Norton, A. H. Jensen, and B. G. Harmon. 1966. Quantitative evaluation of the tryptophan, methionine, and lysine needs of adult swine for maintenance. J. Nutr. 89:441-447.
- Baker, D. H., W. W. Clausing, B. G. Harmon, A. H. Jensen, and D. E. Becker. 1969. Replacement value of cystine for methionine for the young pig. J. Anim. Sci. 29:581-584.
- Baker, D. H., R. S. Katz, and R. A. Easter. 1975. Lysine requirement of growing pigs at two levels of dietary protein. J. Anim. Sci. 40:851-856.
- Becker, D. E., A. H. Jensen, S. W. Terrill, and H. W. Norton. 1955. The methionine-cystine need of the young pig. J. Anim. Sci. 14:1086-1094.
- Bell, J. M., H. H. Williams, J. K. Loosli, and L. A. Maynard.

1950. The effect of methionine supplementation of a soybean oil meal-purified ration for growing pigs. J. Nutr. 40:551-561.

- Boomgaardt, J., D. H. Baker, A. H. Jensen, and B. G. Harmon. 1972. Effect of dietary lysine levels on 21-day lactation performance of first-litter sows. J. Anim. Sci. 34:408-410.
- Braude, R., and M. A. Esnaola. 1973. Methionine and cystine requirements of growing pigs. Br. J. Nutr. 30:437-445.
- Brown, H. W., B. C. Harmon, and A. H. Jensen. 1973. The lysine requirement of the finishing pig for maximum rate of gain and feed efficiency. J. Anim. Sci. 37:708-712.
- Brown, H. W., B. G. Harmon, and A. H. Jensen. 1974. Total sulfur-containing amino acids, isoleucine and tryptophan requirements of the finishing pig for maximum nitrogen retention. J. Anim. Sci. 38:59-63.
- Ganguli, M. C., V. C. Speer, R. C. Ewan, and D. R. Zimmerman. 1971. Sulfur amino acid requirement of the lactating sow. J. Anim. Sci. 33:394-400.
- Germann, A. F. O., II, E. T. Mertz, and W. M. Beeson. 1958. Revaluation of the l-lysine requirement of weanling pig. J. Anim. Sci. 17:52-56.
- Holden, P. J., V. C. Speer, and R. C. Ewan. 1971. Sulfur amino acid requirement of the pregnant gilt. J. Anim. Sci. 32:900– 904.
- Katz, R. S., D. H. Baker, C. E. Sasse, A. H. Jensen, and B. G. Harmon. 1973. Efficacy of supplemental lysine, methionine and rolled oats for weanling pigs fed a low-protein cormsoybean meal diet. J. Anim. Sci. 37:1165-1168.
- Klein, R. G., W. M. Beeson, T. R. Cline, and E. T. Mertz. 1972. Lysine availability of *opaque-2* corn for rats. J. Anim. Sci. 35:551-555.
- Kroening, G. H., W. G. Pond, and J. K. Loosli. 1965. Dietary methionine-cystine requirement of the baby pig as affected by threonine and protein levels. J. Anim. Sci. 24:519-525.
- Lewis, A. J., and V. C. Speer. 1973. Lysine requirement of the lactating sow. J. Anim. Sci. 37:104-110.
- McWard, G. W., D. E. Becker, H. W. Norton, S. W. Terrill, and A. H. Jensen. 1959. The lysine requirement of weanling swine at two levels of dietary protein. J. Anim. Sci. 18:1059-1066.
- Meade, R. J. 1956. The influence of tryptophan, methionine and lysine supplementation of a corn-soybean oil meal diet on nitrogen balance of growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 15:288-295.
- Meade, R. J., W. R. Dukelow, and R. S. Grant. 1966. Lysine and methionine additions to corn-soybean meal diets for growing swine: Effects on rate and efficiency of gain and carcass characteristics. J. Anim. Sci. 25:78-82.
- Mitchell, J. R., Jr., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, H. W. Norton, and B. G. Harmon. 1965. Caloric density of the diet and the lysine need of growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 24:977-980.
- Mitchell, J. R., Jr., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, H. W. Norton, and B. G. Harmon. 1965. Lysine need of swine at two stages of development. J. Anim. Sci. 24:409-412.
- Nielsen, H. E., V. W. Hays, V. C. Speer, and D. V. Catron. 1963. Lysine supplementation of corn- and barley-base diets for growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 22:454-457.
- Oestemer, G. A., R. J. Meade, W. L. Stockland, and L. E. Hanson. 1970. Methionine supplementation of *opaque-2* corn for growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 31:1133-1136.
- Reimer, D., R. J. Meade, and R. S. Grant. 1964. Barley rations for swine. III. Lysine and methionine supplementation: Effects on rate and efficiency of gain, and on carcass characteristics. J. Anim. Sci. 23:404-408.
- Shelton, D. C., W. M. Beeson, and E. T. Mertz. 1951. The effects of methionine and cystine on the growth of weanling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 10:57-64.

- Shelton, D. C., W. M. Beeson, and E. T. Mertz. 1951. Quantitative L-lysine requirement of the weanling pig. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 30:1-5.
- Thomas, H. R., and E. T. Kornegay. 1972. Lysine supplementation of high lysine corn and normal corn-peanut meal diets for growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 34:587-591.
- Trotter, R. M., and G. L. Allee. 1974. Sulfur amino acid requirement of the growing pig. J. Anim. Sci. 39:984. (Abstr.)
- Wahlstrom, R. C., and G. W. Libal. 1974. Gain, feed efficiency, and carcass characteristics of swine fed supplemental lysine and methionine in corn-soybean meal diets during the growing and finishing periods. J. Anim. Sci. 38:1261-1266.
- Woerman, R. L., and V. C. Speer. 1976. Lysine requirement for reproduction in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 42:114–120.

OTHER AMINO ACIDS

- Baker, D. H., and G. L. Allee. 1970. Effect of dietary carbohydrate on assessment of the leucine need for maintenance of adult swine. J. Nutr. 100:277-280.
- Baker, D. H., D. E. Becker, H. W. Norton, A. H. Jensen, and B. G. Harmon. 1966. Quantitative evaluation of the threonine, isoleucine, valine and phenylalanine needs of adult swine for maintenance. J. Nutr. 88:391-396.
- Baker, D. H., D. E. Becker, H. W. Norton, A. H. Jensen, and B. G. Harmon. 1966. Some qualitative amino acid needs of adult swine for maintenance. J. Nutr. 88:382-390.
- Baker, D. H., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, and B. G. Harmon. 1970. Reproductive performance and progeny development as influenced by nutrition during pregnancy and lactation. Proc. Ill. Pork Ind. Day. Rep. AS-655e.
- Baker, D. H., N. K. Allen, J. Boomgaardt, G. Graber, and H. W. Norton. 1971. Quantitative aspects of D- and L-tryptophan utilization by the young pig. J. Anim. Sci. 33:42-46.
- Becker, D. E., R. A. Notzold, A. H. Jensen, S. W. Terrill, and H. W. Norton. 1955. The tryptophan requirement of the young pig. J. Anim. Sci. 14:664-673.
- Becker, D. E., A. H. Jensen, S. W. Terrill, I. D. Smith, and H. W. Norton. 1957. The isoleucine requirement of weanling swine fed two protein levels. J. Anim. Sci. 16:26-33.
- Becker, D. E., I. D. Smith, S. W. Terrill, A. H. Jensen, and H. W. Norton. 1963. Isoleucine need of swine at two stages of development. J. Anim. Sci. 22:1093-1096.
- Beeson, W. M., H. D. Jackson, and E. T. Mertz. 1953. Quantitative threonine requirement of the weanling pig. J. Anim. Sci. 12:870-875.
- Boomgaardt, J., and D. H. Baker. 1973. Tryptophan requirement of growing pigs at three levels of dietary protein. J. Anim. Sci. 36:303-306.
- Bravo, F. O., R. J. Meade, W. L. Stockland, and J. W. Nordstrom. 1970. Re-evaluation of the isoleucine requirement of the growing pig—Plasma free isoleucine as a response criterion. J. Anim. Sci. 31:1137-1141.
- Easter, R. A., R. S. Katz, and D. H. Baker. 1974. Arginine: A dispensable amino acid for postpubertal growth and pregnancy of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 39:1123-1128.
- Easter, R. A., D. H. Baker, and A. H. Jensen. 1976. Gestationlactation protein regimens for first-litter gilts. J. Anim. Sci. 43:166. (Abstr.)
- Easter, R. A., and D. H. Baker. 1977. Nitrogen metabolism, muscle carnosine concentration and blood chemistry of gravid swine fed graded levels of histidine. J. Nutr. 107:120-125.
- Easter, R. A., and D. H. Baker. 1977. Nitrogen metabolism of gravid gilts fed purified diets deficient in either leucine or tryptophan. J. Anim. Sci. 44:417-421.

- Eggert, R. G., H. H. Williams, B. E. Sheffy, E. G. Sprague, J. K. Loosli, and L. A. Maynard. 1954. The quantitative leucine requirement of the suckling pig. J. Nutr. 53:177-185.
- Haught, D. G., and V. C. Speer. 1977. Isoleucine requirement of the lactating sow. J. Anim. Sci. 44:595-600.
- Jackson, H. D., E. T. Mertz, and W. M. Beeson. 1953. Quantitative value requirement of the weanling pig. J. Nutr. 51:109-116.
- Lewis, A. J., and V. C. Speer. 1974. Tryptophan requirement of the lactating sow. J. Anim. Sci. 38:778-784.
- Lewis, A. J., and V. C. Speer. 1975. Threonine requirement of the lactating sow. J. Anim. Sci. 40:892-899.
- Mertz, E. T., J. N. Henson, and W. M. Beeson. 1954. Quantitative phenylalanine requirement of the weanling pig. J. Anim. Sci. 13:927-932.
- Mertz, E. T., D. C. DeLong, D. M. Thrasher, and W. M. Beeson. 1955. Histidine and leucine requirements of the weanling pig. J. Anim. Sci. 14:1217. (Abstr.)
- Mitchell, J. R., Jr., D. E. Becker, B. G. Harmon, W. H. Norton, and A. H. Jensen. 1968. Some amino acid needs of the young pig fed a semisynthetic diet. J. Anim. Sci. 27:1322-1326.
- Mitchell, J. R., Jr., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, B. G. Harmon, and H. W. Norton. 1968. Determination of amino acid needs of the young pig by nitrogen balance and plasma free amino acids. J. Anim. Sci. 27:1327-1331.
- Recheigl, M., Jr., J. K. Loosli, D. J. Horvath, and H. H. Williams. 1956. Histidine requirement of baby pigs. J. Nutr. 60:619-629.
- Robbins, K. R., and D. H. Baker. 1977. Phenylalanine requirement of the weanling pig and its relationship to tyrosine. J. Anim. Sci. 45:113-118.
- Sewell, R. F., J. K. Loosli, L. A. Maynard, H. H. Williams, and B. E. Sheffy. 1952. The quantitative threonine requirement of the suckling pig. J. Nutr. 49:435-441.
- Speer, V. C. 1975. Amino acid requirements for the lactating sow. Feedstuffs 47(27):21-22.

MINERALS

Calcium and Phosphorus

- Bayley, H. S., and R. G. Thomson. 1969. Phosphorus requirements of growing pigs and effect of steam pelleting on phosphorus availability. J. Anim. Sci. 28:484-491.
- Bayley, H. S., D. Arthur, G. H. Bowman, J. Pos, and R. G. Thomson. 1975. Influence of dietary phosphorus level on growth and bone development in boars and gilts. J. Anim. Sci. 40:864-870.
- Bayley, H. S., J. Pos, and R. G. Thomson. 1975. Influence of steam pelleting and dietary calcium level on the utilization of phosphorus by the pig. J. Anim. Sci. 40:857-863.
- Blair, R., and D. Benzie. 1964. The effect of level of dietary calcium and phosphorus on skeletal development in the young pig to 25 lb. liveweight. Br. J. Nutr. 18:91-101.
- Blair, R., J. R. B. Diack, and R. M. MacPherson. 1963. Bone development in suckled pigs. Br. J. Nutr. 17:19-29.
- Buescher, R. G., M. C. Bell, and R. K. Berry. 1961. The effect of excessive calcium on selenium-75 in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 20:368-372.
- Chapman, H. L., Jr., J. Kastelic, G. C. Ashton, and D. V. Catron. 1955. A comparison of phosphorus from different sources for growing and finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 14:1073-1084.
- Chapman, H. L., Jr., J. Kastelic, G. C. Ashton, P. G. Homeyer, C. Y. Roberts, D. V. Catron, V. W. Hays, and V. C. Speer.

1962. Calcium and phosphorus requirements for growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 21:112-117.

- Coalson, J. A., C. V. Maxwell, J. C. Hillier, R. D. Washam, and E. C. Nelson. 1972. Calcium and phosphorus requirements of young pigs reared under controlled environmental conditions. J. Anim. Sci. 35:1194-1200.
- Coalson, J. A., C. V. Maxwell, J. C. Hillier, and E. C. Nelson. 1974. Calcium requirement of the cesarean derived colostrum-free pig from 3 through 9 weeks of age. J. Anim. Sci. 38:772-777.
- Combs, G. E., and H. D. Wallace. 1962. Growth and digestibility studies with young pigs fed various levels and sources of calcium. J. Anim. Sci. 21:734-737.
- Combs, G. E., J. M. Vandepopuliere, H. D. Wallace, and M. Koger. 1962. Phosphorus requirement of young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 21:3-8.
- Combs, G. E., T. H. Berry, H. D. Wallace, and R. C. Crum, Jr. 1966. Levels and sources of vitamin D for pigs fed diets containing varying quantities of calcium. J. Anim. Sci. 25:827-830.
- Cromwell, G. L., V. W. Hays, C. H. Chaney, and J. R. Overfield. 1970. Effects of dietary phosphorus and calcium level on performance, bone mineralization and carcass characteristics of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 30:519-525.
- Cromwell, G. L., V. W. Hays, C. W. Scherer, and J. R. Overfield. 1972. Efects of dietary calcium and phosphorus on performance and carcass, metacarpal and turbinate characteristics of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 34:746-751.
- Fammatre, C. A., D. C. Mahan, A. W. Fetter, A. P. Grifo, Jr., and J. K. Judy. 1977. Effects of dietary protein, calcium and phosphorus levels for growing and finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 44:65-71.
- Greaser, M. L., R. G. Cassens, W. G. Hoekstra, E. J. Briskey, G. R. Schmidt, S. D. Carr, and D. E. Galloway. 1969. Calcium accumulating ability and compositional differences between sarcoplasmic reticulum fractions from normal and pale, soft, exudative porcine muscle. J. Anim. Sci. 28: 589-591.
- Hansard, S. L., W. A. Lyke, and H. M. Crowder. 1961. Absorption, excretion and utilization of calcium by swine. J. Anim. Sci. 20:292-296.
- Harmon, B. G., C. T. Liu, S. G. Cornelius, J. E. Pettigrew, D. H. Baker, and A. H. Jensen. 1974. Efficacy of different phosphorus supplements for sows during gestation and lactation. J. Anim. Sci. 39:1117-1122.
- Harmon, B. G., C. T. Liu, A. H. Jensen, and D. H. Baker. 1975. Phosphorus requirements of sows during gestation and lactation. J. Anim. Sci. 40:660-664.
- Hays, V. W. 1976. Phosphorus in swine nutrition. National Feed Ingredients Assoc. (Publisher), One Corporate Place, Suite 360, West Des Moines, Iowa 50265.
- Itoh, H., S. L. Hansard, J. C. Glenn, F. H. Hoskins, and D. M. Thrasher. 1967. Placental transfer of calcium in pregnant sows on normal and limited-calcium rations. J. Anim. Sci. 26:335– 340.
- Kornegay, E. T., H. R. Thomas, and T. N. Meacham. 1973. Evaluation of dietary calcium and phosphorus for reproducing sows housed in total confinement on concrete or in dirt lots. J. Anim. Sci. 37:493-500.
- Libal, G. W., E. R. Peo, Jr., R. P. Andrews, and P. E. Vipperman, Jr. 1969. Levels of calcium and phosphorus for growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 28:331-335.
- Liptrap, D. O., E. R. Miller, D. E. Ullrey, K. K. Keahey, and J. A. Hoefer. 1970. Calcium level for developing boars and gilts. J. Anim. Sci. 31:540-548.
- Lloyd, L. E., E. W. Crampton, and D. N. Mowat. 1961. Effect of

calcium:phosphorus ratio, oleandomycin and protein level on the performance of early-weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 20:176– 179.

- Logomarsino, J. V., W. G. Pond, L. Krook, and D. Kirkland. 1974. Effect of dietary calcium-phosphorus and nasal irritation on turbinate morphology and performance in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 39:544-549.
- Menahan, L. A., P. A. Knapp, W. G. Pond, and J. R. Jones. 1963. Response of early-weaned pigs to variations in dietary calcium level with and without lactose. J. Anim. Sci. 22:501-505.
- Miller, E. R., D. E. Ullrey, C. L. Zutaut, B. V. Baltzer, D. A. Schmidt, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1962. Calcium requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 77:7-16.
- Miller, E. R., D. E. Ullrey, C. L. Zutaut, B. V. Baltzer, D. A. Schmidt, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1964. Phosphorus requirements of the baby pigs. J. Nutr. 82:34-39.
- Miller, E. R., D. E. Ullrey, C. L. Zutaut, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1964. Mineral balance studies with the baby pig: Effects of dietary phosphorus upon calcium and phosphorus balance. J. Nutr. 82:111-114.
- Miller, E. R., D. E. Ullrey, C. L. Zutaut, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1965. Comparisons of casein and soy proteins upon mineral balance and vitamin D₂ requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 85:347-353.
- Miller, E. R., D. E. Ullrey, C. L. Zutaut, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1965. Mineral balance studies with the baby pig: Effects of dietary magnesium level upon calcium, phosphorus, and magnesium balance. J. Nutr. 86:209-212.
- Miller, E. R., D. E. Ullrey, C. L. Zutaut, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1965. Mineral balance studies with the baby pig: Effects of dietary vitamin D₁ level upon calcium, phosphorus, and magnesium balance. J. Nutr. 85:255-258.
- Moore, J. H., and C. Tyler. 1955. Studies on the intestinal absorption and excretion of calcium and phosphorus in the pig. 1. A critical study of the Bergeim Technique for investigating the intestinal absorption and excretion of calcium and phosphorus. Br. J. Nutr. 9:63-80.
- Moore, J. H., and C. Tyler. 1955. Studies on the intestinal absorption and excretion of calcium and phosphorus in the pig. 2. The intestinal absorption and excretion of radioactive calcium and phosphorus. Br. J. Nutr. 9:81-93.
- Morgan, D. P., E. P. Young, I. P. Earle, R. J. Davey, and J. W. Stevenson. 1969. Effects of dietary calcium and zinc on calcium, phosphorus and zinc retention in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 29:900-905.
- Mudd, A. J., W. C. Smith, and D. G. Armstrong. 1969. The influence of dietary concentration of calcium and phosphorus on their retention in the body of growing pigs. J. Agric. Sci. (Camb.) 73:189-195.
- Newman, C. W., D. M. Thrasher, S. L. Hansard, A. M. Mullins, and R. F. Boulware. 1967. Effects of tallow in swine rations on utilization of calcium and phosphorus. J. Anim. Sci. 26:479-484.
- Peo, E. R., Jr. 1976. Calcium in swine nutrition. National Feed Ingredient Assoc. (Publisher), One Corporate Place, Suite 360, West Des Moines, Iowa 50265.
- Plumlee, M. P., C. E. Jordan, M. H. Kennington, and W. M. Beeson. 1958. Availability of the phosphorus from various phosphate materials for swine. J. Anim. Sci. 17:73-88.
- Pond, W. G., E. G. Walker, Jr., and D. Kirkland. 1975. Weight gain, feed utilization and bone and liver mineral composition of pigs fed high or normal Ca-P diets from weaning to slaughter weight. J. Anim. Sci. 41:1053-1056.

Rutledge, E. A., L. E. Hanson, and R. J. Meade. 1961. A study of

the calcium requirements of pigs weaned at three weeks of age. J. Anim. Sci. 20:243-245.

- Stockland, W. L., and L. G. Blaylock. 1973. Influence of dietary calcium and phosphorus levels on the performance and bone characteristics of growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 37: 906-912.
- Taylor, T. G. 1965. The availability of the calcium and phosphorus of plant materials for animals. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 24:105-112.
- Vipperman, P. E., Jr., E. R. Peo, Jr., and P. J. Cunningham. 1974. Effect of dietary calcium and phosphorus level upon calcium, phosphorus and nitrogen balance in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 38:758-765.
- Whiting, F., and L. M. Bezeau. 1958. The calcium, phosphorus and zinc balance in pigs as influenced by the weight of pig and the level of calcium, zinc and vitamin D in the ration. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 38:109-117.
- Zimmerman, D. R., V. C. Speer, V. W. Hays, and D. V. Catron. 1963. Effect of calcium and phosphorus levels on baby pig performance. J. Anim. Sci. 22:658-661.

Sodium and Chlorine

- Bohstedt, G., and R. H. Grummer. 1954. Salt poisoning of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 13:933-939.
- Hagsten, I., and T. W. Perry. 1976. Evaluation of dietary salt levels for swine. I. Effect on gain, water consumption and efficiency of feed conversion. J. Anim. Sci. 42:1187-1190.
- Hagsten, I., and T. W. Perry. 1976. Evaluation of dietary salt levels for swine. II. Effect on blood and excretory patterns. J. Anim. Sci. 42:1191-1195.
- Hagsten, I., T. R. Cline, T. W. Perry, and M. P. Plumlee. 1976. Salt supplementation of corn-soy diets for swine. J. Anim. Sci. 42:12-15.
- Meyer, J. H., R. H. Grummer, P. H. Phillips, and G. Bohstedt. 1950. Sodium, chlorine, and potassium requirements of growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 9:300-306.
- Smith, D. L. T. 1975. Sodium salt poisoning. In H. W. Dunne and A. D. Leman (eds.), Diseases of swine. Iowa State University Press, Ames.

Potassium

- Coulter, D. B., and M. J. Swenson. 1970. Effects of potassium intoxication on porcine electrocardiograms. Am. J. Vet. Res. 31:2001-2011.
- Cox, J. L., D. E. Becker, and A. H. Jensen. 1966. Electrocardiographic evaluation of potassium deficiency in young swine. J. Anim. Sci. 25:203-206.
- Hagsten, I., and T. W. Perry. 1976. Evaluation of dietary salt levels for swine. II. Effect on blood and excretory patterns. J. Anim. Sci. 42:1191-1195.
- Hughes, E. H., and N. R. Ittner. 1942. The potassium requirement of growing pigs. J. Agric. Res. 64:189–192.
- Jensen, A. H., S. W. Terrill, and D. E. Becker. 1961. Response of the young pig to levels of dietary potassium. J. Anim. Sci. 20:464-467.
- Liebholz, J. M., J. T. McCall, V. W. Hays, and V. C. Speer. 1966. Potassium, protein and basic amino acid relationships in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 25:37-43.
- Manners, M. J., and M. R. McCrea. 1964. Estimates of the mineral requirements of 2-day weaned piglets derived from data on mineral retention by sow-reared piglets. Ann. Zootech. 13:29-38.

- McCance, R. A., and E. M. Widdowson. 1958. The response of the newborn piglet to an excess of potassium. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 141:88-96.
- Meyer, J. H., R. H. Grummer, P. H. Phillips, and G. Bohstedt. 1950. Sodium, chlorine and potassium requirements of growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 9:300-306.
- Mraz, F. R., A. M. Johnson, and H. Patrick. 1958. Metabolism of cesium and potassium in swine as indicated by cesium-134 and potassium-42. J. Nutr. 64:541-548.
- Nesheim, M. C., R. M. Leach, Jr., T. R. Zeigler, and J. A. Serafin. 1964. Interrelationships between dietary levels of sodium, chlorine and potassium. J. Nutr. 84:361-366.

Magnesium

- Bartley, J. C., E. F. Reber, J. W. Yusken, and H. W. Norton. 1961. Magnesium balance study in pigs three to five weeks of age. J. Anim. Sci. 20:137-141.
- Krider, J. L., J. L. Albright, M. P. Plumlee, J. H. Conrad, C. L. Sinclair, L. Underwood, R. G. Jones, and R. B. Harrington. 1975. Magnesium supplementation, space and docking effects on swine performance and behavior. J. Anim. Sci. 40:1027– 1033.
- Mayo, R. H., M. P. Plumlee, and W. M. Beeson. 1959. Magnesium requirement of the pig. J. Anim. Sci. 18:264-273.
- McCance, R. A., and E. M. Widdowson. 1944. Magnesium requirement of the pig. Nature (Lond.) 153:650.
- Miller, E. R., D. E. Ullrey, C. L. Zutaut, B. V. Baltzer, D. A. Schmidt, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1965. Magnesium requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 85:13-20.
- Miller, E. R., D. E. Ullrey, C. L. Zutaut, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1965. Mineral balance studies with the baby pig: Effects of dietary magnesium level upon calcium, phosphorus and magnesium balance. J. Nutr. 86:209-212.
- Svajgr, A. J., E. R. Peo, Jr., and P. E. Vipperman, Jr. 1969. Effects of dietary levels of manganese and magnesium on performance of growing-finishing swine raised in confinement and on pasture. J. Anim. Sci. 29:439-443.

Iron

- Ammerman, C. B., J. F. Standish, C. E. Holt, R. H. Houser, S. M. Miller, and G. E. Combs. 1974. Ferrous carbonates as sources of iron for weanling pigs and rats. J. Anim. Sci. 38:52-58.
- Arpi, T., and G. Tollerz. 1965. Iron poisoning in piglets: Autopsy findings in spontaneous and experimental cases. Acta Vet. Scand. 6:360-373.
- Barber, R. S., R. Braude, and K. C. Mitchell. 1955. Studies on anemia in pigs. 1. The provision of iron by intramuscular injection. Vet. Rec. 67:348-349.
- Behrens, H. 1957. Pigs poisoned by iron injection. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 132:169-170.
- Blandford, T. B., and G. A. Lodge. 1966. Acute hepatic necrosis following an iron dextran injection. Vet. Rec. 78:117.
- Brag, S. 1958. Iron poisoning in piglets. Proc. 8th Nordic Vet. Congress, Helsinki, pp. 98–102.
- Braude, R., A. G. Chamberlain, M. Kotarbinska, and K. G. Mitchell. 1962. The metabolism of iron in piglets given labelled iron either orally or by injection. Br. J. Nutr. 16:427-449.
- Campbell, E. A. 1961. Iron poisoning in the young pig. Austr. Vet. J. 37:78-83.

- Chaney, C. H., and C. E. Barnhart. 1963. Effect of iron supplementation of sow rations on the prevention of baby pig anemia. J. Nutr. 81:187-192.
- Furugouri, K. 1972. Effect of elevated dietary levels of iron on iron store in liver, some blood constituents and phosphorus deficiency in young swine. J. Anim. Sci. 34:573-577.
- Furugouri, K., and A. Kawabata. 1975. Iron absorption in nursing piglets. J. Anim. Sci. 41:1348-1354.
- Furugouri, K., and A. Kawabata. 1976. Iron absorption by neonatal pig intestine in vivo. J. Anim. Sci. 42:1460-1464.
- Groppel, B., M. Anke, G. Dittrich, M. Grun, and A. Hennig. 1974. Absorption and distribution of the ⁵⁹Fe from Fe-tartrate of baby pigs, pp. 664–667. In Trace element metabolism in animals—2. University Park Press, Baltimore.
- Gutte, J. O., H. Vemmer, and K. Heise. 1967. Der Einfluss von Auslauf und Erde auf Wachstum und Hamoglobingehalt des Blutes von Saugferkeln. Z. Tierphysiol. Tierernah. Futtermittelkd. 22:160-173.
- Hamilton, T. S., G. E. Hunt, H. H. Mitchell, and W. E. Carroll. 1930. The production and cure of anemia in suckling pigs. J. Agric. Res. 40:927-938.
- Hansard, S. L., F. H. Hoskins, N. Alford, D. M. Thrasher, and J. V. Love, 1964. Nutritional anemia in nursing pigs. Feedstuffs 36(31):54-55.
- Harmon, B. G., D. E. Becker, and A. H. Jensen. 1967. Efficacy of ferric ammonium citrate in preventing anemia in young swine. J. Anim. Sci. 26:1051-1058.
- Harmon, B. G., D. E. Hoge, A. H. Jensen, and D. H. Baker. 1969. Efficacy of ferrous carbonate as a hematinic for young swine. J. Anim. Sci. 29:706-710.
- Harmon, B. G., S. G. Cornelius, J. Totsch, D. H. Baker, and A. H. Jensen. 1974. Oral iron dextran and iron from steel slats as hematinics for swine. J. Anim. Sci. 39:699-702.
- Hart, E. G., C. A. Elvehjem, H. Steenbock, A. R. Kemmerer, G. Bohstedt, and J. M. Fargo. 1929. A study of the anemia of young pigs and its prevention. J. Nutr. 2:277-294.
- Hitchcock, J. P., P. K. Ku, and E. R. Miller. 1974. Factors influencing iron utilization by the baby pig. In Trace element metabolism in animals—2, pp. 598-600. University Park Press, Baltimore.
- Hoskins, F. H., and S. L. Hansard. 1964. Placental transfer of iron as a function of gestation age. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 116:7-11.
- Kernkamp, H. C. H., A. J. Clawson, and R. H. Ferneyhough. 1962. Preventing iron-deficiency anemia in baby pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 21:527-532.
- Kirchgessner, M., and J. Pallauf. 1973. Zum Einfluss Zusatzlicher Eisengaben an Muttersauen ante partum als Anamieprophylaxe bei saugferkeln. Zuechtungskunde 45:245.
- Kornegay, E. T. 1972. Availability of iron contained in defluorinated phosphate. J. Anim. Sci. 34:569-572.
- Lannek, N., P. Lindberg, and G. Tollerz. 1962. Lowered resistance to iron in vitamin E-deficient piglets and mice. Nature 195:1006-1007.
- Linkenheimer, W. H., E. L. Patterson, R. A. Milstrey, J. A. Brockman, and D. E. Johnson. 1960. Preparation and biological testing of a parenteral iron preparation. J. Anim. Sci. 19:763-768.
- Maner, J. H., W. G. Pond, and R. S. Lowrey. 1959. Effect of method and level of iron administration on growth, hemoglobin and hematocrit of suckling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 18:1373-1377.
- Manners, M. J., and M. R. McCrea. 1964. Estimates of the mineral requirements of 2-day weaned piglets derived from

data on mineral retention by sow-reared piglets. Ann. Zootech. 13:29-38.

- Matrone, G. E., E. L. Thomason, and C. R. Bunn. 1960. Requirement and utilization of iron by the baby pig. J. Nutr. 72:459-465.
- McDonald, F. F., D. Dunlop, and C. M. Bates. 1955. An effective treatment for anemia of piglets. Br. Vet. J. 111:403-407.
- Nilsson, P. O. 1960. Acute iron poisoning with myocardial degeneration in piglets. Nord. Veterinaermed. 12:113-119.
- O'Donovan, P. B., R. A. Pickett, M. P. Plumlee, and M. W. Beeson. 1963. Iron toxicity in the young pig. J. Anim. Sci. 22:1075-1080.
- Osborne, J. C., and J. W. Davis. 1968. Increased susceptability to bacterial endotoxin of pigs with iron-deficiency anemia. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 152:1630-1632.
- Patterson, D. S. P., W. M. Allen, D. C. Thurley, and J. T. Done. 1967. The role of tissue peroxidation in iron-induced myodegeneration of piglets. Biochem. J. 104:2P-3P.
- Patterson, D. S. P., W. M. Allen, S. Berrett, D. Sweasy, D. C. Thurley, and J. T. Done. 1969. A biochemical study of the pathogenesis of iron-induced myodegeneration of piglets. Zentralbl. Veterinaermed. 16:199-214.
- Patterson, D. S. P., W. M. Allen, S. Berrett, D. Sweasy, and J. T. Done. 1971. The toxicity of parenteral iron preparations in the rabbit and pig with a comparison of the clinical and biochemical responses to iron-dextrose in 2 days old and 8 days old piglets. Zentralbl. Veterinaermed. 18:453–464.
- Pickett, R. A., M. P. Plumlee, W. H. Smith, and W. M. Beeson. 1960. Oral iron requirement of the early-weaned pig. J. Anim. Sci. 19:1284. (Abstr.)
- Pond, W. G., R. S. Lowrey, J. H. Maner, and J. K. Loosli. 1961. Parenteral iron administration to sows during gestation or lactation. J. Anim. Sci. 20:747-750.
- Rydberg, M. E., H. L. Self, T. Kowalczyk, and R. H. Grummer. 1959. The effectiveness of three different methods of iron administration to young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 18:415-419.
- Spruill, D. G., V. W. Hays, and G. L. Cromwell. 1971. Effects of dietary protein and iron on reproduction and iron related blood constituents in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 33:376-384.
- Thoren-Tolling, K. 1975. Studies on the absorption of iron after oral administration in piglets. Acta Vet. Scand. Suppl. 54:1-121.
- Ullrey, D. E., E. R. Miller, D. R. West, D. A. Schmidt, R. W. Seerley, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1959. Oral and parenteral administration of iron in the prevention and treatment of baby pig anemia. J. Anim. Sci. 18:256-263.
- Ullrey, D. E., E. R. Miller, O. A. Thompson, I. M. Ackermann, D. A. Schmidt, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1960. The requirement of the baby pig for orally administered iron. J. Nutr. 70:187-192.
- Venn, J. A. J., R. A. McCance, and E. M. Widdowson. 1947. Iron metabolism in piglet anemia. J. Comp. Pathol. Therap. 57:314-325.
- Veum, T. L., J. T. Gallo, W. G. Pond, L. D. Van Vleck, and J. K. Loosli. 1965. Effect of ferrous fumarate in the lactation diet on sow milk iron, pig hemoglobin and weight gain. J. Anim. Sci. 24:1169-1173.
- Wahlstrom, R. C., and E. W. Juhl. 1960. A comparison of different methods of iron administration on rate of gain and hemoglobin level of the baby pig. J. Anim. Sci. 19:183-188.
- Windels, H. F., R. J. Meade, and M. Dammann. 1966. Injectable iron as a preventive for nutritional anemia in the young pig. Minn. Agric. Exp. Stn. Tech. Bull. 250:1-24.
- Zimmerman, D. R., V. C. Speer, V. W. Hays, and D. V. Catron. 1959. Injectable iron dextran and several oral iron treatments

for the prevention of iron deficiency anemia of baby pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 18:1409-1414.

Zinc

- Babatunde, G. M. 1972. Optimum levels of zinc in the diets of pigs in the tropics as influenced by the addition of graded levels of lard. J. Sci. Food Agric. 23:113-120.
- Babatunde, G. M., and B. L. Fetuga. 1972. Zinc storage in the tissues and organs of pigs fed graded levels of zinc in the tropics. Anim. Prod. 15:21-28.
- Bellis, D. B., and J. M. Philp. 1957. Effect of zinc, calcium and phosphorus on the skin and growth of pigs. J. Sci. Food Agric. 8:119.
- Berry, R. K., M. C. Bell, R. B. Grainger, and R. G. Buescher. 1961. Influence of dietary calcium and zinc on calcium-45, phosphorus-32, and zinc-65 metabolism. J. Anim. Sci. 20:433-439.
- Bremner, I. 1976. The relationship between the Zn status of pigs and the occurrence of Cu and Zn binding proteins in liver. Br. J. Nutr. 35:245-252.
- Brink, M. F., D. E. Becker, S. W. Terrill, and A. H. Jensen. 1959. Zinc toxicity in the weanling pig. J. Anim. Sci. 18:836– 842.
- Dahmer, E. J., B. W. Coleman, R. H. Grummer, and W. G. Hoekstra. 1972. Alleviation of parakeratosis in zinc deficient swine by high levels of dietary histidine. J. Anim. Sci. 35:1181-1189.
- Dahmer, E. J., R. H. Grummer, and W. G. Hoekstra. 1972. Prevention of zinc deficiency in swine by feeding blood meal. J. Anim. Sci. 35:1176-1180.
- Earle, I. P., and J. W. Stevenson. 1965. Relation of dietary zinc to composition of sow colostrum and milk. J. Anim. Sci. 24:325-328.
- Forbes, R. M. 1960. Nutritional interactions in zinc and calcium. Fed. Proc. 19:643-647.
- Hansard, S. L., and H. Itoh. 1968. Influence of limited dietary calcium upon zinc absorption, placental transfer and utilization by swine. J. Nutr. 95:23-30.
- Hedges, J. D., E. T. Kornegay, and H. R. Thomas. 1976. Comparison of dietary zinc levels for reproducing sows and the effect of dietary zinc and calcium on the subsequent performance of their progeny. J. Anim. Sci. 43:453-463.
- Heigener, H., A. Michna, H. Neumann, H. Behrens, and K. Hamann. 1958. Einfluss Differenzierter Zinkgaben bei unterschiedlichen Ca/P Verhaltnis auf die Entwicklung wachsender Schweine. Landwirtsch. Forsch. 11:185-201.
- Hennig, A. 1965. Untersuchunger uber den Einfluss einer Erganzung der mutterlichen Ration mit Ca und Zn auf die Zusammensetzung der Ferkel und der Sauenmilch. 1-5. Arch. Tierernachr. 15:331-383.
- Hennig, A., J. Martin, M. Anke, and D. Schuler. 1969. Die Parakeratose des Schweines. 4. Mitteilung: Methylthiouracil als Parakeratosenoxe. Arch. Exp. Veterinaermed. 23:911–920.
- Hoefer, J. A., E. R. Miller, D. E. Ullrey, H. D. Ritchie, and R. W. Luecke. 1960. Interrelationships between calcium, zinc, iron and copper in swine feding. J. Anim. Sci. 19:249-259.
- Hoekstra, W. G. 1970. The complexity of dietary factors affecting zinc nutrition and metabolism in chicks and swine. In C. F. Mills (ed.), Trace element metabolism in animals, pp. 347– 353. E. & S. Livingstone, Edinburgh.
- Hoekstra, W. G., P. K. Lewis, P. H. Phillips, and R. H. Grummer. 1956. The relationship of parakeratosis, supplemental calcium and zinc to the zinc content of certain body components of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 15:752-764.

- serum alkaline phosphatase. J. Anim. Sci. 26:1348-1357. Hsu, F. S., L. Krook, W. G. Pond, and J. R. Duncan. 1975. Interactions of dietary calcium with toxic levels of lead and zinc in pigs. J. Nutr. 105:112-118.
- Jeter, D. L., J. H. Conrad, M. P. Plumlee, and W. M. Beeson. 1960. Effect of organic and inorganic sources of unidentified growth factors on the growing pig. J. Anim. Sci. 19:226-237.
- Kernkamp, H. C. H., and E. F. Ferrin. 1953. Parakeratosis in swine. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 123:217-220.
- Kirchgessner, M., and E. Grassman. 1970. The dynamics of copper absorption. In C. F. Mills (ed.), Trace element metabolism in animals, pp. 277-287. E. & S. Livingstone, Edinburgh.
- Kirchgessner, M., W. Oelschlager, and W. Munz. 1960. Der Einfluss einer Chlortetracyclinzulage auf die Retention verschiedener Mengen-und Spurenelemente be: Washsenden Schweinen. Z. Tierphysiol. Tierernaehr. Futtermittelkd. 15:321–331.
- Kirsch, W., A. Wild, M. Fender, and D. Fewson. 1960. Untersuchungen zum Problem der Parakeratose beim Schwein. Z. Tierphysiol. Tierernaehr. Futtermittelkd. 15:29–40.
- Ku, P. K., D. E. Ullrey, and E. R. Miller. 1970. Zinc deficiency and tissue nucleic acid and protein concentration. In C. F. Mills (ed.), Trace element metabolism in animals, pp. 158– 164. E. & S. Livingstone, Edinburgh.
- Lewis, P. K., Jr., W. G. Hoekstra, R. H. Grummer, and P. H. Phillips. 1956. The effects of certain nutritional factors including calcium, phosphorus and zinc on parakeratosis. J. Anim. Sci. 15:741-751.
- Lewis, P. K., Jr., R. H. Grummer, and W. G. Hoekstra. 1957. The effect of method of feeding upon the susceptibility of the pig to parakeratosis. J. Anim. Sci. 16:927-936.
- Lewis, P. K., Jr., W. G. Hoekstra, and R. H. Grummer. 1957. Restricted calcium feeding versus zinc supplementation for the control of parakeratosis in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 16:578– 588.
- Liptrap, D. O., E. R. Miller, D. E. Ullrey, D. L. Whitenack, B. L. Schoepke, and R. W. Luecke. 1970. Sex influence on the zinc requirement of developing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 30:736-741.
- Luecke, R. W., J. A. Hoefer, W. S. Brammell, and F. Thorp, Jr. 1956. Mineral interrelationships in parakeratosis in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 15:347-351.
- Luecke, R. W., J. A. Hoefer, W. S. Brammell, and D. A. Schmidt. 1957. Calcium and zinc in parakeratosis of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 16:3-11.
- Miller, E. R., R. W. Luecke, D. E. Ullrey, B. V. Baltzer, B. L. Bradley, and J. A. Hoefer. 1968. Biochemical, skeletal and allometric changes due to zinc deficiency in the baby pig. J. Nutr. 95:278-286.
- Miller, E. R., D. O. Liptrap, and D. E. Ullrey. 1970. Sex influence on zinc requirement of swine. In C. F. Mills (ed.), Trace element metabolism in animals, pp. 377-379. E. & S. Livingstone, Edinburgh.
- Morgan, D. P., E. P. Young, I. P. Earle, R. J. Davey, and J. W. Stevenson. 1969. Effects of dietary calcium and zinc on calcium, phosphorus and zinc retention in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 29:900-905.
- Neseni, R., B. Piatkowski, and H. Steger. 1958. Utersuchungen uber die Parakeratose beim Schwein. Arch. Tierernahr. 8:285-295.
- Newland, H. W., D. E. Ullrey, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke.

1958. The relationship of dietary calcium to zinc metabolism in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 17:886-892.

- Norrdin, R. W., L. Krook. W. G. Pond, and E. F. Walker. 1973. Experimental zinc deficiency in weanling pigs on high and low calcium diets. Cornell Vet. 63:264-290.
- Oberleas, D., M. E. Muhrer, and B. L. O'Dell. 1962. Effects of phytic acid on zinc availability and parakeratosis in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 21:57-61.
- O'Hara, P. J., A. P. Newman, and R. Jackson. 1960. Parakeratosis and copper poisoning in pigs fed a copper suplement. Austr. Vet. J. 36:225-229.
- Owen, A. A., E. R. Peo, Jr., P. J. Cunningham, and B. D. Moser. 1973. Effect of EDTA on utilization of dietary zinc by G-F swine. J. Anim. Sci. 37:470–478.
- Pekas, J. C. 1966. Zinc 65 metabolism: Gastrointestinal secretion by the pig. Am. J. Physiol. 211:407–413.
- Pekas, J. C. 1968. Zinc-65 metabolism: Effect of continuous infusion of high levels of stable zinc in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 27: 1559-1566.
- Pekas, J. C. 1971. Pancreatic incorporation of ⁶⁵Zn and histidine—¹⁴C into secreted proteins of the pig. Am. J. Physiol. 220:799–803.
- Pond, W. G., and J. R. Jones. 1964. Effect of level of zinc in high calcium diets on pigs from weaning through one reproductive cycle and on subsequent growth of their offspring. J. Anim. Sci. 23:1057–1060.
- Pond, W. G., J. R. Jones, and G. H. Kroening. 1964. Effect of level of dietary zinc and source and level of corn on performance and incidence of parakeratosis in weanling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 23:16-20.
- Pond, W. G., P. Chapman, and E. Walker. 1966. Influence of dietary zinc, corn oil and cadmium on certain blood components, weight gain and parakeratosis in young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 25:122-127.
- Prasad, A. S., D. Oberleas, P. Wolf, J. P. Horwitz, E. R. Miller, and R. W. Luecke. 1969. Changes in trace elements and enzyme activities in tissues of zinc-deficient pigs. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 22:628-637.
- Prasad, A. S., D. Oberleas, E. R. Miller, and R. W. Luecke. 1971. Biochemical effects of zinc deficiency: Changes in activities of zinc-dependent enzymes and ribonucleic acid and deoxyribonucleic acid content of tissues. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 77:144– 152.
- Ritchie, H. D., R. W. Luecke, B. V. Baltzer, E. R. Miller, D. E. Ullrey, and J. A. Hoefer. 1963. Copper and zinc interrelationships in the pig. J. Nutr. 79:117-123.
- Shanklin, S. H., E. R. Miller, D. E. Ullrey, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1968. Zinc requirement of baby pigs on casein diets. J. Nutr. 96:101-108.
- Smith, I. D., R. H. Grummer, W. G. Hoekstra, and P. H. Phillips. 1960. Effects of feeding an autoclaved diet on the development of parakeratosis in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 19:568–579.
- Smith, W. H., M. P. Plumlee, and W. M. Beeson. 1958. Zinc requirement for growing swine. Science 128:1280-1281.
- Smith, W. H., M. P. Plumlee, and W. M. Beeson. 1961. Zinc requirement of the growing pig fed isolated soybean semipurified rations. J. Anim. Sci. 20:128-132.
- Smith, W. H., M. P. Plumlee, and W. M. Beeson. 1962. Effect of source of protein on zinc requirement of the growing pig. J. Anim. Sci. 21:399-405.
- Stevenson, J. W., and I. P. Earle. 1956. Studies on parakeratosis in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 15:1036-1045.
- Tucker, H. F., and W. D. Salmon. 1955. Parakeratosis or zinc deficiency disease in the pig. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 88:613-616.

Whiting, F., and L. M. Bezeau. 1958. The calcium, phosphorus and zinc balance in pigs as influenced by the weight of the pig and the level of calcium, zinc and vitamin D in the ration. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 38:109-117.

Manganese

- Gamble, C. T., S. L. Hansard, B. R. Moss, D. J. Davis, and E. R. Lidvall. 1971. Manganese utilization and placental transfer in the gravid gilt. J. Anim. Sci. 32:84-95.
- Grummer, R. H., O. G. Bentley, P. H. Phillips, and G. Bohstedt. 1950. The role of manganese in growth, reproduction and lactation of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 9:170-175.
- Johnson, S. R. 1944. Studies with swine on low manganese rations of natural foodstuffs. J. Anim. Sci. 3:136-142.
- Kayongo-Male, H., D. E. Ullrey, and E. R. Miller. 1975. The Mn requirement of the baby pig from sows fed a low Mn diet. East Afr. Agric. For. J. 41(2):157–164.
- Leibholz, J. M., V. C. Speer, and V. W. Hays. 1962. Effect of dietary manganese on baby pig performance and tissue manganese levels. J. Anim. Sci. 21:772-776.
- Matrone, C., R. H. Hartman, and A. J. Clawson. 1959. Studies of a manganese-iron antagonism in the nutrition of rabbits and baby pigs. J. Nutr. 67:309–317.
- Newland, H. W., and G. K. Davis. 1961. Placental transfer of manganese in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 20:15-17.
- Omole, T. A., and J. P. Bowland. 1974. Copper, iron and manganese supplementation of pig diets containing either soybean meal or low glucosinolate rapeseed meal. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 54:481-493.
- Plumlee, M. P., D. M. Thrasher, W. M. Beeson, F. N. Andrews, and H. E. Parker. 1956. The effects of a manganese deficiency upon the growth, development and reproduction of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 15:352-367.
- Svajgr, A. J., E. R. Peo, Jr., and P. E. Vipperman, Jr. 1969. Effects of dietary levels of manganese and magnesium on performance of growing-finishing swine raised in confinement and on pasture. J. Anim. Sci. 29:439-443.

Copper

- Carter, J. H., Jr., R. F. Miller, and C. C. Brooks. 1959. The effect of copper and calcium levels on the performance of growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 18:1502. (Abstr.)
- Chang, I. C., D. C. Milholland, and G. Matrone. 1976. Controlling factors in the development of ceruloplasmin in pigs during the neonatal growth period. J. Nutr. 106:1343–1350.
- Hedges, J. D., and E. T. Kornegay. 1973. Interrelationship of dietary copper and iron as measured by blood parameters, tissue stores and feedlot performance of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 37:1147-1154.
- Okonkwo, A. C., E. R. Miller, P. S. Brady, P. K. Ku, and D. E. Ullrey. 1975. Copper requirement of baby pigs on purified diets. J. Anim. Sci. 41:324. (Abstr.)
- Suttle, N. F., and C. F. Mills. 1966. Studies of toxicity of copper to pigs. I. Effects of oral supplements of zinc and iron salts on the development of copper toxicosis. Br. J. Nutr. 20:135-148.
- Suttle, N. F., and C. F. Mills. 1966. Studies of toxicity of copper to pigs. II. Effect of protein source and other dietary components on the response to high and moderate intakes of copper. Br. J. Nutr. 20:149-161.
- Teague, H. S., and L. E. Carpenter. 1951. The demonstration of copper deficiency in young growing pigs. J. Nutr. 43:389-399.
- Ullrey, D. E., E. R. Miller, O. A. Thompson, C. L. Zutaut, D. A. Schmidt, H. D. Ritchie, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1960.

Studies of copper utilization by the baby pig. J. Anim. Sci. 19:1298. (Abstr.)

lodine

- Andrews, F. N., C. L. Shrewsbury, C. Harper, C. M. Vestal, and L. P. Doyle. 1948. Iodine deficiency in newborn sheep and swine. J. Anim. Sci. 7:298-310.
- Arrington, L. R., R. N. Taylor, Jr., C. B. Ammerman, and R. L. Shirley. 1965. Effects of excess dietary iodine upon rabbits, hamsters, rats and swine. J. Nutr. 87:394-398.
- Braude, R., and E. Cotchin. 1949. Thiourea and methylthiouracil as supplements in rations of fattening pigs. Br. J. Nutr. 3:171– 186.
- Cromwell, G. L., D. T. H. Sihombing, and V. W. Hays. 1975. Effects of iodine level on performance and thyroid traits of growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 41:813-818.
- Frape, D. L., J. W. Gage, Jr., V. W. Hays, V. C. Speer, and D. V. Catron. 1958. Studies on the iodine requirement and thyroid function of young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 17:1225. (Abstr.)
- Hart, E. B., and H. Steenbock. 1918. Hairless pigs: The cause and remedy. Wis. Agric. Exp. Stn. Bull. 297:1-11.
- Kalkus, J. W. 1920. A study of goiter and associated conditions in domestic animals. Wash. Agric. Exp. Stn. Bull. 156:1–48.
- Kuhajek, E. J., and G. F. Andelfinger. 1970. A new source of iodine for salt blocks. J. Anim. Sci. 31:51-58.
- Newton, G. L., and A. J. Clawson. 1974. Iodine toxicity: Physiological effects of elevated dietary iodine on pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 39:879-884.
- Sihombing, D. T. H., G. L. Cromwell, and V. W. Hays. 1974. Effects of protein source, goitrogens and iodine level on performance and thyroid status of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 39:1106-1112.
- Slatter, E. E. 1955. Mild iodine deficiency and losses of newborn pigs. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 127:149–152.
- Weiser, S., and A. Zaitschek. 1932. Studies on iodine tolerance of pigs. Biedermann's Zentralbl. Abt. B: Tierernaebr. 4:476.
- Welch, H. 1928. Goiter in farm animals. Mont. Agric. Exp. Stn. Bull. 214:1-27.

Selenium

- Diehl, J. S., D. C. Mahan, and A. L. Moxon. 1975. Effects of single intramuscular injections of selenium at various levels to young swine. J. Anim. Sci. 40:844-850.
- Doornenbal, H. 1975. Tissue selenium content of the growing pig. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 55:325–330.
- Ewan, R. C. 1971. Effect of vitamin E and selenium on tissue composition of young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 32:883-887.
- Ewan, R. C., M. E. Wastell, E. J. Bicknell, and V. C. Speer. 1969. Performance and deficiency symptoms of young pigs fed diets low in vitamin E and selenium. J. Anim. Sci. 9:912-915.
- Fontaine, M., and V. E. O. Valli. 1977. Studies on vitamin E and selenium deficiency in young pigs. II. The hydrogen peroxide hemolysis test and the measure of red cell lipid peroxides as indices of vitamin E and selenium status. Can. J. Comp. Med. 41:52-56.
- Fontaine, M., V. E. O. Valli, and L. G. Young. 1977. Studies on vitamin E and selenium deficiency in young pigs. III. Effect on kinetics of erythrocyte production and destruction. Can J. Comp. Med. 41:57-63.
- Fontaine, M., V. E. O. Valli, and L. G. Young. 1977. Studies on

vitamin E and selenium deficiency in young pigs. IV. Effect on coagulation system. Can. J. Comp. Med. 41:64-76.

- Fontaine, M., V. E. O. Valli, L. G. Young, and J. H. Lumsden. 1977. Studies on vitamin E and selenium deficiency in young pigs. I. Hematological and biochemical changes. Can. J. Comp. Med. 41:41-51.
- Grant, C. A., B. Thafvelin, and R. Christell. 1961. Retention of selenium by pig tissues. Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. 18:285-297.
- Groce, A. W., E. R. Miller, K. K. Keahey, D. E. Ullrey, and D. J. Ellis. 1971. Selenium supplementation of practical diets for growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 32:905-911.
- Groce, A. W., E. R. Miller, J. P. Hitchcock, D. E. Ullrey, and W. T. Magee. 1973. Selenium balance in the pig as affected by selenium source and vitamin E. J. Anim. Sci. 37:942-947.
- Groce, A. W., E. R. Miller, D. E. Ullrey, P. K. Ku, K. K. Keahey, and D. J. Ellis. 1973. Selenium requirements in corn-soy diets for growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 37:948-956.
- Herigstad, R. R., C. K. Whitehair, and O. E. Olson. 1973. Inorganic and organic selenium toxicosis in young swine: Comparison of pathologic changes with those in swine with vitamin E-selenium deficiency. Am. J. Vet. Res. 34:1227-1238.
- Ku, P. K., W. T. Ely, A. W. Groce, and D. E. Ullrey. 1972. Natural dietary selenium, a-tocopherol and effect on tissue selenium. J. Anim. Sci. 37:501-505.
- Lindberg, P., and N. Lannek. 1965. Retention of selenium in kidneys, liver and striated muscle after prolonged feeding of therapeutic amounts of sodium selenite to pigs. Acta. Vet. Scand. 6:217-223.
- Lindberg, P., and M. Siren. 1963. Selenium concentration in kidneys of normal pigs and pigs affected with nutritional muscular dystrophy and liver dystrophy (hepatosis diatetica). Life Sci. 2:326-330.
- Lindberg, P., and M. Siren. 1965. Fluorometric selenium determinations in the liver of normal pigs and in pigs affected with nutritional muscular dystrophy and liver dystrophy. Acta Vet. Scand. 6:59-64.
- Mahan, D. C., J. E. Jones, J. H. Cline, R. F. Cross, H. S. Teague, and A. P. Grifo, Jr. 1973. Efficacy of selenium and vitamin E injections in the prevention of white muscle disease in young swine. J. Anim. Sci. 36:1104-1108.
- Mahan, D. C., L. H. Penhale, J. H. Cline, A. L. Moxon, A. W. Fetter, and J. T. Yarrington. 1974. Efficacy of supplemental selenium in reproductive diets on sow and progeny performance. J. Anim. Sci. 39:536-543.
- Mahan, D. C., A. L. Moxon, and J. H. Cline. 1975. Efficacy of supplemental selenium in reproductive diets on sow and progeny serum and tissue selenium values. J. Anim. Sci. 40:624-631.
- Michel, R. L., C. K. Whitehair, and K. K. Keahey. 1969. Dietary hepatic necrosis associated with selenium-vitamin E deficiency in swine. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 155:50-59.
- Miller, W. T. 1938. Toxicity of selenium fed to swine in the form of sodium selenite. J. Agric. Res. 56:831-842.
- Miller, W. T., and K. T. Williams. 1940. Minimum lethal dose of selenium, as sodium selenite, for horses, mules, cattle and swine. J. Agric. Res. 60: 163-173.
- Orstadius, K. 1960. Toxicity at a single subcutaneous dose of sodium selenite in pigs. Nature 188:1117.
- Orstadius, K., B. Wretlind, P. Lindberg, G. Nordstrom, and N. Lannek. 1959. Plasma transaminase and transferase activities in pigs affected with muscular and liver dystrophy. Zentralbl. Veterinaermed. 6:971–980.
- Piper, R. C., J. A. Froseth, C. R. McDowell, G. H. Kroening, and I. A. Dyer. 1975. Selenium-vitamin E deficiency in swine fed peas (*Pisum sativum*). Am. J. Vet. Res. 36:273-281.

- Roth, F. X., and M. Kirchgessner. 1975. Zum Einfluss von Vitamin E-und Selenaulagen aus das Beinschwachesyndrom beim Schwein. Zentralbl. Veterinaermed. 22:854–863.
- Rotruck, J. T., A. L. Pope, H. E. Ganther, A. B. Swanson, D. G. Hafeman, and W. G. Hoekstra. 1973. Selenium: Biochemical role as a component of glutathione peroxidase. Science 179:588.
- Ruth, G. R., and J. F. Van Vleet. 1974. Experimentally induced selenium-vitamin E deficiency in growing swine: Selective destruction of type I skeletal muscle fibers. Amer. J. Vet. Res. 35:237-244.
- Sharp, B. A., L. G. Young, and A. A. van Dreummel. 1972. Dietary induction of mulberry heart disease and hepatosis dietetica in pigs. I. Nutritional aspects. Can. J. Comp. Med. 36:371-376.
- Sharp, B. A., L. G. Young, and A. A. van Dreummel. 1972. Effect of supplemental vitamin E and selenium in high moisture corn diets on the incidence of mulberry heart disease and hepatosis dietetica in pigs. Can. J. Comp. Med. 36:393–397.
- Thompson, R. H., C. H. McMurray, and W. J. Blanchflower. 1976. The levels of selenium and glutathione peroxidase activity in blood of sheep, cows and pigs. Res. Vet. Sci. 20:229-231.
- Trapp, A. L., K. K. Keahey, D. L. Whitenack, and C. K. Whitehair. 1970. Vitamin-E selenium deficiency in swine. Differential diagnosis and nature of field problem. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 157:289-300.
- Ullrey, D. E. 1974. The selenium-deficiency problem in animal agriculture. In W. G. Hoekstra, J. W. Suttie, H. E. Ganther, and W. Mertz (eds.), Trace element metabolism in animals-2, pp. 275-293, University Park Press, Baltimore.
- Van Vleet, J. F., K. B. Meyer, and H. J. Olander. 1973. Control of selenium-vitamin E deficiency in growing swine by parenteral administration of selenium-vitamin E preparations to baby pigs or to pregnant sows and their baby pigs. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 163:452-456.
- Van Vleet, J. F., K. B. Meyer, H. J. Olander, and G. R. Ruth. 1975. Efficacy and safety of selenium-vitamin E injections in newborn pigs to prevent subclinical deficiency in growing swine. Am. J. Vet. Res. 36:387-393.
- Wahlstrom, R. C., L. D. Kamstra, and O. E. Olson. 1955. The effect of arsanilic acid and 3-nitro-4-hydroxyphenylarsonic acid on selenium poisoning in the pig. J. Anim. Sci. 14:105– 110.
- Wilkinson, J. E., M. C. Bell, J. A. Bacon, and F. B. Masincupp. 1977. Effects of supplemental selenium on swine. I. Gestation and lactation. J. Anim. Sci. 44:224-228.
- Wilkinson, J. E., M. C. Bell, J. A. Bacon, and C. C. Melton. 1977. Effects of supplemental selenium on swine. II. Growingfinishing. J. Anim. Sci. 44:229-233.
- Young, L. G., J. H. Lumsden, A. Lun, J. Claxton, and D. E. Edmeades. 1976. Influence of dietary levels of vitamin E and selenium on tissue and blood parameters in pigs. Can. J. Comp. Med. 40:92-97.

Cobalt

- Chung, A. S., W. G. Hoekstra, and R. H. Grummer. 1976. Supplemental cobalt or nickel for zinc deficient GF pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 42:1352. (Abstr.)
- Huck, D. W., and A. J. Clawson. 1976. Cobalt toxicity in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 43:253. (Abstr.)
- Kline, E. A., J. Kastelic, G. C. Ashton, P. G. Homeyer, L. Quinn, and D. V. Catron. 1954. The effect on the growth performance of young pigs of adding cobalt, vitamin B₁₂ and antibiotics to semipurified rations. J. Nutr. 53:543-555.

- Rickes, E. L., N. G. Brink, F. R. Koniuszy, T. R. Wood, and K. Folkers. 1948. Vitamin B₁₂, cobalt complex. Science 108:134.
- Robison, W. L. 1950. Cobalt with a soybean oil meal ration for pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 9:665. (Abstr.)

VITAMINS

Vitamin A

- Anderson, M. D., V. C. Speer, J. T. McCall, and V. W. Hays. 1966. Hypervitaminosis A in the young pig. J. Anim. Sci. 25:1123– 1127.
- Bowland, J. P., R. H. Grummer, P. H. Phillips, and G. Bohstedt. 1949. Effect of lactation and ration on the rat and vitamin A level of sow's milk. J. Dairy Sci. 32:22–28.
- Braude, R., A. S. Foot, K. M. Henry, S. K. Kon, S. Y. Thompson, and T. H. Mead. 1941. Vitamin A studies with rats and pigs. Biochem. J. 35:693-707.
- Frape, D. L., V. C. Speer, V. W. Hays, and D. V. Catron. 1959. The vitamin A requirement of the young pig. J. Nutr. 68:173-187.
- Grummer, R. H., F. J. Giesler, R. E. Hall, B. H. Gunderson, and D. Ankley. 1973. Nitrate-vitamin A relationship in a growingfinishing (GF) swine diet. Wis. Exp. Stn. Res. Rep. R2498.
- Hale, F. 1937. The relation of maternal vitamin A deficiency to microphthalmia in pigs. Tex. State J. Med. 33:228-232.
- Hart, G. H. 1940. Vitamin A deficiency and requirements of farm mammals. Nutr. Abstr. Rev. 10:261.
- Heaney, D. P., D. E. Ullrey, E. R. Miller, and J. A. Hoefer. 1959. Effect of marginal vitamin A intake during gestation in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 18:1494–1495.
- Hentges, J. F., Jr., R. H. Grummer, P. H. Phillips, and G. Bohstedt. 1952. The minimum requirement of young pigs for a purified source of carotene. J. Anim. Sci. 11:266-272.
- Hentges, J. F., Jr., R. H. Grummer, P. H. Phillips, G. Bohstedt, and D. K. Sorensen. 1952. Experimental avitaminosis A in young pigs. J. Amer. Vet. Med. Assoc. 120:213-216.
- Hentges, J. F., Jr., P. H. Phillips, and G. Bohstedt. 1952. A comparison of swine feeds as sources of provitamin A. J. Anim. Sci. 11:721-726.
- Hjarde, W., A. Neimann-Sorensen, B. Palludan, and P. H. Sorensen. 1961. Investigations concerning vitamin A requirement, utilization and deficiency symptoms in pigs. Acta Agric. Scand. 11:13–53.
- Hurt, H. D., R. C. Hall, Jr., M. C. Calhoun, J. E. Rousseau, Jr., H. D. Eaton, R. E. Wolke, and J. J. Lucas. 1966. Chronic hypervitaminosis A in weanling pigs. Conn. Agric. Exp. Stn. Bull. 400.
- Hutagalung, R. I., C. H. Chaney, R. D. Wood, and D. G. Waddill. 1968. Effects of nitrates and nitrites in feed on utilization of carotene in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 27:79–82.
- Nelson, E. C., B. A. Dehority, H. S. Teague, V. L. Sanger, and W. D. Pounden. 1962. Effect of vitamin A on some biochemical and physiological changes in swine. J. Nutr. 76:325-332.
- Nelson, E. C., B. A. Dehority, H. S. Teague, A. P. Grifo, Jr., and V. L. Sanger. 1964. Effect of vitamin A and vitamin A acid on cerebrospinal fluid pressure and blood and liver vitamin A concentrations in the pig. J. Nutr. 82:263-268.
- Parrish, D. B., C. E. Aubel, J. S. Hughes, and J. D. Wheat. 1951. Relative value of vitamin A and carotene for supplying the vitamin A requirements of swine during gestation and beginning lactation. J. Anim. Sci. 10:551-559.
- Ullrey, D. E. 1972. Biological availability of fat-soluble vitamins: vitamin A and carotene. J. Anim. Sci. 35:648-657.
- Wellenreiter, R. H., D. E. Ullrey, E. R. Miller, and W. T. Magee.

1969. Vitamin A activity of corn carotenes for swine. J. Nutr. 99:129-136.

Wolke, R. E., S. W. Nielsen, and J. E. Rousseau. 1968. Bone lesions of hypervitaminosis A in the pig. Am. J. Vet. Res. 29:1009-1024.

Vitamin D

- Bethke, R. M., W. Burroughs, O. H. M. Wilder, B. H. Edgington, and W. L. Robison. 1946. The comparative efficiency of vitamin D from irradiated yeast and cod liver oil for growing pigs, with observations on their vitamin D requirements. Ohio Agric. Exp. Stn. Bull. 667:1-29.
- Bowland, J. P., R. H. Grummer, P. H. Phillips, and G. Bohstedt. 1951. Seasonal variation in the fat, vitamin A and vitamin D content of sow's colostrum and milk. J. Anim. Sci. 10:533-537.
- Combs, G. E., T. H. Berry, H. D. Wallace, and R. C. Crum, Jr. 1966. Influence of supplemental vitamin D on gain, nutrient digestibility and tissue composition of young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 25:48-51.
- Combs, G. E., T. H. Berry, H. D. Wallace, and R. C. Crum, Jr. 1966. Levels and sources of vitamin D for pigs fed diets containing varying quantities of calcium. J. Anim. Sci. 25:827-830.
- Dunlop, G. 1935. The calcium, phosphorus and vitamin D requirement of swine. J. Agric. Sci. 25:22-24.
- Hendricks, D. G., E. R. Miller, D. E. Ullrey, R. D. Struthers, B. V. Baltzer, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1967. β-Carotene vs. retinyl acetate for the baby pig and the effect upon ergocalciferol requirement. J. Nutr. 93:37-43.
- Hendricks. D. G., E. R. Miller, D. E. Ullrey, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1970. Effect of source and level of protein on mineral utilization by the baby pig. J. Nutr. 100:235-240.
- Johnson, D. W., and L. S. Palmer. 1939. Individual and breed variations in pigs on rations devoid of vitamin D. J. Agric. Res. 58:929-939.
- Johnson, D. W., and L. S. Palmer. 1941. Meeting the vitamin D requirement of pigs with alfalfa hay and winter sunshine. J. Agric. Res. 63:639-648.
- Jurgens, M. H., and E. R. Peo, Jr. 1970. Influence of dietary supplements of cholesterol and vitamin D on certain components of the blood and body of growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 30:894-903.
- Jurgens, M. H., E. R. Peo, Jr., P. E. Vipperman, Jr., and R. W. Mandigo. 1970. Influence of dietary supplements of vitamin D₃ and various fats on cholesterol and fatty acid composition of the blood and body of growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 30:904-910.
- Miller, E. R., D. E. Ullrey, C. L. Zutaut, B. V. Baltzer, D. A. Schmidt, B. H. Vincent, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1964. Vitamin D₂ requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 83:140-148.
- Miller, E. R., D. E. Ullrey, C. L. Zutaut, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1965. Comparisons of casein and soy proteins upon mineral balance and vitamin D₂ requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 85:347-354.
- Miller, E. R., D. E. Ullrey, C. L. Zutaut, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1965. Mineral balance studies with the baby pig: Effects of dietary vitamin D₂ level upon calcium, phosphorus and magnesium balance. J. Nutr. 85:255-259.
- Quarterman, J., A. C. Dalgarno, and A. Adams. 1963. The importance of blood as a pool of vitamin D. Biochem. J. 86:1P.
- Quarterman, J., A. C. Dalgarno, A. Adams, B. F. Fell, and R. Boyne. 1964. The distribution of vitamin D between the blood and the liver in the pig, and observations on the pathology of vitamin D toxicity. Br. J. Nutr. 18:65-77.

- Senior, B. J. 1941. The requirements of the pig for vitamin A and D. Sci. Proc. R. Dublin Soc. 22:229-236.
- Senior, B. J. 1941. The vitamin D requirements of the growing pig. Sci. Proc. R. Dublin Soc. 22:379-385.
- Sinclair, R. D. 1929. The influence of ultra-violet rays and vitamin D on the growth of fall-farrowed pigs. Sci. Agric. 9:629-648.
- Steenbock, H., E. B. Hart, and J. H. Jones. 1924. Sunlight and its relation to pork production on certain restricted rations. J. Biol. Chem. 61:775-794.
- Wahlstrom, R. C., and D. E. Stolte. 1958. The effect of supplemental vitamin D in rations for pigs fed in the absence of direct sunlight. J. Anim. Sci. 17:699-705.
- Whiting, F., and L. M. Bezeau. 1958. The calcium, phosphorus and zinc balance in pigs as influenced by the weight of the pig and the level of calcium, zinc and vitamin D in the ration. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 38:109-117.

Vitamin E

- Adamstone, P. B., J. D. Krider, M. F. James, and C. A. Blomquist. 1949. Response of swine to vitamin E deficient rations. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 52:260-268.
- Baustad, B., and I. Nafstad. 1972. Haematological response to vitamin E in piglets. Br. J. Nutr. 28:183-190.
- Bratzler, J. W., J. K. Loosli, V. N. Krukovsky, and L. A. Maynard. 1950. Effect of dietary level of tocopherols on their metabolism in swine. J. Nutr. 42:59–69.
- Carpenter, L. E., and W. D. Lundberg. 1949. Effect of tocopherols on vitality of pigs in relation to "baby pig disease." Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 52:269-275.
- Dannenberg, H. A., G. Fechner, and A. Golibrzuch. 1969. Ergebnisse von & Tocopherolbestimmungen bei Schweinen. Mh. Vet. Med. 24:337-340.
- Davis, C. L., and J. R. Gorham. 1954. The pathology of experimental and natural cases of yellow fat disease in swine. Am. J. Vet. Res. 15:55-59.
- Dodd, D. C., and P E. Newling. 1960. Muscle degeneration and liver necrosis in the pig. Report of a natural outbreak. N.Z. Vet. J. 8:95-98.
- Duncan, W. R. H., G. A. Garton, I. McDonald, and W. Smith. 1960. Observations on tocopherol absorption by pigs. Br. J. Nutr. 14:371-377.
- Eggert, R. G., E. Patterson, W. T. Akers, and H. L. R. Stokstad. 1957. The role of vitamin E and selenium in the nutrition of the pig. J. Anim. Sci. 16:1037. (Abstr.)
- Ellis, R. P., and M. W. Vorhies. 1976. Effect of supplemental dietary vitamin E on the serologic response of swine to an *Escherichia coli* bacterin. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 168:231– 232.
- Forbes, R. M., and H. H. Draper. 1958. Production and study of vitamin E deficiency in the baby pig. J. Nutr. 65:535-545.
- Garton, G. A., W. R. H. Duncan, K. A. Madsen, P. L. Shanks, and I. S. Beattie. 1958. Observations on feeding pigs on a low-fat diet with and without supplementary tocopherol. Br. J. Nutr. 12:97-105.
- Hanson, L. E., and I. L. Hathaway. 1948. The fertility of boars fed a vitamin E deficient ration. J. Anim. Sci. 7:528. (Abstr.)
- Hill, E. G. 1963. Dietary antioxidants in young swine. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 40:360-364.
- Homb, J., A. Lyso, and H. Astrup. 1966–67. Various proteinrich feeds with and without supplementation of vitamin E, in the rations for finishing pigs. Z. Tierphysiol. Tieremaehr. Futtermittelkd. 22:203–209.

- Hove, E. L., and H. R. Siebold. Liver necrosis and altered fat composition in vitamin E-deficient swine. J. Nutr. 56:173-186.
- Hyldgaard-Jensen, J. F. 1973. Some aspects of the use of plasma enzymes in the diagnosis of vitamin E deficiency in pigs. Acta Agric. Scand. Suppl. 19:128-135.
- Lannek, N., P. Lindberg, G. Nilsson, G. Nordstrom, and K. Orstadius. 1961. Production of vitamin E deficiency and muscular dystrophy in pigs. Res. Vet. Sci. 2:67-72.
- Leat, W. M. F. 1961. Studies on pigs reared on diets low in tocopherol and essential fatty acids. Br. J. Nutr. 15:259-270.
- Lindberg, P. 1973. Plasma-tocopherol in pigs. Acta Agric. Scand. Supp. 19:39.
- McDowell, L. R., J. A. Froseth, G. H. Kroening, and W. A. Haller. 1974. Effects of dietary vitamin E and oxidized cottonseed oil on SGOT, erythrocyte hemolysis, testicular fatty acids and testicular selenium in swine fed peas (*Pisum sativum*). Nutr. Rep. Int. 9:359-369.
- Nafstad, I. 1965. Studies of hematology and bone marrow morphology in vitamin E deficient pigs. Pathol. Vet. 2:277-287.
- Nafstad, I. 1973. Some aspects of vitamin E-deficiency in pigs. Acta Agric. Scand. Suppl. 19:31-34.
- Nafstad, I., and P. H. J. Nafstad. 1968. An electron microscopic study of blood and bone marrow in vitamin E-deficient pigs. Pathol. Vet. 5:520-537.
- Nafstad, 1., and S. Tollersrud. 1970. The vitamin E-deficiency syndrome in pigs. I. Pathological changes. Acta Vet. Scand. 11:452-480.
- Reid, I. M., R. H. Barnes, W. G. Pond, and L. Krook. 1968. Methionine responsive liver damage in young pigs fed a diet low in protein and vitamin E. J. Nutr. 95:499-508.
- Robinson, K. L., and W. E. Coey. 1951. A brown discoloration of pig fat and vitamin E deficiency. Nature 168:997-998.
- Swahn, O., and B. Thafvelin. 1962. Vitamin E and some metabolic diseases of pigs. Vit. Horm. 20:645-657.
- Tollersrud, S. 1973. Changes in the enzymatic profile in blood and tissue in pre-clinical and clinical vitamin E-deficiency in pigs. Acta Agric. Scand. Suppl. 19:124-127.
- Tollersrud, S., and I. Nafstad. 1970. The vitamin E-deficiency syndrome in pigs. II. Investigations on serum and tissue enzyme activity. Acta Vet. Scand. 11:495–509.

Vitamin K

- Brooks, C. C., R. M. Nakamura, and A. Y. Miyahara. 1973. Effect of menadione and other factors on sugar-induced heart lesions and hemorrhagic syndrome in the pig. J. Anim. Sci. 37:1344– 1350.
- Fritschen, R. D., O. D. Grace, and E. R. Peo, Jr. 1971. Bleeding pig disease. Nebr. Swine Rep. E. C. 71-219:22-23.
- Muhrer, M. E., R. G. Cooper, C. N. Cornell, and R. D. Thomas. 1970. Diet related hemorrhagic syndrome in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 31:1025. (Abstr.)
- Neufville, M. H., H. D. Wallace, and G. E. Combs. 1973. Vitamin K supplementation of swine diets. J. Anim. Sci. 37:288. (Abstr.)
- Osweiler, G. D. 1970. Porcine hemorrhagic disease. Proc. Pork Producers Day. Iowa State Univ. AS3531.
- Seerley, R. W., O. W. Charles, H. C. McCampbell, and S. P. Bertch. 1976. Efficacy of menadione dimethylpyrimidinol bisulfite as a source of vitamin K in swine diets. J. Anim. Sci. 42:599-607.
- Shendel, H. E., and B. C. Johnson. 1962. Vitamin K deficiency in the baby pig. J. Nutr. 76:124–130.
- Speer, V. C. 1971. Interrelationships of mycotoxins, vitamin E and K in the pig. Proc. Dist. Feed Res. Conf. 26:39-46.

Thiamin

- Ellis, N. R., and L. L. Madsen. 1944. The thiamine requirements of pigs as related to the fat content of the diet. J. Nutr. 27:253-262.
- Hughes, E. H. 1940. The minimum requirements of thiamine for the growing pig. J. Nutr. 20:239-241.
- Miller, E. R., D. A. Schmidt, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1955. The thiamine requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 56:423-430.
- Wintrobe, M. M., M. H. Miller, R. H. Follis, Jr., V. Najjar, and S. Humphreys. 1942. A study of thiamine deficiency in swine. Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp. 71:141-162.

Riboflavin

- Briggs, J. E., and W. M. Beeson. 1951. The supplementary value of riboflavin, calcium pantothenate and niacin in a practical mixed animal and plant protein ration containing B_{12} and aureomycin for weanling pigs in drylot. J. Anim. Sci. 10:813– 819.
- Forbes, R. M., and W. T. Haines. 1952. The riboflavin requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 47:411-424.
- Hughes, E. H. 1939. The role of riboflavin and other factors of the B vitamin complex in the nutrition of the pig. J. Nutr. 17:527-533.
- Hughes, E. H. 1940. The minimum requirement of riboflavin for the growing pig. J. Nutr. 20:233-238.
- Krider, J. L., S. W. Terrill, and R. F. VanPoucke. 1949. Response of weanling pigs to various levels of riboflavin. J. Anim. Sci. 8:121-125.
- Lehrer, W. P., Jr., and A. C. Wiese. 1952. Riboflavin deficiency in baby pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 11:244-250.
- McMillen, W. N., R. W. Luecke, and F. Thorp, Jr. 1949. The effect of liberal B-vitamin supplementation on growth of weanling pigs fed rations containing a variety of feedstuffs. J. Anim. Sci. 8:518-523.
- Miller, C. O. and N. R. Ellis. 1951. The riboflavin requirement of growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 10:807-812.
- Miller, C. O., N. R. Ellis, J. W. Stevenson, and R. Davey. 1953. The riboflavin requirement of swine for reproduction. J. Nutr. 51:163–170.
- Miller, E. R., R. L. Johnston, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1954. The riboflavin requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 52:405– 413.
- Mitchell, H. H., B. C. Johnson, T. S. Hamilton, and W. T. Haines. 1950. The riboflavin requirement of the growing pig at two environmental temperatures. J. Nutr. 41:317-337.
- Robinson, K. L., W. E. Coey, and G. S. Burnett. 1952. Some effects of procaine penicillin and of certain vitamin supplements on food consumption and live weight gain of pigs. J. Sci. Food Agric. 3:448-454.
- Seymour, E. W., V. C. Speer, and V. W. Hays. 1968. Effect of environmental temperature on the riboflavin requirement of young pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 27:389-393.
- Terrill, S. W., C. B. Ammerman, D. E. Walker, R. M. Edwards, H. W. Norton, and D. E. Becker. 1955. Riboflavin studies with pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 14:593-603.
- Wintrobe, M. M., W. Bushke, R. H. Follis, Jr., and S. Humphreys. 1944. Riboflavin deficiency in swine with special reference to the occurrence of cataracts. Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp. 75:102-110.

Niacin

- Dunne, H. W., R. W. Luecke, W. N. McMillen, M. L. Gray, and F. Thorp, Jr. 1949. The pathology of niacin deficiency in swine. Am. J. Vet. Res. 10:351–356.
- Firth, J., and B. C. Johnson. 1956. Quantitative relationships of tryptophan and nicotinic acid in the baby pig. J. Nutr. 59:223-234.
- Harmon, B. G., D. E. Becker, A. H. Jensen, and D. H. Baker. 1970. Nicotinic acid-tryptophan nutrition and immunologic implications in young swine. J. Anim. Sci. 31:339-342.
- Hughes, E. H. 1943. The minimum requirements of nicotinic acid for the growing pig. J. Anim. Sci. 2:23-26.
- Luce, W. G., E. R. Peo, Jr., and D. B. Hudman. 1966. Availability of niacin in wheat for swine. J. Nutr. 88:39-44.
- Luce, W. G., E. R. Peo, Jr., and D. B. Hudman. 1967. Availability of niacin in corn and milo for swine. J. Anim. Sci. 26:76–84.
- Luecke, R. W., W. N. McMillen, F. Thorp, Jr., and C. Tull. 1948. Further studies on the relationship of nicotinic acid, tryptophane and protein in the nutrition of the pig. J. Nutr. 36:417-424.
- Powick, W. C., N. R. Ellis, L. L. Madsen, and C. N. Dale. 1947. Nicotinic acid deficiency and nicotinic acid requirements of young pigs on a purified diet. J. Anim. Sci. 6:310-324.
- Powick, W. C., N. R. Ellis, and C. N. Dale. 1948. Relationship of tryptophan to nicotinic acid in the feeding of growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 7:228-232.
- Yen, J. T., A. H. Jensen, and D. H. Baker. 1977. Assessment of the availability of niacin in corn, soybeans and soybean meal. J. Anim. Sci. 45:269-278.

Pantothenic Acid

- Barnhart, C. E., D. V. Catron, G. C. Ashton, and L. Y. Quinn. 1957. Effects of dietary pantothenic acid levels on the weanling pig. J. Anim. Sci. 16:396-403.
- Catron, D. V., R. W. Bennison, H. M. Maddock, G. C. Ashton, and P. G. Homeyer. 1953. Effects of certain antibiotics and B₁₂ on pantothenic acid requirements of growing-fattening swine. J. Anim. Sci. 12:51-61.
- Davey, R. J., and J. W. Stevenson. 1963. Pantothenic acid requirement of swine for reproduction. J. Anim. Sci. 22:9-13.
- Ellis, N. R., L. L. Madsen, and C. O. Miller. 1943. Pantothenic acid and pyridoxine as factors in the occurrence of locomotor incoordination in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 2:365. (Abstr.)
- Hughes, E. H., and N. R. Ittner. 1942. The minimum requirement of pantothenic acid for the growing pig. J. Anim. Sci. 1:116-119.
- Luecke, R. W., W. N. McMillen, and F. Thorp, Jr. 1950. Further studies of pantothenic acid deficiency in weanling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 9:78-82.
- Luecke, R. W., J. A. Hoefer, and F. Thorp, Jr. 1952. The relationship of protein to pantothenic acid and vitamin B₁₂ in the growing pig. J. Anim. Sci. 11:238-243.
- McKigney, J. I., H. D. Wallace, and T. J. Cunha. 1957. The influence of chlortetracycline on the requirement of the young pig for dietary pantothenic acid. J. Anim. Sci. 16:35–43.
- Palm, B. W., R. J. Meade, and A. L. Melliere. 1968. Pantothenic acid requirement of young swine. J. Anim. Sci. 27:1596-1601.
- Pond, W. G., E. Kwong, and J. K. Loosli. 1960. Effect of level of dietary fat, pantothenic acid, and protein on performance of growing-fattening swine. J. Anim. Sci. 19:1115-1122.
- Stothers, S. C., D. A. Schmidt, R. L. Johnston, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1955. The pantothenic acid requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 57:47-54.

- Teague, H. S., W. M. Palmer, and A. P. Grifo, Jr. 1970. Pantothenic acid deficiency in the reproducing sow. Ohio Agric. Res. Devel. Center Anim. Sci. Mimeo. 200.
- Ullrey, D. E., D. E. Becker, S. W. Terrill, and R. A. Notzold. 1955. Dietary levels of pantothenic acid and reproductive performance of female swine. J. Nutr. 57:401-414.
- Wintrobe, M. M., R. H. Follis, Jr., R. Alcayaga, M. Paulson, and S. Humphreys. 1943. Pantothenic acid deficiency in swine with particular reference to the effect on growth and on the alimentary tract. Johns Hopkins Hosp. Bull. 73:313.

Vitamin B₁₂

- Anderson, G. C., and A. G. Hogen. 1950. Requirements of the pig for vitamin B₁, J. Nutr. 40:243-250.
- Barber, R. S., R. Braude, J. E. Ford, M. E. Gregory, K. G. Mitchell, and J. W. G. Porter. 1960. Vitamin B₁₂ content of piglets and of milk from sows fed on rations containing animal or vegetable protein. Br. J. Nutr. 14:43-48.
- Bauriedal, W. R., A. B. Hoerlein, J. C. Picken, Jr., and L. A. Underkofler. 1954. Pig nutrition: Selection of diet for studies of vitamin B₁₂ depletion using unsuckled baby pigs. Agric. Food Chem. 2:468-471.
- Catron, D. V., D. Richardson, L. A. Underkofler, H. M. Maddock, and W. C. Friedland. 1952. Vitamin B₁₂ requirement of weanling pigs. II. Performance on low level of vitamin B₁₂ and requirements for optimum growth. J. Nutr. 47:461–468.
- Catron, D. V., R. W. Bennison, H. M. Maddock, G. C. Ashton, and P. G. Homeyer. 1953. Effects of certain antibiotics and B₁₂ on pantothenic acid requirements of growing-fattening swine. J. Anim. Sci. 12:51-61.
- Frederick, G. L. 1965. Intestinal absorption of cyanocobalamin in sows as influenced by size of oral dose, pregnancy, and lactation. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 45:22-28.
- Frederick, G. L., and G. J. Brisson, 1961. Some observations on the relationship between vitamin B₁₂ and reproduction in swine. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 41:212–219.
- Gjone, E. 1974. Recent research on vitamin B₁₂ (Reports from a Dumex Symposium, Jan. 24–26, 1974). Scand. J. Gastroenterol. 9:Suppl. 29.
- Grifo, A. P., Jr., H. S. Teague, and B. A. Dehority. 1964. Vitamin B₁₂ for growing-finishing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 23:771-774.
- Hendricks, H. K., H. S. Teague, D. R. Redman, and A. P. Grifo, Jr. 1964. Absorption of vitamin B₁₂ from the colon of the pig. J. Anim. Sci. 23:1036–1038.
- Luecke, R. W., W. N. McMillan, F. Thorp, Jr., and J. R. Boniece. 1949. The effect of vitamin B₁₂ concentrate on growth of weanling pigs fed corn-soybean diets. Science 110:139-140.
- Luecke, R. W., J. A. Hoefer, and F. Thorp, Jr. 1952. The relationship of protein to pantothenic acid and vitamin B₁₂ in the growing pig. J. Anim. Sci. 11:238-243.
- Nesheim, R. O., J. L. Krider, and B. C. Johnson. 1950. The quantitative crystalline B₁₂ requirement of the baby pig. Arch. Biochem. 27:240-242.
- Richardson, D., D. V. Catron, L. A. Underkofler, H. M. Maddock, and W. C. Friedland. 1951. Vitamin B₁₂ requirement of male weanling pigs. J. Nutr. 44:371-381.

Choline

- Dyer, I. A., and J. L. Krider. 1950. Choline versus betaine and expeller versus solvent soybean meal for weanling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 9:176-179.
- Johnson, B. C., and M. F. James. 1948. Choline deficiency in the baby pig. J. Nutr. 36:339-344.

- Kornegay, E. T., and T. N. Meacham. 1973. Evaluation of supplemental choline for reproducing sows housed in total confinement on concrete or in dirt lots. J. Anim. Sci. 37:506-509.
- Kroening, G. H., and W. G. Pond. 1967. Methionine, choline and threonine interrelationships for growth and lipotropic action in the baby pig and rat. J. Anim. Sci. 26:352–357.
- Molitoris, B. A., and D. H. Baker. 1976. Assessment of the quantity of biologically available choline in soybean meal. J. Anim. Sci. 42:481-489.
- NCR-42 Committee on Swine Nutrition. 1976. Effects of supplemental choline on reproductive performance of sows: A cooperative regional study. J. Anim. Sci. 42:1211-1216.
- Nesheim, R. O., and B. C. Johnson. 1950. Effect of a high level of methionine on the dietary choline requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 41:149-152.
- Neumann, A. L., J. L. Krider, M. R. James, and B. C. Johnson. 1949. The choline requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 38:195-214.
- Stockland, W. L., and L. G. Blaylock. 1974. Choline requirement of pregnant sows and gilts under restricted feeding conditions. J. Anim. Sci. 39:1113–1116.

Vitamin B.

- Hughes, E. H., and R. L. Squibb. 1942. Vitamin B₆ (pyridoxine) in the nutrition of the pig. J. Anim. Sci. 1:320–325.
- Miller, E. R., D. A. Schmidt, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1957. The pyridoxine requirement of the baby pig. J. Nutr. 62. 407-419.
- Ritchie, H. D., E. R. Miller, D. E. Ullrey, J. A. Hoefer, and R. W. Luecke. 1960. Supplementation of the swine gestation diet with pyridoxine. J. Nutr. 70:491-496.
- Sewell, R. F., D. Nugara, R. L. Hill, and W. A. Knapp. 1964. Vitamin B₆ requirement of early-weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 23:694-699.
- Wintrobe, M. M., M. H. Miller, R. H. Follis, Jr., H. J. Stein, C. Mushatt, and S. Humphreys. 1942. Sensory neuron degeneration in pigs. IV. Protection afforded by calcium pantothenate and pyridoxine. J. Nutr. 24:345-366.
- Wintrobe, M. M., R. H. Follis, Jr., M. H. Miller, H. J. Stein, R. A. Alcayaga, S. Humphreys, A. Suksta, and G. C. Cartwright. 1943. Pyridoxine deficiency in swine with particular reference to anemia, epileptiform convulsions and fatty liver. Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp. 72:1.
- Yen, J. T., A. H. Jensen, and D. H. Baker, 1976. Assessment of the concentration of biologically available vitamin B₆ in corn and soybean meal. J. Anim. Sci. 42:866–870.

Biotin

- Anderson, P. A., D. H. Baker, and S. P. Mistry. 1978. Bioassay determination of the biotin content of corn, barley, sorghum and wheat. J. Anim. Sci. 47:654-659.
- Brooks, P. H., D. A. Smith, and V. C. R. Irwin. 1977. Biotin supplementation of diets: The incidence of foot lesions and the reproductive performance of sows. Vet. Rec. 101:46-50.
- Cunha, T. J., D. C. Lindley, and M. E. Ensminger. 1946. Biotin deficiency syndrome in pigs fed desiccated egg white. J. Anim. Sci. 5:219-225.
- Hanke, H. E., and R. J. Meade. 1970. Biotin and pyridoxine additions to diets for pigs weaned at an early age. 1970-71. Minn. Swine Res. Rep. H-210. University of Minnesota, St. Paul.
- Lehrer, W. P., Jr., A. C. Wiese, and P. R. Moore. 1952. Biotin deficiency in suckling pigs. J. Nutr. 47:203-212.

- Meade, R. J. 1971. Biotin and pyridoxine supplementation of diets for growing pigs. 1970–71 Minn. Swine Res. Rep. H-218. University of Minnesota, St. Paul.
- Washam, R. D., J. E. Sowers, and L. W. DeGoey. 1975. Effect of zinc-proteinate or biotin in swine starter rations. J. Anim. Sci. 40:179. (Abstr.)

Folic Acid

- Cunha, T. J., L. K. Bustad, W. E. Ham, D. R. Cordy, E. C. McCullock, I. F. Woods, G. H. Corner, and M. A. McGregor. 1947. Folic acid, para-aminobenzoic acid and anti-pernicious anemia liver extract in swine nutrition. J. Nutr. 34:173-187.
- Ford, J. E., K. J. Scott, B. F. Sansom, and P. J. Taylor. 1975. Some observations on the possible nutritional significance of B₁r and folate-binding proteins in milk. Absorption of (⁵⁶Co) cyancobalamin by suckling pigs. Br. J. Nutr. 34:469-492.
- Herbert, V. 1967. Biochemical and hematologic lesions in folic acid deficiency. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 20:562-569.
- Johnson, B. C., M. F. James, and J. L. Krider. 1948. Raising newborn pigs to weaning age on a synthetic diet with attempt to produce a pteroylglutamic acid deficiency. J. Anim. Sci. 7:486-493.

Ascorbic Acid

- Bowland, J. P., R. H. Grummer, P. H. Phillips, and G. Bohstedt. 1949. The vitamin A and vitamin C content of sow's colostrum and milk. J. Anim. Sci. 8:98–106.
- Braude, R., S. K. Kon, and J. W. G. Porter. 1950. Studies on the vitamin C metabolism of the pig. Br. J. Nutr. 4:186-197.
- Brown, R. G., J. G. Buchanan-Smith, and V. D. Sharma. 1975. Ascorbic acid metabolism in swine. Effects of frequency of feeding and level of supplementary ascorbic acid on swine fed various energy levels. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 55:353-358.
- Cromwell, G. L., V. W. Hays, and J. R. Overfield. 1970. Effect of dietary ascorbic acid on performance and plasma cholesterol levels of growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 31:63-66.
- Dvorak, M. 1974. Effects of corticotrophins, starvation and glucose on ascorbic acid levels in the blood plasma and liver of piglets. Nutr. Metab. 16:215.
- Gipp, W. F., W. G. Pond, F. A. Fallfelz, J. B. Tasker, D. R. Van Campen, L. Krook, and W. J. Visek. 1974. Effect of dietary copper, iron and ascorbic acid levels on hematology, blood and tissue copper, iron and zinc concentrations, and copper-64 and iron-59 metabolism in young pigs. J. Nutr. 104:532-541.
- Grummer, R. H., C. K. Whitehair, G. Bohstedt, and P. H. Phillips. 1948. Vitamin A, vitamin C and niacin levels in the blood of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 7:222-227.
- Hutagalung, R. I., G. L. Cromwell, V. W. Hays, and C. H. Chaney. 1969. Effect of dietary fat, protein, cholesterol and ascorbic acid on performance, serum and tissue cholesterol levels and serum lipid levels of swine. J. Anim. Sci. 29:700-705.
- Mahan, D. C., R. A. Pickett, T. W. Perry, T. M. Curtis, W. R. Featherston, and W. M. Beeson. 1966. Influence of various nutritional factors and physical form of feed on esophogogastric ulcers in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 25:1019-1023.

Riker, J. T., III., T. W. Perry, R. A. Pickett, and C. J. Heidenreich. 1967. Influence of controlled temperatures on growth rate and plasma ascorbic acid values in swine. J. Nutr. 92:99-103.

WATER

- Alsmeyer, R. H., T. J. Cunha, and H. D. Wallace. 1955. Preliminary observation on the effect of source of water on rate of gain of growing fattening pigs. Fla. Agric. Exp. Stn. Anim. Husb. Mimeo. Ser. No. 55-5.
- Barber, R. S., R. Braude, and K. G. Mitchell. 1963. Further studies on the water requirements of the growing pig. Anim. Prod. 5:277-282.
- Berg, R. T., and J. P. Bowland. 1960. Salt water tolerance of growing-finishing swine. Press Bull., Univ. Alberta 45:14-16.
- Bohstedt, G., and R. H. Grummer. 1954. Salt poisoning of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 13:933-939.
- Bowland. J. P. 1964. Wet versus dry feeding of market pigs. Univ. Alberta 43rd Annu. Feeders' Day Rep. pp. 3-5.
- Bowland, J. P. 1965. Water restriction of market pigs. Univ. Alberta 44th Annu. Feeders' Day Rep. pp. 18-20.
- Bowland, J. P., and J. F. Standish. 1966. Influence of fasting, water deprivation and stress on carcass shrink of pigs and rats. J. Anim. Sci. 25:377-380.
- Braude, R., and J. G. Rowell. 1967. Comparison of dry and wet feeding of growing pigs. J. Agric. Sci. 68:325-330.
- Cunningham, H. M., and D. W. Friend. 1966. Effects of water restriction on nitrogen retention and carcass composition of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 25:663–667.
- Friend, D. W. 1971. Self-selection of feeds and water by swine during pregnancy and lactation. J. Anim. Sci. 32:658-666.
- Garner, F. H., and H. G. Sanders. 1937. The water consumption of suckling sows. J. Agric. Sci. 27:638-643.
- Garrigus, U. S. 1948. A study of the influence of quality of protein on water needs in rats and swine. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Illinois, Urbana.
- Holme, D. W., and K. L. Robinson. 1965. A study of water allowances for the bacon pig. Anim. Prod. 7:377-384.
- Houseman, R. A., I. McDonald, and K. Pennil. 1973. The measurement of total body water in living pigs by deuterium oxide dilution and its relation to body composition. Br. J. Nutr. 30:149-156.
- Kornegay, E. T., and G. W. Vander Noot. 1968. Performance, digestibility of diet constituents and N-retention of swine fed diets with added water. J. Anim. Sci. 27:1307-1312.
- Leitch, M. A., and J. S. Thomson. 1944. The water economy of farm animals. Nutr. Abstr. Rev. 14:197-223.
- Mount, L. E., C. W. Holmes, W. H. Close, S. R. Morrison, and I. B. Start. 1971. A note on the consumption of water by the growing pig at several environmental temperatures and levels of feeding. Anim. Prod. 13:561-563.
- Seerley, R. W., C. E. Meeks, H. C. McCampbell, and R. D. Scarth. 1973. Effect of feeding lysine in solution to growing pigs and rats. J. Anim. Sci. 38:91-94.
- Teague, H. S., A. P. Grifo, Jr., and W. M. Palmer. 1965. Addition of copper to feed and water for growing-finishing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 24:905. (Abstr.)
- Wahlstrom, R. C., A. R. Taylor, and R. W. Seerley. 1970. Effects of lysine in the drinking water of growing swine. J. Anim. Sci. 30:368–373.

•

	ent requirements of	Swine / _
		_
ATE	<u></u>	DATE
ANED	BORROWER S NAME	RETURNED

Š

.